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Dear Shareholders,

2019 marked the second year since our listing on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). At all times, we are in
awe of financial technology. We have been continuously satisfying users’ needs,
carrying out technology innovation, and actively cooperating with the supervision
of the government of the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") to uphold
our leading position in the industry. 2019 was a year with opportunities and
challenges, and also a year not easy for us. However, thanks to the support
from numerous of users, the efficient implementation of the employees and
management of 5| Credit Card Inc. (the “Company”), we have demonstrated

our strength to the world.

During the year; we further increased the investment in technology innovation
and maintained competitiveness in the ever-changing financial technology sector.
Going forward, we will continue to reach tens of millions of the PRC users with

high quality services.

SERVING USERS

With our credit card management platform serving as the entry point, we
develop and operate a dynamic and self-reinforcing ecosystem addressing a
spectrum of the users’ financial needs. On this basis, each of our businesses
gradually established a coherent and dynamic financial services ecosystem in a

synergistic manner in order to better serve users.

Within the said ecosystem, each of our business segments enhanced user
stickiness with diversified and one-stop services. Our unique model has also
gained high praise from the market and demonstrated the relatively strong risk

resistance ability during the year.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHRE

COEXISTENCE OF OPPORTUNITIES AND CHALLENGES

In 2019, our business gained various positive progress: our user base continued
to grow steadily, as evidenced by the increase of the number of registered
users of 51 Credit Card Manager App (the “51 Credit Card Manager App")
of approximately 12.8% as compared with the end of the previous year In
addition, the number of credit cards we had managed cumulatively also grew by

approximately 16.8% as compared with the end of the previous year.

2019 was a year full of challenges for the financial technology industry. The
PRC government has been continuously guiding and regulating the industry
through successively issuing a series of regulatory documents. We also took
the initiatives to adopt more prudent strategies, including implementing
more stringent and cautious risk control and proactively reducing P2P credit
facilitation business scale. In addition, the PRC government’s remediation and
regulation on debt collection industry have caused a large temporary impact on
the collection of the outstanding loans facilitated by us. As a result of the above
factors, our operating results declined as compared with the corresponding
period in 2018.

2019 was also a year full of opportunities for the financial technology industry.
During the year, we further expanded our cooperation with financial institutions,
and these initiatives helped significantly increase the proportion of funding
sources from institutions in our credit facilitation business. All of our new credit

facilitation business was funded by financial institutions since November 2019.

Further, we have also been enriching our ecosystem with an aim to provide
users with better product experience. With the 51 Credit Card Manager App
serving as the entrance, our users enjoy the convenience to purchase wealth

management products issued by our partner banks.

6 5] CREDIT CARD INC. 2019 Annual Report
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RECOGNITION AND REPUTATION

Up to 2019, we have been listed on the Hurun New Finance 50 for three
consecutive years and granted the 20/9 Financial Consumers Protection
and Compliance Development Awards, etc. We are also an executive council
member of the National Internet Finance Association of China, the executive
president of Hangzhou Internet Finance Association and the vice president
of Zhejiang Association of Internet Finance. All these reflected the market

recognition we received for our strength.

Benefited from our quality credit card customer base accumulated over the
years and our comprehensive ecological services system covering personal
credit management services, credit card technology services and online credit
facilitation and investment services based on credit card management tools, we
have established deep and solid cooperations with various financial institution
partners. This will provide adequate support to the long-term and sustainable

development of our business.

FUTURE IS PROMISING

Driven by the rapid development of mobile internet, the importance of fintech
has been increasing and the PRC financial market still has enormous potential.
Therefore, we expect that the credit card industry in the PRC will grow
faster and our user base will also continue to expand in 2020. At the same
time, directly benefited from the recovery of the personal consumer finance
market, our credit facilitation business will also embrace good opportunities for

development.

Looking forward to 2020, with our highly compliant operation principles, unique
business model, leading technologies and large user base, we will continue
to strengthen our competitive advantages in the fintech market in the PRC.
Meanwhile, we will also continue to deepen our cooperation with the financial
institutions and make full use of our technology capabilities to maintain the
continuous and promising development of our business. Last but not least,
on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company, | would like to thank all the shareholders (the “Shareholders™) of the

Company for their support and express my sincere gratitude to all our staff for

their dedication and contribution to the Group.

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Sun Haitao

30 March 2020
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group” or “we")
have created a comprehensive ecosystem built upon a widely-used credit card
management platform, 51 Credit Card Manager App. In 2019, we continued
to maintain steady growth in user base. The number of registered users of 51
Credit Card Manager App grew 12.8% to approximately 85.6 million as of 3|
December 2019 from approximately 75.9 million as of 31 December 2018, and
the number of credit cards we had managed cumulatively also grew 16.8% to
approximately 143.7 million as of 31 December 2019 from approximately 123.0

million as of 31 December 2018.

KX EE

RABIRAMBAR (5l [AEE] R [RA)ER
BeEANERREBTASIERARERERREYE
PEMERRF - T09F KMOAPEREER
BEEBENIER -N20I19FNA3B SIERRERRE
BAREMAEHEAR20I8FI2A3IBANN7SIBER
BRI28%EZNA85.cABE  MBEMAFTERENER
RHENMHEM20I18FI2A3IBIEMNAI2305ERER
16.8%ZE EFR2019F 12831 B IEX 143 7B &R

As of As of
31 December 31 December Increase
2019 2018 %
20195 201845
12A31H 128313 12 hn
(million) (million) %
(BE) (&)
Number of registered users of SERRERER
51 Credit Card Manager App Gl I=E = 85.6 759 12.8%
Number of credit cards KM R EEN
we have managed cumulatively ERREE 143.7 123.0 16.8%

We have also been enriching our ecosystem to provide the users with better
product experience. We have established cooperation with six banks since the
trial operation of the bank wealth management product referral business at
the end of 2018. Our users can purchase the wealth management products
issued by cooperating banks through the entrance on 5| Credit Card Manager
App conveniently. As of 31 December 2019, the accumulated transaction
amount of the bank wealth management product referral business had reached

approximately RMB27.79 billion.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

2019 was a challenging year for the fintech industry. Regulatory authorities of
the PRC have issued a series of documents and guidances, specifying that healthy
exiting and transformational development would be the general principle for
the P2P industry. More efforts were put on P2P transformation and exiting
by regulatory authorities across the PRC, and especially after October 2019,
a number of provinces announced to start ceasing all P2P platforms in areas
under their administration. Meanwhile, the further development of the special
crackdown against organized crimes had an extensive effect on the post-loan
debt collection industry. Risks in the personal consumption credit market have

risen in a short time as a result of many of the above factors.

To ensure the risks relating to the debt collection business is controllable, we
have stopped engaging independent third parties to collect loans which are
overdue by thirty days or more since July 2019, and all relevant collection is
managed by our professional debt collection teams directly instead. However,
on 21 October 2019, our office located in Hangzhou was under the on-site
investigation carried out by the relevant PRC government authorities due to
the suspected violation of laws and regulations by a debt collection agency we
once cooperated with (the “1021 Event”, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 21| and 22 October 2019 respectively, for details). After
the occurrence of the 1021 Event, we fully cooperated with the investigation
and supervision of the relevant authorities and further improved our compliance
awareness. Meanwhile, we made efforts to maintain positive communication and
cooperation with our business partners and resumed our daily operations soon

thereafter.

The factors above have exposed our business to relatively significant short-term
risks. In particular; the default risk of the outstanding loans facilitated by us rose
significantly in the fourth quarter of 2019.To cope with these risks, we have
proactively adopted more prudent strategies as compared to 2018, including
implementing stricter and more cautious risk control, reducing the scale of the
credit facilitation business proactively and stopping new facilitations of P2P funds.
The balance of our P2P online lending business decreased from approximately
RMB3.24 billion as of 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB5.63 billion as
of 31 December 2019 and further decreased to approximately RMB3.5 billion as
of 29 February 2020.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

EEENWR DN

Year-on-

For the year ended 3| December year change

BZNANALEE Gl X
2019 2018

Percentage Percentage

RMB000 of revenue RMB000 of revenue

VL &3 iz 49
AREFT Bl AREFT B %
Revenue Yezs 2,045,393 100.0% 2811994 100.0% -27.3%
Credit facilitation and service fee EEBRAERERLE 1,173,082 57.4% 2,055,531 73.1% -429%
Referral service fee NERBE 289,146 14.1% 203,061 7.2% 44%
Credit card technology service fee AR REE 152,261 74% 255,676 9.1% -40.4%
Other revenue Hinlha 430,904 21.1% 297,726 10.6% 447%
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BR)/ &7 (1,111,043) 2,168767 N/A T iE A
Adjusted net (loss)/profit for the year FEEAET (BR)/&H (847,100) 374204 N/A B
Affected by the risks and strategies above, our total revenue in 2019 decreased XM EBAREAOTE  BPIR20I19FE RS2

from approximately RMB2,812.0 million in 2018 to approximately RMB2,045.4

million, and an adjusted net loss for the year of RMB847.1 million was recorded,

mainly due to the decrease in credit facilitation volumes and the increase in

expected credit loss (“ECL") under International Financial Report Standard 9

(“IFRS 9") as a result of the rising default risk of outstanding loans facilitated by

us.

l. Credit Facilitation Service

In terms of credit facilitation business, affected by the abovementioned

regulatory documents, the 1021 Event and other factors, we have

adopted a series of measures in 2019, such as reducing business scale,

focusing the business on credit card holders with low risks and stopping

new facilitations of P2P funds, so as to cope with rising risks relating to

personal credit business. In 2019, the overall credit facilitation business

scale amounted to approximately RMB23.22 billion, representing a decline

compared to 2018. Particularly, the credit facilitation scale attributable

to credit card holders amounted to approximately RMB20.09 billion,

reaching 86.5% of the overall credit facilitation business scale, and

representing an increase as compared to 81.8% in 2018.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Meanwhile, facing increasing risks during the transformation period of the
P2P industry, we have also reduced the average loan size and average
loan term of our main credit products. These two indicators of the loan
products targeting credit card holders have decreased from approximately
RMB 14,900 and approximately 3.6 months in 2018 to approximately
RMB10,600 and approximately 10.5 months in 2019, respectively. Such
strategy may reduce our revenue from each loan we facilitated in the
short term, but we believe that it can diversify the potential risks more
effectively and help us to better achieve sustainable development in the

long run.

To adapt to the tightening regulations in the industry and achieve our
strategic goal of long-term sustainable development, we have continued to
strengthen our cooperation with various financial institutions since 2019.
After the 1021 Event and starting from November 2019, all of the new
credit facilitation business was funded by financial institutions. Currently,
the credit line of the credit facilitation business we secured from financial
institution partners is sufficient to support the long-term and healthy

development.

0) The following table shows the volume, number, average amount
and average tenure of loans facilitated targeting credit card holders

and non-credit card holders, respectively:

Loan products targeting

credit card holders

EEEN®R DN

B B+ THD %Y P2P1T 3 4 AR HA @ b A K B9 ER AR
BMEHERE TEEFEEMNTHERUR
A E AR - HEEARHAEANERE
SR BTS2 9 Bl 20 1 8 4 AR ¥ 14,900
TLELXY 13,618 A BRIEZ=2019F M4 AR % 10,600
TCELAY10.51E A o UEME RES - HARBAE
BRERMREREBERSERNKE BHEM
mﬁiﬁTuEﬁ&m“ﬁ%EH RS
BRARAHBELEEZRRBE-

RERTEINBBEMNEEBE Y BRRAR
BEROEEE BT 2019F AR - RMBENK
HEERMBEEBNSIE 1021FMHRREBE219
FHAR RMMENNMEEERAEBNE
EHHEREEIRMEt - BT AR SRBES
EEHEDRNEEREEBNRERENUR
AXBFRMANEHRREER -

() MNATRBBREMSABERRIHFEAMIE
ERRBAEADINERGREE S8
FHBRREMERTHHR

Loan products targeting

non-credit card holders

HUEAFREANERER HUFEAFREANERER
For the year ended 31 December
BENA3BLEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
(approximate) (approximate) (approximate) (approximate)
(%) (%) (%) (#)
Volume of loan facilitated ERBAE RMB20,090.7 RMB20,4574 RMB3,126.7 RMB4,556.7
million million million million
ARMN007EET ARM045748ET ARM3I67TABR  ARB4S6TEETL
Number of loans facilitated EERAEH 1.9 million |4 million 0.5 million 0.9 million
K=F - 4B 8 05EE WEE
Average amount of loans EYETRE RMBI0,600 RMB14,900 RMBS6,500 RMBS5,000
ARM10,6007 ARE 149007 AR #6,500T AR HE5,0007T
Average tenure of loans EHETER 10.5 months 3.6 months 10.1 months 10.2 months
1058 A 13618 A 10.118 A 10218 A
SIEAFAERAR Fm2009 11



Management Discussion And Analysis
BEEENWE D

(i)

12.0%
9.0%
6.0%
3.0%

0.0%

12

The following table shows the proportion of funding sources of the (i) UTERBREEBREGEBNES KRG
credit facilitation business: BR
For the year ended 3| December
BENAJIBLFEE
2019 2018
Individual investors from 51 Renpin(” SIAmEAREERO 60.8% 86.4%
Institutions® o 39.2% 13.6%
Notes: Bt -
h 51 Renpin refers to our online investment products. h SIAmBEHMNKEREER-
) Institutions include a wholly owned micro loan subsidiary of the ) EEBE—HARAR @K NEZENE
Company. NG

The following chart shows the historical cumulative 90-day plus (i) A TERBERZILXE S AHEER S

past due delinquency rates by vintage for loan products targeting

credit card holders up to 31 December 2019:

Quarters since origination

BB REFTFE

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2019 Annual Report
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Management Discussion And Analysis

The following chart shows the historical cumulative 90-day plus
past due delinquency rates by vintage for loan products targeting

non-credit card holders up to 31 December 2019:

12.0%
9.0%
6.0%
3.0%
0.0%

Quarters since origination

BB MR FE
Referral Service 2.

Benefiting from the continuous user growth, the improvement in
efficiency enabled by the application of technology and the cross-selling
opportunities brought by our ecosystem, the referral service fee increased
by 42.3% from approximately RMB203.1 million in 2018 to approximately
RMB289.1 million in 2019.

Credit Card Technology Service 3.

Affected by the macro environment in 2019, our partner banks tightened
their risk strategies for the credit card market. Although we have
introduced a number of new partner banks, our revenue from credit card
technology service decreased from approximately RMB255.7 million in
2018 to approximately RMB152.3 million in 2019.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our total revenue decreased by 27.3% from approximately RMB2,812.0 million
for the year ended 3| December 2018 to approximately RMB2,045.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Credit facilitation and service fee decreased by 42.9% from approximately
RMB2,055.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
RMBI,173.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. We generally
collect credit facilitation and service fee from borrowers according to the pre-
confirmed fee schedules, recognize in our consolidated financial statements
the upfront credit facilitation service fee at the inception of the loan and the
post credit facilitation service fee over the loan during the year Compared
with 2018, regulatory authorities applied more stringent management on P2P
and debt-collection industries in 2019. Personal consumption credit market
had experienced substantial fluctuations. Particularly, the default risk of the
outstanding loans facilitated by us increased in the fourth quarter of 2019.To
cope with the fluctuations, we proactively reduced the scale of credit facilitation
business and shortened the average loan term of major credit products, leading

to a decrease in credit facilitation and service fee.

Our referral service fee increased by 42.3% from approximately RMB203.|
million for the year ended 3| December 2018 to approximately RMB289.1
million for the year ended 3| December 2019, primarily driven by the increase
in business volume as a result of enhanced efficiency and increased users

demand.

Credit card technology service fee decreased by 40.4% from approximately
RMB255.7 million for the year ended 3| December 2018 to approximately
RMBI152.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, mainly because
the partner banks in general had adopted rigorous measures with credit card
issuance in 2019 as affected by the fluctuations in macro economy, which
resulted in a decrease in both the number of credit cards issued to our users
through us and the business volume of technology services rendered through
our co-branding credit cards as compared to that in the corresponding period in
2018.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Other revenue increased by 44.7% from approximately RMB297.7 million for
the year ended 3| December 2018 to approximately RMB430.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019, among which (i) the payment service fee
increased by 254.5% from approximately RMB75.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 to approximately RMB267.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2019, due to the increase in business volume of payment channel
service; (i) the interest income of loans to customers decreased by 69.8%
from approximately RMB9 1.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately RMB27.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 primarily
due to the lower balance of loans funded by trusts; and (iii) the overdue charges
decreased by 65.6% from approximately RMB45.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 to approximately RMBI15.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 primarily due to a decline in the credit facilitation scale in 2019,
and the reduction in the percentage of overdue charges for certain products to

increase the repayment willingness of the defaulting users.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses increased by 22.7% from approximately RMB2,746.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB3,370.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Origination and servicing expenses increased by 14.8% from approximately
RMB758.3 million for the year ended 3| December 2018 to approximately
RMB870.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, including (i) an
increase by 68.7% to approximately RMB327.2 million in fund transfer charges
for the year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately RMB194.0 million
for the corresponding period in 2018 due to the increased payment service
business volume; (ii) an increase by 54% to approximately RMB235.4 million
in external technical service fee for the year ended 31 December 2019
from approximately RMB223.3 million for the corresponding period in 2018
due to the increased demand for third-party technical services such as loan
collection services and credit assessment data usage; (iii) a decrease by 16.3%
to approximately RMBI153.9 million in employee benefit expenses for the
year ended 3| December 2019 from approximately RMB183.8 million for the
corresponding period in 2018 due to the decrease in headcount as a result
of downsizing of the business, despite an increase of approximately RMBO0.2
million of share-based compensation expenses; and (iv) an increase by 71.2%
to approximately RMB45.7 million in depreciation and amortization for the
year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately RMB26.7 million for the
corresponding period in 2018, mainly due to the implementation of IFRS 16

Leases during the year.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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Sales and marketing expenses decreased by 26.5% from approximately
RMB618.2 million for the year ended 3| December 2018 to approximately
RMB454.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, as we reduced sales
and marketing spending in 2019 along with the enhanced operating efficiency

and the downsizing of the business.

General and administrative expenses decreased by 29.1% from approximately
RMB41 1.3 million for the year ended 3| December 2018 to approximately
RMB291.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, which mainly
represents (i) the decrease of listing expenses from approximately RMB37.3
million for the year ended 3| December 2018 to nil for the year ended
31 December 2019, as the initial listing of the shares of the (the “Shares™)
Company on the Stock Exchange was completed in 2018; and (ii) a decrease
by 33.3% to approximately RMBI189.4 million in employee benefit expenses for
the year ended 3| December 2019 from approximately RMB284.0 million for
the corresponding period in 2018 primarily due to the decrease in headcount
of administrative staff as a result of the downsizing of the business, including
a decrease of approximately RMB77.6 million of share-based compensation

expenses.

Research and development expenses decreased by 40.7% from approximately
RMB328.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
RMB194.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The demand in
research and development personnel decreased in 2019 because of the
downsizing of the business and the enhanced efficiency brought by technology
application, which caused a decrease of 43.7% in research and development
employee benefit expenses to approximately RMBI56.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 from approximately RMB277.2 million for the
corresponding period in 2018, despite an increase in share-based compensation

expenses of approximately RMB3.1 million.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Other losses, net increased by 147.6% from approximately RMB629.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately RMBI1,559.5 million for
the year ended 3| December 2019, which mainly represents (i) the fair value
loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) amounted to
approximately RMB137.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, mainly
as we disposed of a number of financial assets at FVPL in 2019. Affected by
macroeconomic environment, the disposal prices (being the fair values upon the
disposals) of certain financial assets at FVPL were higher than their investment
cost but lower than their fair value assessed at the end of 2018, leading to the
recognition of the fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL in 2019. No financial
assets at FVPL was disposed of in the corresponding period in 2018, therefore
no loss on the disposal of financial assets at FVPL was recorded; (i) the quality
assurance fund loss increased by 148.2% to a loss of approximately RMB858.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from a loss of approximately
RMB345.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2018, as a result of the
fluctuating personal credit market in 2019. The delinquency performance of
the credit business in 2019 was worse than the corresponding period in 2018.
Meanwhile, the downsizing of the new credit facilitation business scale in 2019
also resulted in higher proportion of the defaulting users in the balance of the
loan products than the corresponding period in 2018; (iii) the ECL for financial
assets other than quality assurance fund receivable/payable increased by 57.5%
to approximately RMB407.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from
approximately RMB258.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2018, mainly
due to increasing difficulties in the collection of contract assets as a result of
the fluctuations in the industry; (iv) the impairment loss for the year ended 3|
December 2019 amounted to approximately RMB184.7 million, mainly consisting
of approximately RMB145.8 million of impairment loss of goodwill. We will
adopt a more conservative strategy for our business in response to increasing
risks of the personal credit market. For instance, we will have the scale of credit
facilitation maintained at a relatively low level over a period of time, and such
strategy is expected to contribute to less future cash inflow of the Group, which
would result in impairment of goodwill. There is no impairment of goodwill in the
corresponding period in 2018 as the implemented strategy was less conservative
than that of 2019; and (v) the interest expenses to trust senior tranche holders
decreased by 80.0% to approximately RMB8.9 million for the year ended 3l
December 2019 from approximately RMB44.6 million for the year ended 31

December 2018, as a result of a lower balance of loans funded by trusts.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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Share of net loss of associates accounted for using equity method

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using equity method increased
by 153.8% from a loss of approximately RMBI.3 million for the year ended 3|
December 2018 to a loss of approximately RMB3.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2019, mainly because of a greater amount of loss of several

associates in 2019 than that in the corresponding period in 2018.
Fair value gain of preferred shares

The fair value gain of preferred shares was nil for the year ended 3| December
2019, while the fair value gain of preferred shares amounted to approximately
RMB1,942.2 million for the year ended 3| December 2018, as all preferred
shares had been converted to ordinary shares in 2018 with the initial listing of

the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Fair value gain of financial liability at FVPL

Fair value gain of financial liability at FVPL decreased by 53.0% from
approximately RMB98.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2018 to
approximately RMB46.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, mainly
because the decrease in the amount in the market value of the financial liability

in 2019 was less than that in the corresponding period in 2018.
Finance expenses, net

Finance expenses, net decreased by 79.5% from approximately RMB24.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB5.0 million for the
year ended 3| December 2019. The decrease was mainly attributable to the

decrease in interest expenses due to the reduction in amount of indebtedness.
Income tax credit

Income tax credit increased by 100.2% from an income tax credit of
approximately RMB88.1 million for the year ended 3| December 2018 to
an income tax credit of approximately RMBI76.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2019, mainly because the quality assurance fund loss, the ECL
for financial assets other than quality assurance fund receivable/payable and
impairment loss that had been provided but not yet incurred as at 31 December
2019 were higher than that in the corresponding period in 2018, and such items
were deductible when incurred, which resulted in higher corresponding income

tax credit.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

(Loss)/profit for the year

Our (loss)/profit for the year decreased from a net profit of approximately
RMB2,168.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to a net loss of
approximately RMBI,111.0 million for the year ended 3| December 2019,
primarily because (i) all preferred shares had been converted to ordinary shares
in 2018 with the initial listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and the fair value gain of preferred shares decreased to nil for the
year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately RMB1,942.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018; (i) credit facilitation and service fee decreased
from approximately RMB2,055.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2018
to approximately RMBI,173.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
due to the smaller scale of credit product facilitation and shorter average tenure
in 2019 than that in the corresponding period in 2018; and (i) the quality
assurance fund loss increased to a loss of approximately RMB858.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019 from a loss of approximately RMB345.9
million for the year ended 3| December 2018, as a result of the fluctuations in

the industry in 2019.

Non-IFRS measures

We compensate for the limitations of the non-IFRS measures by reconciling the
non-IFRS financial measures to the nearest IFRS performance measure, all of

which should be considered when evaluating our performance.

The adjusted net loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately
RMB847.1 million, compared with the adjusted net profit of approximately
RMB374.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
BEEENWR D

The following table reconciles our adjusted net (loss)/profit in the years —TN&REFATZILEFAE T (FE),Na Fl 2B & B
presented to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and B BMEEAFE R 2N REZ AL RU K=
presented in accordance with IFRS, which is (loss)/profit for the year: (BIFE (E18) SEH) Mk

For the year ended 3| December
BENA3BLEE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT

Adjusted net (loss)/profit RART (BE) BRI
Net (loss)/profit F(ER) R FE (1,111,043) 2,168,767
Adjusted for: BLLATS & TE i 9 #
Share-based compensation expenses LARR 17 7% EE 58 9 35 B B =2 130,553 204,920
Fair value gain of preferred shares BERHQ BB - (1,942,221)
Fair value gain of financial liability at FVPL BAABETAEERN
TRHBEARBERE (46,160) (98,448)
Fair value loss of financial assets at FVPL BRARBEFABRE
ERMEEAABEER 33,762 3911
Impairment loss of goodwill SESNERIEEEES 145,788 =
Listing expenses EmEERX - 37,275
Adjusted net (loss)/profit RARF (BB ER (847,100) 374204
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

The Group maintained a net cash position throughout the year under review.
Our net cash positions as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 are as

follows:

EEEN®R DN

RBEERMBERREREBLE

AEBREERBFERBIFRER A -BHMEE
2019 12A31H K20185 12831 B8 FE £ k0 10

™

As at

31 December

As at

31 December

2019 2018

20195 720184

124318 12A318

RMB’ million RMB’ million

AR¥EET AREHET

Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 1,283 1,206
Liquid investments EHIRE = 569
Borrowings BN (169) (603)
Net cash FRE 1,114 1,172

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and other short-term deposits
with original maturities of three months or less. Liquid investments are primarily
wealth management products issued by banks and held with the primary
objective of generating income at a yield higher than current deposit bank
interest rates. All liquid investments were expired in 2019. Our cash and cash
equivalents and liquid investments are denominated in the United States dollars

(the “US dollars™), Renminbi (“RMB") and Hong Kong dollars.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded net cash inflow of
approximately RMB77.0 million, primarily as a result of net cash flow generated
from operating activities of approximately RMB200.5 million and net cash flow
generated from investing activities of approximately RMB577.9 million, offset by

net cash used in financing activities of approximately RMB705.4 million.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves, banking
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities.

The gearing ratio, calculated as total borrowings divided by total assets, was 2.9%
as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 8.0%).
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEENWR D

The following table sets forth the maturity profile of our borrowings within the

years indicated:

TR AR F R AP & 5 E B B0

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

20195 20184

124318 128318

RMB’ million RMB’ million

AR¥EBET ARKEZET

Within | year —FR 19,821 189,900
| year to 2 years —ZmWF 121,563 34,056
2 years to 5 years —ERF 22,056 365,850
Over 5 years AFAE 5,427 13,196
Total borrowings BB 168,867 603,002

The bank and other borrowings as at 3|1 December 2019 were denominated in
RMB (31 December 2018: RMB).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group's subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with

respect to US dollars and Hong Kong dollars.

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency is RMB, if US
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the loss before income tax for the year ended 31 December
2019 would have been approximately RMB2,068,000 higher/lower as a result
of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of net monetary liabilities
denominated in US dollars, and the profit before income tax for the year ended
31 December 2018 would have been approximately RMB584,000 higher/lower
as a result of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of net monetary

assets denominated in US dollars.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

For the Group's PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency is RMB, if Hong
Kong dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all other
variables held constant, the loss before income tax for the year ended 31
December 2019 would have been approximately RMBI17,000 lower/higher; and
the profit before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2018 would
have been approximately RMB5,708,000 higher/lower; as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/(losses) on translation of net monetary assets denominated in

Hong Kong dollars.

The Group would enter into foreign exchange forward contracts depending on
specific circumstance to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts
within the exposure generated from time to time.

Charge on Assets

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had charged its
properties located in Building B3, Wenyi West Road, No. 588 Hangzhou, PRC in
favour of Wenchuang Branch of Hangzhou Bank for obtaining a mortgage loan of
a total sum of RMB53 million.

Significant Investments

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any significant

investments.

Material Acquisition and Disposal

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material

acquisition or disposal.
Contingent Liabilities
Save as disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial information as set out

in this report, the Group did not have any other material contingent liabilities as
at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: Nil).
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEENWR D

OUTLOOK

The pneumonia caused by the novel coronavirus was firstly discovered in Hubei
Province and then spread throughout the PRC rapidly since January 2020. To
prevent further spread of the disease, all local governments in the PRC have
put in place rigorous prevention measures, including extension of the Chinese
New Year holiday, restriction on public transport, requesting enterprises to delay
the resumption of work, etc. The abovementioned measures will have adverse
effect on personal consumption financial market in the short term. However, we
expect that the demand of personal consumption will rebound after the end of
epidemic, leading to further growth in the consumption financial market. We also
expect that the PRC government will implement looser monetary policies with
the aim to stimulate the economic growth, including increasing the investment
in personal consumption lending, reducing the funding cost, etc. Therefore, we
foresee that our credit facilitation business and credit card technology service
business will make improvements as directly benefiting from the gradual recovery
of the personal consumption financial market after the end of epidemic.
Meanwhile, we will keep paying attention to the trend of risk changes in the
personal consumption financial market and adjust our business strategy in a
timely manner to seize the favorable opportunity of development arising from

the recovering financial market.

In 2020, we will also prepare for the overall exiting and transforming of the
P2P business. Benefiting from our quality customer base of credit card business
that we have accumulated over the years, together with our comprehensive
ecological service system built on the credit card management tools, which
consist of management and repayment of credit cards, personal wealth
management, consumer credit and other services, we have established solid
cooperation with various financial institutions. Our rich experiences in working
with various financial institutions will provide our business with sufficient support
for the long-term and sustainable development. We will continuously strengthen
the cooperation with financial institutions and enhance the output of our
technological capability. In addition, we are now proactively seeking measures
to apply for the license for the Internet micro credit business mentioned in the
Guidance on the Transformation of Online Lending Information Intermediary
Institutions into Pilot Micro Credit Companies in order to fully transform and
exit the P2P business. We expect that by seizing the new opportunities arising
after the transformation from the license for the Internet micro credit business
and based on the cooperation with other financial institutions, our long-term and

sustainable development of the credit facilitation business will be supported.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Since the fourth quarter of 2019, pursuant to the promotion made by
regulatory authorities of the PRC, P2P operators have begun to connect to
the Credit Reference Center of the People's Bank of China (the “Reference
Center”’) successively. Currently, we are in progress of connecting to the
Reference Center. With the gradual optimization of the individual credit
reference system in the PRC, we believe that the risk performance of individual
consumption credit aspect is becoming more stable. We expect to see a
favorable movement in the collection of the bad debts arising from previous

credit facilitation business.

In conclusion, in the promising and challenging year of 2020, we, by leveraging
on our highly compliant business philosophy, unique business model, advanced
technology and large user base, with strategic objective of long-term and
sustainable development, will continue to maintain our competitive advantages in

the financial technology market in the PRC.

EEEN®R DN

520I9¢%@§F%ﬁﬁ“'ﬁﬂlﬂﬁtﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁz%ﬁiﬂt*

PPELMBRBEEREATBEARRITRAESH L
(T&fEHw]) - Bal 'ﬁzTF‘iéﬁiﬁﬁ(%qﬂ/L\/\ME’J;TTRE

EETP -BRMBE BETFERACHEREZR

BHwE  AANBEEE6NARER 8 E MNE
T o BV SE (3 B IRA 275 T AR 0 2 B 1 B 5 30
HF| 4 <

AR B AT - FE B EPK B 7 02020F - BPIASIRE
BEARNKERS BENEBENX BRI

KF-BRANAPERSE AR HELRESEKE
B HEZEETEESRMETSNBRFES -

SUEAFERAT #8209 | 2D



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSHREEEBERFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (#2338 ) , aged 39, was appointed as the chairman and an
executive Director of the Company in September 2017. Currently, Mr. Sun
serves as the chairman of the board of directors, chief executive officer and
general manager of Hangzhou Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (#1/1 &
8T AR A F]) (“Hangzhou Enniu”), and also serves as a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company including, among others, Beijing Dingli
Chuangshi Technology Co., Ltd. (It & NBItE R AR AT, Hangzhou
Yiniu Network Technology Co,, Ltd. (#T/Z 4 M4E I AR A E]) , Hangzhou
Yeniu Information Technology Co., Ltd. (#5415 B M AR A F]) and
Fuzhou Enniu Network Micro Credit Co., Ltd. (M T B 4484/ NEERER
72 A)) . Mr Sun also serves as the chairman and an executive director of China
Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (“China Netcom”) (listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 8071), a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur. He obtained a bachelor's degree in business
administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic Industry (now known as
the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the PRC in June 2002. He has been engaging
in Internet businesses since 2004, and founded several Internet companies
before founding Hangzhou Enniu in 2012. From May 2004 to August 2007, Mr.
Sun served as the founder of Hangzhou Aladdin Information & Technology Co.,
Lid. (FUMNE L T (5 BRHEBBR A A]) and E City (E&ET ), a 3D mapping
website in the PRC; and from August 2007 to February 2012, Mr. Sun served
as the general manager and founder of Hangzhou Fangtoo Information &
Technology Co, Ltd. (M E &5 B RIHE AR ZAF]) , a large online second-
hand property platform.

In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card management mobile
application named “51 Credit Card Manager’" and the Group has grown to be
one of the leading financial technology companies in China during the past few
years. Mr. Sun personally has been honored the Entrepreneur of 2016 by Dark
Horse, 2017 Chinese Economic Figures by SINA and New Business 100 Annual
Actors by 36Kr, etc.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yang Yuzhi (#55F 8 ), aged 32, was appointed as an executive Director
in November 2017. Currently, Mr. Yang serves as the vice-president of the
Company and director of Hangzhou Enniu, and a director of various subsidiaries
of the Company. From June 2010 to October 2012, he served as the regional
manager to Beijing LaShou Technology Co., Ltd. (It U FEHEBRAF)) ;
and from February 2014 to February 2016, he served as a director and the chief
executive officer of Beijing Dingli Chuangshi Technology Co., Ltd. ( 3t 5 & 77 &l
R AR A F]) | a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Yang graduated from the Northeast Petroleum University School of
Economics and Management in the PRC in July 2013 with a bachelor's degree
in engineering management. Mr.Yang was honored the “30 under 30" by Forbes

China in 2017.

Mr. Zhao Ke (BEHH), aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director in
November 2017. He is also the chief financial officer of the Company. Currently,
Mr. Zhao also serves as an executive director of China Netcom and a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company including, among others, Hangzhou Enniu.
From July 2006 to October 2015, Mr. Zhao served in a number of positions,
including as a senior manager of the capital markets services group at the Hong

Kong Firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Zhao graduated from the Xi'an Jiaotong University in the PRC in July 2005
with a bachelor's degree in finance and obtained a master's degree in economics
from the University of Ottawa in Canada in October 2006. He was accredited
as a certified public accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in May 2011 and by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in May 2015.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEEBEFT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Zou Yunli (BBERE) , aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive Director in
November 2017. Currently, Ms. Zou also serves as a director of Hangzhou Enniu,
a subsidiary of the Company. From October 1994 to June 2010, Ms. Zou served
in a number of companies, including Shenzhen Tianjian Xinde Accounting Firm
ORI KR IEESFMEBBREMT2AA), Shenzhen Jingia Group Co,
Ltd. ORI = EE DB BR A F]) (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 002191) and Shenzhen Tiantu Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (I X
Bl Az & BPRAF]) . Ms. Zou joined Tian Tu Capital Co,, Ltd. (&I 1K [E
EEREIRD AR A F]) (National Equities Exchange and Quotations System
stock code: 833979) in June 2010 and has held various positions including as a

director; the chief financial officer and the chief operational officer.

Ms. Zou obtained a bachelor's degree in auditing from the Zhongnan University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC (now known as the Zhongnan University
of Economics and Law) in July 1994, a master's degree in professional
accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2004 and
an executive master's degree in business administration from The Hong Kong

University of Science and Technology in June 2017.
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr.Wong Ti (7E#R) , aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in February 2018. Mr Wong joined PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian (L ZEKEFR RXLFTEMEFT) in December 1990 and has held various
positions successively. Mr. Wong served as senior auditor; senior manager and
partner in the PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian before retiring in June 2015.
He has nearly 25 years of experience in serving financial service industry clients.
Mr. Wong has also served as an independent non-executive director of China
Merchants Securities Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600999 and on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6099) since January 2018.

Mr. Wong obtained a master's degree in business administration from the
University of California, Los Angeles in the United States of America (the
“United States”) in March 1986. He was accredited as a certified public
accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in October
2002 and a certified public accountant in the United States in May 1993.

28 | 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2019 Annual Report

FHTES

BEBLT 475 N2017F | ARRES T AIEHRTT
BF-PLITRETETCREAQRMNBERRMNESF
HEE - N I994F 108 E20105F6 A B - B+ k1%

EBNZEAR B8R ﬂ‘\%&1ﬁ%§u+ﬁﬂi$fxﬁﬁﬁ
REERAR RINDEEEROBERAAF CRYIFE

RS ET - BT 002191) KRR E B HHK%

BHBRAF B 201056 A BRI RE K
EERROBRAR (2EPNEEROEERSR

BRI 833979) WS AT BEES -
EREFEEE -

58

WL TRI994F7TRESTRETMMERE (RBEA
FEPEBRERE)BTE T2 R2004F 127
SEBRXRBELESHER T2 WHR2017F6
ESEABHERERREBEABIRNEREL SN -

BAFHTES

ERREE 6155 F2018F2 ARREZ T AB I IEHNTT
EEOTRERI0F 12AMBEEKEF XL T
FE WEEZ AR - R20156F6 ARKAT T 5k
GREELTENEPRETMEBMZSREAD -
AREEREBA BERBEERBREITEREFPFE
RIS F R - XL ETBE20185F | A REERBERE
HFROEBRRAR(EBEEHER S L™ RHAR:
600999 K B 22 BT 17 - IR 9 1R 5526099 ) #9 18 37 JE 1T
BEo

ESRERI986F3AGEEFMEBSRE ([EE]) MF
1BE I KRBT 5912 (the University of California, Los
Angeles) TR E EIE + 247« FR20025F 10 ARG H
Bt et MR B EMEstamE S W I199345
AEXEERTAMEMAR-



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr.Ye Xiang () , aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in February 2018. From August 2001 to November 2007, Mr.Ye served
in a number of positions, including as a director of China affairs of the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Mr. Ye has served as the managing
director of Vision Gain Capital Limited ({5 & 4B R A 7)) since November
2007.

Mr. Ye has also served as an independent non-executive director of each of
Jinshang Bank Co., Ltd (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2558) since
December 2018, Datang Environment Industry Group Co,, Ltd. (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1272) since June 2015 and Wuling Motors Holdings
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 305) since October 2008.

Mr.Ye obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from the Zhejiang University
in the PRC in July 1983 and obtained a master’s degree in economics from the
Zhejiang University in the PRC in January [991. Mr. Ye obtained his doctoral
degree in Economics at the Financial Research Institute of the People’s Bank of
China (P B A RIBITBITSRMITAT) in January 1995. He was accredited
as a chartered financial analyst by the CFA Institute in September 2004.

Mr. Xu Xuchu (#RfB#]) , aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in April 2020. Mr. Xu joined the Hangzhou Dianzi University
in the PRC in June 1989 and is currently a professor at the law school of the said
university. Currently, Mr. Xu is also an adjunct professor of the China Academy
for Rural Development of the Zhejiang University of the PRC. He has thirty

years of experience in economics, management, and sociology.

Mr. Xu obtained a doctorate degree in management from the Zhejiang
University of the PRC in June 2005.

Mr. Yang Dong (#5) , aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in June 2019. Currently Mr Yang serves as a director of
FinTech and Internet Security Research Center (<& BRFH B2 B B 48 22 2 7t
FTH L) and a deputy president of China Securities Law Association ( Hf
FEBEEHHEZMIRE) . M Yang served as a director of Chengdu Santai
Holding Group Co, Ltd. (F(#&F=FRIEARE B AR D B R A F]) (listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002312) from July 2018 to September
2019, and the vice head of department of the Law School of the Renmin
University of China from July 2013 to September 2019. Mr.Yang has resigned as

an independent non-executive Director on 9 April 2020.

Mr. Yang obtained a master’s degree of law of public relations and a doctoral
degree of business law from the Hitotsubashi University of Japan in March 2002
and March 2005, respectively.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSHREEEBERFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Jun (#5E) |, aged 46, was appointed as the chief risk officer of the
Company in June 2019. From March 2004 to June 2016, Mr. Yang served as
directors of several divisions at Discover Financial Services Inc. (a Fortune 500
company). From June 2016 to May 2017, Mr Yang served as the chief credit
officer of Mybank of Ant Financial Services Group, responsible for building an
intelligent risk management system. From August 2017 to June 2019, Mr. Yang
served as vice president of credit strategy and analytics of SLM Corporation
(listed on NASDAQ, NASDAQ: SLM), and successfully launched the company's
personal loan and credit card programs. Mr.Yang was resigned as the chief risk
officer of the Company on 31 March 2020 and was appointed as the Company's

consultant of risk management on | April 2020.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering from the
Tianjin University in the PRC in 1996, obtained a master of science degree
in management science from the Tianjin University in the PRC in 2000 and
obtained a master of art degree in applied economics from the University of

Cincinnati in the United States in 2004.

Mr. Zhu Jianfei (R8I ) , aged 37, was appointed as the vice-president of the
Company in May 2015, being in charge of general management affairs such as
human resources and administration, etc. From July 2006 to June 2010, Mr. Zhu
served in a number of positions at Shanghai Pudong Human Resources Center
CHEFERAZ M) . From June 2010 to April 2013, Mr. Zhu served in a
number of positions at Cloudary Corporation ( B E {5 B #1i7 ( /&) AR
A A), also known as BE AKX ) : and from April 2013 to April 2015, Mr. Zhu
served as managing director of DataYes Inc. (iBES BURRR D A 7)) .

Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor's degree in human resources management from
the Peking University in the PRC in July 2006 and obtained a master's degree in
accounting from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in
June 2012.

Mr. Zhang Xi (ZE#) , aged 46, was appointed as the vice-president of the
Company in June 2016, being in charge of government relations affairs. Currently,
Mr. Zhang serves as the general manager of Fuzhou Enniu Network Micro Credit
Co, Ltd. (#EM T BA-4848/ NEE AR R A]) |, a subsidiary of the Company.
He has served as the person in charge of the finance department of the Group
since July 2015. From October 2015 to April 2017, he served as a director of
Hangzhou Enniu, a subsidiary of the Company. From August 1992 to July 2015,
he served in a number of positions including as a supervisor in the personal

finance loans department of the Bank of China.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance from the Zhejiang University
in the PRC in June 2004 and obtained a master's degree in global economics
from the Jilin University in the PRC in June 2013. He was accredited as an
accountant by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 1998, a senior certified
credit analyst by the China Center for Financial Training ( F7 B <& BRIFFIH L)) in
April 2014 and a member of the national committee of experts on the internet
financial security technology (BIZK & - & BAMRBKME B §) since August
2016.

Mr. Guo Wei (28 &) , aged 38, was appointed as the chief technology officer
of the Company in July 2016. From July 2006 to April 2008, Mr. Guo served as
a start-up member of the NetFase Inc. Hangzhou Research Institute (48 21
INERFEBT ) . From April 2008 to April 2010, Mr. Guo served as a research and
development manager at Vobile (Hangzhou) Network Technologies Co., Limited
(B1Em (F) MEERHE AR R F]) . From April 2010 to July 2016, Mr. Guo
served as a senior technical expert to Zhejiang Tmall Technology Co., Ltd. ()T
RIEFM AR AT, a subsidiary of Alibaba Group Holding Limited (listed on
the New York Stock Exchange, ticker: BABA and on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 9988) and served as the head of technical team in charge of the 2015
Tmall Double || Shopping Festival. Mr. Guo has resigned as the chief technology
officer of the Company on 5 August 2019.

Mr. Guo obtained a bachelor's degree in software engineering from the Zhejiang
University in the PRC in June 2004 and obtained a master's degree in computer

science and technology from the Zhejiang University in June 2006.

Mr. Zhu Yangzhi (4R#B &) , aged 33, was appointed as the vice-president of
the Company in March 2017, being in charge of product development and
operations. From July 2010 to July 2015, Mr. Zhu served as product planning
team leader in Tencent Group; and from July 2015 to March 2017, Mr. Zhu
served as vice-president and general manager of the commercial products and
business department of Shenzhen Xunlei Networking Culture Co,, Ltd. (R
M EMAELEBRZAF]) . Mr Zhu has resigned as the vice-president of the
Company on 3 June 2019.

Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor's degree in computer science and engineering from

the South China University of Technology in the PRC in July 2010.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSHREEEBERFE

Mr. Wei Jianpeng (BREZME) , aged 39, was appointed as the vice-president
of the Company in June 2017, being in charge of the office of the Board and
capital markets affairs. From August 2003 to July 2015, Mr. Wei served in a
number of positions including as a senior manager in the audit department
at PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP (& % 5k & ff K & 5Bl B 75
BT (RFBRE @A) ). From July 2015 to July 2016, Mr Wei served as the
chief financial officer and executive general manager in China Innovative Capital
Management Limited; and from July 2016 to June 2017, Mr. Wei served as
secretary to the board of directors of Zhejiang Orient Holdings Co., Ltd. (listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600120). Mr. Wei has resigned as
the vice-president of the Company on 27 December 2019.

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor's degree in English (global business) from the
Beijing Foreign Studies University in the PRC in July 2003. He has been
accredited as a certified public accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified

Public Accountants.

Mr. Zhang Chuanbo (3R ) , aged 36, was appointed as the vice-president
of the Company in August 2017, being in charge of marketing affairs. From July
2010 to April 2013, Mr. Zhang served as marketing director in Beijing LaShou
Technology Co., Ltd. (b RAFRIRER A T]) . From January 2014 to July
2017, Mr. Zhang served in a number of positions including as regional vice-
president in Tuniu International Travel Service Co, Ltd. (listed on NASDAQ,
NASDAQ: TOUR). Mr. Zhang has resigned as the vice-president of the Company
on 16 July 2019.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor's degree in computer science and technology

from the Peking University in the PRC in January 2009.
COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Hiu Ling (ZEBE¥%) was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) in March 2018. Ms. Li has over ten years'
experience in corporate secretarial compliance, holding a Master of Science in
Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance, and a Bachelor of Social
Sciences degree from two universities in Hong Kong. Ms. Li is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional as well as an associate of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (“HKICS") and the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. Ms. Li is also
a holder of the Practitioner's Endorsement of HKICS. Currently, Ms. Li is also the

company secretary of China Netcom.
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The Directors hereby present the report of the Directors and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst its major
operating subsidiaries operate the online credit card management platform.
Details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's
performance for the year ended 31 December 2019 by business segments is set

out in Note 2.5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the state of affairs
of the Group and of the Company as at that date are set out in the consolidated

financial statements on pages 46 to 149.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure on declaring
and recommending the dividend payment of the Company, a dividend policy
(the "Dividend Policy”) is adopted by the Board which aims to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst preserving the

Company's liquidity to capture future growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company's ability to pay dividends,
which will depend upon, including but not limited to, the financial performance
and position of the Company, Shareholders' interests, business conditions and
strategies, and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to the
interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews the Dividend Policy and
its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required to ensure the benefit of the
Shareholders as a whole is taken into consideration from time to time during

recommendation and declaration of dividends.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year

ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Report of the Directors
EETHE

BEEENBEEHE2019FEN2A3IBILEEZE
ERAEBCEZGETBERE -

g W

FERK

ARRTEEBRRERE METELENB QA
AEEERTEARERTR -HIEMBRARTE
EBHBRANGE M BRERMF23 - AEEHZE2019
FNARLFEZREREBDEMEZTER
e BWMRMELS -

RERDE

AEBEZ0I9F1N2A3BIEFEZEHBERAEDR
MARRTBNZBZHERABRERE T IEHRERE 146
Z 498 °

REREFSEETMMER D IRKAR AR BFRE
BENEF EFRMT -ERERRX(TREK
K] HEEMEEMRBERRZFAEARQANFE - R
RFERAFNESRBEABRARRNERE S -

RENEMBORR AR AR ESENTIRE A
BOAR (BHEEARR) ARB NP BHRIR LA -
MR A 2 EBARN KR REF SR REANE
MEMAR -BhBAR REEREN EFEIA
AEEIRFHRE EFEEHRIZELFRTBRE
BERREBREABRBCREE N SN EZEREIRK
BETETIAEZE-

BEESIEEREE2019F 12831 HIEFEIRZETM
A% (20184 : f&) -

SUEAFERAT #8209 | 33



Report of the Directors
EEEHE

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing by the Group, and an indication of likely future development
in the Group's business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this report. These discussions form part of this

“Report of the Directors”.
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group's commitment to protecting the environment is well reflected by
the continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in its daily
business operations. The Group encourages environmental protection and
promotes awareness towards environmental protection to the employees. The
Group also implements green office practices such as promoting the use of
recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting

and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the
operation of the Group's businesses and enhancing environmental sustainability.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that had a

significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets. Thus the
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate
its employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
its employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market

standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with its business partners to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, the
Directors or senior management have kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when appropriate.
During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the

Group and its business partners.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company's share capital during the year are set

out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the Shares issued in the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in

Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and the

consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As
at 31 December 2019, the Company had reserves available for distribution of

approximately RMB6,05 1,938,000 (2018; approximately RMB5,985,853,000).
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year are set out in Note |6 to the consolidated financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company's articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, there is no provision for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares to its existing Shareholders first on a pro-rata

basis.
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for

the last five financial years as extracted from the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Group is set out on page 316 of this report.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 3| December 2019, the Company repurchased a total of
2,772,000 Shares on the Stock Exchange, with the aggregate consideration paid
(before expenses) amounting to HK$8,799,405. All Shares repurchased were
subsequently cancelled. The Directors believed that the repurchase of Shares
would enhance the net assets of the Company and/or earnings per Share and
benefit the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. As at 31 December
2019, the total number of issued Shares was |,191,653,522.
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Particulars of the repurchase of Shares were as follows: PR BER 2B T
Total
number of Highest Lowest Total
Shares price paid price paid purchase
Month of repurchase repurchased per Share per Share price paid
BRERH BRER D
BE A% CERROAR CENESER EBIBREER ENENRE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
September 2019 890,000 359 3.05 2,982,985
201999 A
October 2019 1,882,000 323 292 5,816,420
2019%F 107
Total 2,772,000 - - 8,799,405
il

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

listed securities of the Company.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of approximately
RMBI,158,000 (2018: approximately RMB1,332,000).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or legal liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is
acquitted. During the year, there was appropriate directors” and senior officers’

liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of the Group.
RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group's employees in the PRC participate in defined contribution schemes
provided by the relevant provincial and municipal governments under which
the Group (as the employer) and the employees in the PRC are required to
make monthly contributions to these schemes in accordance with the relevant
requirements. The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds to the
pension in accordance with the requirements of the relevant provincial and

municipal governments.

The Group has also arranged its Hong Kong employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme, a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee whereby each of the Group (as the employer) and the
Hong Kong employees make monthly contributions to the scheme in accordance

with the relevant legislation.

Details of the Group's contributions to the retirement schemes are shown in

Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were

entered into by the Group, or subsisted during the year.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (THE

“PO”)

The Shares were listed and commenced trading on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange on |3 July 2018.The gross proceeds and net proceeds raised by the

Company from the IPO amounted to approximately HK$1,009.0 million and

approximately HK$988.3 million, respectively, and an additional gross proceeds

and net proceeds of approximately HK$62.9 million and approximately HK$61.3

million, respectively, were raised from the allotment and issue of the Shares as a

result of the partial exercise of the over-allotment option.

As at 31 December 2019, the proceeds were utilized in consistent with the

usage as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 June 2018 (the

“Prospectus’’) in the manner set out below:

Net proceeds from
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Proportion the IPO as at 3| December 2019 as at 3| December 2019
R2019F 128318 R2019F12A318
fhitt BRAMBERSIEER ZEBAMA ZXBRAEH
HK$ million RMB' million HK$ million RMB' million HK$ million RMB' million
HEET ARKEET BEET ARKEET BEET AREKBET
User acquisition 40% 4198 359.7 2826 2368 1372 1229
EBRAP
Enhancement of technology and
risk management capabilities 30% 3149 269.8 1640 1346 1509 1352
RiTRERERENE
Investment 20% 2099 179.8 40.5 28.1 1694 1517
BE
Working capital and other general
corporate purposes 10% 105.0 89.9 105.0 89.9 = =
EEESRAM—REERE
Total 100% 1,049.6 899.2 592.1 4894 4575 409.8
&t

There was no change in the intended use of proceeds as previously disclosed in

the Prospectus.

PSR IAM B E RGBT ERERMBEEN B

SUEAFERAT #8209 | 39



Report of the Directors
EEEHE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed

during the year.
MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the major

customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set out below:

EEAW
FRLETIRFERAEEDRERETEREHR
BEMZERRITRALN-

IREFRHAER

FRAKETERFPREERESEHERRRE
BMZADLLWMT:

Approximate

percentage of

total sales

HHEHRE

ZBHABES
(1)  Sales
HE

— the largest customer 3.3%

-RREP
— the five largest customers (combined) 6.4%

-BEXREF (A6

Approximate
percentage of

total purchases

EERIB AR
ZHNBE DL
(2)  Purchases
®REE
— the largest supplier 3.8%
- RAHER
— the five largest suppliers (combined) 15.19%
- AXftERE (A6

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)), or any Shareholders (that, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's issued
Shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and

suppliers during the year
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
MrYang Yuzhi (Vice-president)
Mr. Zhao Ke (Chief Financial Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Zou Yunli

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr.Wong Ti

Mr.Ye Xiang

Mr. Xu Xuchu (appointed on 9 April 2020)

Mr.Yang Dong (appointed on 20 June 2019 and
resigned on 9 April 2020)

Mr.Wang Zhaocheng (resigned on 20 June 2019)

In accordance with article 16.18 of the Articles, Mr. Sun Haitao, Mr. Wong Ti
and Mr.Ye Xiang will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the

Company.

In accordance with article 16.3 of the Articles, Mr. Xu Xuchu, who has been

appointed on 9 April 2020, shall hold office only until the next following general

meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Therefore,

Mr. Xu Xuchu will, being eligible, offer himself for re-election as Director at the
forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group

are set out on pages 26 to 32 of this report.
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within

one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration committee considers and recommends to the Board the
remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the Directors.
The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
remuneration committee to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and
compensation are appropriate. References to the remuneration standards of
the industry as well as the business development of the Company are made to
ensure the level of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain the
Directors, and the Company should avoid paying more than necessary for this

purpose.

Details of the Directors’ and senior management's remuneration of the Group

are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group's businesses to which any of the Company's
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO™)) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix |0 to the

Listing Rules were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares

Name of Director(s) Capacity and nature of interest
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares issued Shares

EEBITRAD
EEgE B REREME R E ZBHED L
Mr. Sun Haitao (“Mr. Sun™) Founder of a discretionary trust, who can affect the trustee 120,076,000 10.08%
REREE([BREE]) how to exercise discretionary trust
AR EXTEAMATEERBENBIBETRLA
Others 50,355,000@ 4.23%
HAt
Others 245,140,736© 20.57%
HAt
415,571,736 34.87%
Mr. Yang Yuzhi Beneficial owner 7,000,000 0.59%
BFELRE BEmER A
Ms. Zou Yunli Interest of spouse 200,000® 0.02%
WEBLL fe B s
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Rising Sun Limited, which is the beneficial owner of the 120,076,000 Shares, is
wholly owned by Wukong Ltd. Wukong Ltd. is beneficially wholly owned by Wukong
Trust, which was established by Mr Sun as the settlor TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is the
trustee of Wukong Trust. Mr. Sun, as the beneficiary of Wukong Trust, is taken to be

interested in those Shares.

Rising Sun Limited entered into a limited partnership agreement with Tai Yong
Holdings Ltd on I3 October 2017, as amended and restated on |7 November
2017 (the
51 Xinhu LP, a Cayman lIslands exempted limited partnership and regulating the

Limited Partnership Agreement’), for the purpose of establishing

activities and operation of the partnership. Pursuant to the Limited Partnership
Agreement, Rising Sun Limited serves as the general partner and Tai Yong Holdings
Ltd serves as the limited partner. In addition, Rising Sun Limited has the power to
exercise all voting rights on behalf of 51 Xinhu LR As 51 Xinhu LR is the beneficial
owner of the 50,355,000 Shares, and by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed
to be interested in the 50,355,000 Shares and the share capital of its associated
corporation in which Rising Sun Limited is or is deemed to be interested.

The Company entered into a voting proxy agreement (the “Voting Proxy
Agreement”) with Rising Sun Limited, 5| Stock Limited, 5| Award Limited, Tiantu
Investments Limited, MSK XF Holding Ltd, LF Alpha Ltd and Achieve Success
Technology Development Limited (other than the Company, each, a “Party
to the Voting Proxy Agreement’, collectively, the “Parties to the Voting Proxy
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Voting Proxy Agreement, Rising Sun Limited is
entitled to exercise, in its sole discretion, all the voting powers associated with the
245,140,736 Shares on behalf of the Parties to the Voting Proxy Agreement on all
matters submitted to a vote of Shareholders at any meeting of Shareholders. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed to be interested in the 245,140,736 Shares
and the share capital of its associated corporation in which Rising Sun Limited is or

is deemed to be interested.

Mr. Li Anxin, the spouse of Ms. Zou Yunli, is the beneficial owner of the 200,000
Shares. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Zou Yunli is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by her spouse.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors and the

chief executive of the Company had or deemed to have any interests or short

positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or

any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as

recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or

as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

44

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2019 Annual Report

Hyiz

()  #H120076000% 8% 15 2 B # # A ARising Sun Limited i
Woukong Ltd. 2B A ° Wukong Ltd.F3Wukong Trust ( AR
FEERMERTARY)ESE2EMES - TMF (Cayman)
Ltd. A Wukong TrustB) 2 5E A © TR 5 A 1 /8 Wukong Trust )
XRAREREEZERDER -

(2)  Rising Sun Limited®8Tai Yong Holdings Ltd#20174F 103 13
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Long Position in Shares of Associated Corporation

Name of associated
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RAEBEERD 2HFR

Capacity and nature

Approximate

percentage of

Name of Director corporation of interest Number of shares issued shares
HERITR®S

EEHE HEEE B B RESEMEE KRGOEE ZHMOBED

Mr. Sun China Netcom" Interest in controlled 1,834,963,213@ 39.28%

REHE corporation

I EEO W EREEE 2 e
Notes: Kt -
h The shares of China Netcom are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: (h AR A8 B R IR D I B SX FTGEM BT (AR 1A R 5% - 8071) ©
8071).
(2)  These shares are directly held by S5IRENPIN.COM INC. 5IRENPIN.COM INC.  (2) &% B&17 A5 IRENPIN.COM INC.E #4548 ° 5IRENPIN.

is wholly owned by /& BEF#AERHRBRR AR (transliterated as Shanghai
Wauniu Network Technology Company Limited), which is in turn wholly owned by
Hangzhou Enniu. Mr. Sun is indirectly interested in approximately 26.94% of the
equity interest in Hangzhou Enniu. Further; contractual arrangements (as defined
below) are entered into between HMIRFE SRHXBR QT (transliterated
as Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co., Ltd.) (“Hangzhou Zhenniu”) (a
company wholly owned by 5| Credit Card (China) Limited, which is in turn wholly
owned by the Company and ultimately controlled by Mr Sun) and Hangzhou Enniu
so that Hangzhou Zhenniu can control Hangzhou Enniu. By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
Sun is deemed to be interested in those shares held by 5RENPIN.COM INC.

COM INC.H BB B4 @EREBER AR ([ E&8E4])
2EEE EEEFUNBEMNBF2ERE -FREER
WU B #926.949 R A = HE B R i 2 o LS - MUJNIRAF
SRR ARAT ([HMREF]) (BSHEAR (FE)
BRARZERE MZABBEAANREZERE KBREK
FESKRES) BEMMBFEITVENTH (EEAT
30) AT IR BRI BN B A o IR HF R E 1K
Bl BRI AW AR BB ABSIRENPIN.COM INC AT A %S5
B&fn RS o
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors, the persons or
entities, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, who had or
deemed to have an interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares

and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the register required

FERRRADANRG HERORES
THEENERERAR

2019 12A318 - RHEEMA U TATHESR (£
EXARRAZEITHRABRIN RARERG - 8H
IR0 RIEHFFHHEE KR AEEIRIEES RIS GO
FEIEMTEBERARNRAEFEZE LMz =

to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall

to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of

Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Capacity and nature

Number of

Shares directly or

indirectly held

FRR IRBEF LA EERPIEXVEBHR2REIDE
ZHRERARNARRE ZEEIORA

Approximate

percentage

Name(s) of interests and category?) of issued Shares
HESEE
FENRS EEBITRAD

B B RERME HEREHO ZBHED L

Mr. Huang Wei(® Interest in controlled corporation 260,686,000 (L) 21.88%

HEBEEO MNEEHEE 2 #E

Ms. Li Ping® Interest of spouse 260,686,000 (L) 21.88%

FHELLO [iRREL e

Zhejiang Xinhu Group Co,, Ltd."® Interest in controlled corporation 260,686,000 (L) 21.88%

HTF R EBBRNBR AR MNEEEHEE 2

Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd."® Interest in controlled corporation 260,686,000 (L) 21.88%

MR ERNDARRFC MREEHER 2

Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 260,686,000 (L) 21.88%

BERMHBREBR QA MRE AR 2 s

Taichang Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 109,217,000 (L) 9.17%
EEEAA

Tai Shun Holdings Ltd.® Beneficial owner 101,114,000 (L) 8.49%
EEEAA

EasternGate SPC® Security interest 210,331,000 (L) 17.65%
IREEE I

TMF (Cayman) Ltd.® Trustee 415571736 (L) 34.87%
ZFEA
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Number of
Shares directly or Approximate
Capacity and nature indirectly held percentage
Name(s) of interests and category® of issued Shares
EEgBE
FEHRS HEBRTRSD
=L SO REREME HERERO ZHBHED L
Woukong Ltd.® Interest in controlled corporation 120,076,000 (L) 10.08%
MEZEGER 2 S
Other 50,355,000 (L) 4.23%
Hit
Other 245,140,736 (L) 20.57%
Ht
415571736 (L) 34.87%
Rising Sun Limited® Beneficial owner 120,076,000 (L) 10.08%
BEaRlERA
Other 50,355,000 (L) 4.23%
Hit
Other 245,140,736 (L) 20.57%
Hit
415571,736 (L) 34.87%
Mr. Wang Yonghua® Interest in controlled corporation 95,328,000 (L) 8.00%
IKREXREO MR EHER 2
Interest in controlled corporation 55,213,000 (L) 4.63%
MR EHEE 2 &
Interest in controlled corporation 3,195,000 (L) 0.27%
MNEEHEE 2
153,736,000 (L) 12.90%
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd."® Interest in controlled corporation 150,541,000 (L) 12.63%
RITREREEEZRNDBR QA REEHEE 2
Tiantu Advisory Company Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 95,328,000 (L) 8.00%

REZABR AR REIEHEE 2 s
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Capacity and nature

Number of
Shares directly or Approximate

indirectly held percentage

Name(s) of interests and category® of issued Shares
EEgBE
FEHRS HEBRITRSD
=L SO REREME HERERO ZHBHED L
Tiantu Investments Limited® Beneficial owner 95,328,000 (L) 8.00%
REREBRAAO EZEAA
The Core Trust Company Limited® Trustee 186,398,642 (L) 15.64%
EREEERAAO ZFEA
TCT (BVI) Limited® Other 186,398,642 (L) 15.64%
Hit
51 Stock Limited® Beneficial owner 87,330,881 (L) 7.33%
EREAA
51 Award Limited® Beneficial owner 99,067,761 (L) 831%
BEaER A
E The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective Chinese

name(s) and is/are for identification only.

() Zhejiang Xinhu Group Co,, Ltd. (“Zhejiang Xinhu") is held as to 67.22% by Mr.
Huang Wei. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Zhejiang Xinhu is deemed to be interested. For details of Zhejiang

Xinhu's deemed interests, please refer to Note (3) below.

) Ms. Li Ping is the spouse of Mr. Huang Wei, and thus is deemed to be interested in
the Shares in which Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested under the SFO.
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(©)

*

©)

©)

)

109,217,000 Shares and 101,114,000 Shares are directly held by Taichang
Investment Limited and Tai Shun Holdings Ltd, respectively, and have been pledged
in favour of EasternGate SPC. Taichang Investment Limited and Tai Shun Holdings
Ltd both are wholly owned by Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited, which
is in turn wholly owned by Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd. (“Xinhu Zhongbao™). Xinhu
Zhongbao is deemed to be controlled by Zhejiang Xinhu under the SFO. Therefore,
under the SFO, each of Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited, Xinhu Zhongbao
and Zhejiang Xinhu is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which each of
Taichang Investment Limited and Tai Shun Holdings Ltd. is deemed to be interested.
50,355,000 Shares are directly held by 51 Xinhu LP, which is wholly owned by Tai
Yong Holdings Ltd. Tai Yong Holdings Ltd is wholly owned by Hong Kong Xinhu
Investment Co., Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Xinhu Zhongbao. Xinhu
Zhongbao is deemed to be controlled by Zhejiang Xinhu under the SFO. Therefore,
under the SFO, each of Tai Yong Holdings Ltd, Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co,
Limited, Xinhu Zhongbao and Zhejiang Xinhu is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by 51 Xinhu LP.

Same for the interests as disclosed in Notes (1) to (3) in the section headed
“INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION" of
this report.

95,328,000 Shares are directly held by Tiantu Investments Limited. Tiantu
Investments Limited is wholly owned by Tiantu Advisory Company Limited, which
is in turn wholly owned by JARYITT REIRE EIZRH AR A A (transliterated
as Tian Tu Capital Co,, Ltd) (“Tian Tu Capital”). 55,213,000 Shares are directly
held by Tiantu Xingbei Investments Limited Company ("‘Tiantu Xingbei"), which is
indirectly-owned by Tian Tu Capital. Mr. Wang Yonghua holds 59.80% shareholding
interest in Tian Tu Capital. Therefore, under the SFO, Tiantu Advisory Company
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Tiantu Investments
Limited, and each of Tian Tu Capital and Mr. Wang Yonghua is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Tiantu Investments Limited and Tiantu Xingbei.
3,195,000 Shares are directly held by Tiantu China Consumer Fund |, LR which is
in turn indirectly-owned by Mr.Wang Yonghua. Therefore, under the SFO, Mr. Wang
Yonghua is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Tiantu China Consumer
Fund I, LR

Both 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited are wholly owned by TCT (BVI)
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by The Core Trust Company Limited. The
Core Trust Company Limited is the trustee and each of 51 Stock Limited and 51
Award Limited is the nominee to administer the RSU Schemes (as defined below).
Each of 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited holds the Shares underlying the
RSUs granted by the Company for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to
the RSU Schemes.

(L) — Long position, (S) — Short position

©)

*

©)

(®)

@)
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109,217,0008% K 101,114,0008% %> Bl F Taichang Investment
Limited &% Tai Shun Holdings LtdE #E#48 » W E E 4
EasternGate SPC ° Taichang Investment Limited &2 Tai Shun
Holdings Ltd¥ I R BB MR EBR A2 EHA  ME
BIRIREBR AR BIARERMERRE ([H#
RE|)EHEE RIBFHRAEGA FRRERR
RENTHBES - Bt REZBHRAEGRD FE
FRIREBR AR FRRE RN IIAE BB AR
Taichang Investment Limited % Tai Shun Holdings Ltd%y Bl #
A AR5 A A #E %S © 50,355,0008% 51 Xinhu LPE
#7851 Xinhu LPF Tai Yong Holdings Ltd& & #E A © Tai
Yong Holdings LtdEB BB ¥R EBR AR 2 EHE - M
BETPREERAREANPREEREE - IBREEH
REAEIEBI - 3R B AR AT ERE S F it

RIE B S M HE 5] TaiYong Holdings Ltd + & 7 74 1%
BEBRARFHPERITHRIER AR5 Xinhu
LRI AR IR A ok o

BARER [EERARARERSTRABRAQFRE
IRBEEORD - BERG REFT A RS R%
Bl —8AMME)EQ MK E = AR -

953280000k HREIR EFR AR EEFA - KEIRER
RARIBKREZAERARDLERE  MAEZAER
ARAERYITREREERROHERA A (DRINX
B )2 & #E ° 55213,0008% A Tiantu Xingbei Investments
Limited Company ( [ Tiantu Xingbei ] ) E##4 M Tiantu
Xingbei Bl FURYIR Bl B 54 « EkELREFARIIR
[E59.80%M% # - B it - IRBFE F KRB EHH REAH
BARARBRANRKEREARAAFENRG T #
B RARNRBREREXELEEZBHRBERNRKE
BB A F K Tiantu Xingbeif A KRR (7 A o o

3,195,0008% FA Tiantu China Consumer Fund |, LPE #4575 -

M Tiantu China Consumer Fund |, LPRI F1 T 7k 2 7t AR Rl %%
A -Et RIBESFRBERD EXREEERRE
M Tiantu China Consumer Fund |, LP¥5 7 89 % {5 7 # B 1

25

4

o

51 Stock Limited 251 Award Limited?J E3 TCT (BVI) Limited
2EEA  MTCT BV) Limited | HEB{EFERAF 2
BB - ERETARATAZIEA M5!I Stock Limited
K51 Award Limitedfl| & B BB IR X IR HIAR (5 B A5t E
(EERTX)HHR B AC5I Stock Limited %51 Award
Limited % B AE B B2 EENFRIFTAERARARBES
BEL ) AR ) B faz 5T 1 4% 1 A 52 PR I AR 1) BB a3 % ) AEL A
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Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2019, no person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had or was deemed to have interests or short positions in the Shares
which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or were required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 and Part

XV of the SFO.

RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT (“RSU”) SCHEMES

Summary

The Company has adopted the 51 Stock Scheme and the 51 Award Scheme
(collectively, the “Schemes™) by a resolution of the Board on 20 November
2017. The Schemes are not subject to the provisions of Chapter |7 of the
Listing Rules as the RSU Schemes do not involve the grant of options by the

Company to subscribe for new Shares.

Purpose

The purpose of the Schemes is to recognize and reward the participants (as
detailed in the paragraph headed “Participants” below) of each of the Schemes

for their contribution to the Group, to attract suitable personnel, and to provide

incentives to them to remain with and further contribute to the Group.

50 | 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2019 Annual Report

Br EXFTIEEEIN - BLEZESFTE - R2019F 12431
H BIEAL (BEFHERRRAZRITRABERIN) R
MPEBRERBEBREES R BEIRAIE336K
REBABRARRREGFEZECMZBEIAR
HIRIEES M EEHEXVEZ2REIDHZRTE
BRIARAIWE Z AR -

ZRERDEMTE
=

RATEBRBEESH2017F 11 208 BR 3 = HA
SIRMETEI RS RENEHE (57l [2EE]) 725
B AZRARETRAUETLENG BAZR
HI AR 19 BB AL 5 8IS0 A% K AR R AT SR R AR 19

B B AR HE o

B

ZEFENBENREAREDZSHEAZTANZE
Z(HBATRIZ2EE ]| D) BAKEMELNE
BRI A BAT A RRBEHEBEEMASARBERE
REHEZER -



Awards

Each of the awards of RSUs under the 5| Stock Scheme (together with the
awards of RSUs under the 51 Award Scheme, referred to as the “Award(s)")
gives a participant an option, and an Award of RSUs under the 5| Award
Scheme gives a participant an entitlement, upon vesting of the Award(s) to
obtain either Shares (in case of the 51 Stock Scheme only) or an equivalent
value in cash with reference to the market value of the Shares less any tax, fees,
levies, stamp duty and other applicable charges. An Award may include, if so
specified by the 51 Stock RSU Administration Committee and the 51 Award
RSU Administration Committee (each as the “RSU Committee”) in their entire
discretion, cash and non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale
proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares from

the date that the Award is granted to the date that it vests.

Limit

Unless otherwise duly approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
underlying the 51 Stock Scheme shall not exceed 112,341,261 Shares and the
total number of Shares underlying the 5| Award Scheme shall not exceed
102,060,261 Shares (excluding the Shares underlying RSUs that have lapsed or

been cancelled in accordance with the Schemes).

Grants

As at 31 December 2019, 99,444,270 and 59,942,960 Shares underlying RSUs
were granted to participants under the 5| Stock Scheme and the 51 Award
Scheme, representing approximately 8.35% and 5.03% of the issued Shares,
respectively. As at 31 December 2019, 12,896,991 and 42,117,301 Shares
underlying RSUs remained outstanding under the 51 Stock Scheme and the 51

Award Scheme, respectively.
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Participants
Participants of the 51 Stock Scheme include:
0) any member of senior management of the Group; or

(i) any person who, in the sole opinion of the RSU Committee, has
contributed or will contribute to any member of the Group (including
business partners of any member of the Group, such as suppliers,
customers or any persons who provide technical support, consultancy,
advisory or other services to any member of the Group), as may be

specifically identified by the RSU Committee.
Participants of the 5| Award Scheme include:
0] any employee of the Group; or

(i) any person who, in the sole opinion of the RSU Committee, has
contributed or will contribute to any member of the Group (including
business partners of any member of the Group, such as suppliers,
customers or any persons who provide technical support, consultancy,
advisory or other services to any member of the Group), as may be

specifically identified by the RSU Committee.
Transferability

According to the terms of the Schemes (as amended from time to time), the
participant may transfer the granted Award(s) upon the approval of the Board
or an authorized body or person appointed by the Board in accordance with
the terms of the Schemes. The transferee should be bound by the terms of
the Schemes, notices of grant and other relevant applicable documents and

agreements.
Term

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to
the termination clauses of the Schemes, the Schemes are valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the date of adoption (i.e., 20 November
2017), after which no Awards will be granted, but the provisions of the Schemes
shall in all other respects remain in full force and effect and the Awards granted
during the terms of the Schemes may continue to be valid and exercisable in

accordance with their terms of grant.
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RSU Trustee

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited, a trustee service
provider and an independent third party, to administer the granting and vesting

of RSUs granted to the grantees pursuant to the Schemes.

Rights attached to Awards

The RSUs under the 51 Stock Scheme do not carry any right to vote at
general meetings of the Company. No grantee shall enjoy any of the rights
of a Shareholder by virtue of the grant of an Award pursuant to the 51
Stock Scheme, unless and until such Shares underlying the Award are actually
transferred to the grantee upon the vesting of the RSUs provided that the
grantee, his/her wholly owned entity or any such trust arrangement as directed
by him/her shall enter into an agreement in writing with Mr. Sun delegating
the voting rights attached to such Shares by proxy to Mr. Sun or his delegated
entity(ies). Unless otherwise specified by the RSUs Committee in its entire
discretion in the notice of grant, the grantees do not have any rights to any cash
or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-

cash and nonscrip distributions from any Shares underlying an Award.

Similarly, the RSUs under the 51 Award Scheme do not carry any right to
vote at general meetings of the Company. No grantee shall enjoy any of the
rights of a Shareholder by virtue of the grant of an Award pursuant to the 51
Award Scheme. Unless otherwise specified by the RSU Committee in its entire
discretion in the notice of grant, the grantees do not have any rights to any cash
or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-

cash and nonscrip distributions from any Shares underlying an Award.

Rights attached to Shares (in case of the 5| Stock Scheme only)

Any Shares to be transferred to a grantee or his/her wholly owned entity upon
the vesting of RSUs granted pursuant to the 51 Stock Scheme shall be subject to
all the provisions of the Articles and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the
existing fully paid Shares in issue on the date of transfer, or, if that date falls on a
day when the register of members of the Company is closed, the first day of the
re-opening of the register of members, and accordingly shall entitle the holder of
such Shares to participate in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on

or after the date of transfer.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “CONNECTED AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS" of this report, at no time during the year and at the
end of the year was the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other subsidiaries.
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had entered into any contract
of significance or contract of significance for provision of services with the

controlling Shareholders or its subsidiaries during the year.
FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
The Group currently has no plan to make any material investment but will

continue to seek potential investment opportunities according to the Group's

development needs.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In order to maintain and exercise control over the PRC Operating Entities (as
defined below), the Company has entered into the contractual arrangements.
The contractual arrangements allow the Company to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits of the PRC Operating Entities and consolidate their
results of operations into the Group's. For the purposes of Chapter [4A of the
Listing Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected person”, the PRC
Operating Entities | will be treated as the Company's wholly owned subsidiaries,
and their directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in the
Listing Rules) and their respective associates will be treated as the Company’s
“connected persons”. The related party transactions that did not constitute
connected transactions under the Listing Rules were disclosed in Note 35 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Hence, the transactions carried out under the Contractual Arrangements | (as
defined below) during the year constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company. As the Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and
the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the
announcement, circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements | pursuant to Rule 14A.105
of the Listing Rules, the transactions are only subject to the reporting and annual
review under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules. Further details of the waiver are
set out in the sections headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the Listing
Rules” and “Connected Transactions — B. Non-exempt Continuing Connected

Transactions” of the Prospectus.

Further details of the contractual arrangements are set out in the section
headed “CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS" of this report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Board had reviewed the major issues arising from the implementation and
performance of the contractual arrangements of the year of 2019, and had
discussed the matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from

governmental authorities.
Overview

The PRC Operating Entities (defined as below) of the Group are required
to hold the Value-added Telecommunication Service Operating Permit (the
“ICP License") to operate the mobile applications and the provision of online

information services.

On || December 2001, the State Council of the PRC promulgated the
Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-funded Telecommunications
Enterprises ( (INEREBEEEBEHTE) ) (the “FITE Regulations”),
which were amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February 2016, respectively.
According to the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold
more than 50% of the equity interests in a company providing value-added
telecom services (“VATS"), including ICP services. In addition, a foreign investor
who invests in a VATS business in the PRC must possess the qualification
requirements. The Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC
issued the guidance memorandum (the “Guidance Memorandum”) on the
application requirement for establishing foreign-invested VATS enterprises in
the PRC on | March 2017, and updated the same on 6 March 2019 which
took effect on the same day. According to the Guidance Memorandum, the
foreign investor's proven track record of good performance of VATS business
and satisfactory proof of prior experience in such business are required to
be provided. For the year ended 31 December 2019, no applicable PRC laws,
regulations or rules have provided any guidance or interpretation on the proof

of the qualification requirement.
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Structured Contract |
Hangzhou Zhenniu is an indirect wholly owned PRC subsidiary of the Company.

Hangzhou Enniu was jointly held by domestic enterprises such as Pingxiang Jiniu
Assets Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (4842 4 & E & 12
AR E(BRAER) ), Xinhu Zhongbao and Shenzhen Tiantu Xingbang
Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership) ORI KB EBLE X (BR
&%) ) . Hangzhou Enniu has obtained the ICP License.

Hangzhou Zhenniu entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement | with Hangzhou Enniu in November 2017, then amended and
renewed the same in December 2017; and further entered into: (2) the
Exclusive Option Agreement |; (3) the Equity Pledge Agreement |; and (4) the
Powers of Attorney | and supporting documents (collectively referred to as the
“Structured Contract |") with Hangzhou Enniu and domestic enterprises such
as Pingxiang Jiniu Assets Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (5%
MLEFEEEBABLE (BRAEE) ), Xinhu Zhongbao and Shenzhen
Tiantu Xingbang Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership) ( ZR3I|K B EFH 1%
B (BRAEH) ) (the "Nominee Shareholders 1) to enable the Group
to obtain the power and ability to control the business of Hangzhou Enniu and

acquire economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements |").
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Exclusive Option Agreement |

Hangzhou Enniu and the Nominee Shareholders |, entered into the
exclusive option agreement | (the “Exclusive Option Agreement |")
with Hangzhou Zhenniu in December 2017, pursuant to which the
Nominee Shareholders | agreed to grant to Hangzhou Zhenniu (or
the Company or any subsidiary of the Company (the “Designee”),
an irrevocable and exclusive option to acquire or purchase from the
Nominee Shareholders | and/or Hangzhou Enniu all or any part of
their equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Enniu at a nominal
price, unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws
request that another amount be used as the purchase price, in which
case the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such request.
In compliance with the current regulations and requirements of the
PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders | and/or Hangzhou Enniu shall
return any amount of purchase price they have received to Hangzhou
Zhenniu. At Hangzhou Zhenniu's request, the Nominee Shareholders
I and/or Hangzhou Enniu will promptly and unconditionally transfer
their respective equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Enniu to
Hangzhou Zhenniu (or the Designee) after Hangzhou Zhenniu exercises

its purchase right.

In order to prevent the flow of the assets and value of Hangzhou Enniu
and its subsidiaries (the “PRC Operating Entities 1", together with
the PRC Operating Entities 2 (defined as below), collectively, the “PRC
Operating Entities”) to the Nominee Shareholders |, during the term
of the Exclusive Option Agreement |, Hangzhou Enniu shall not, and
shall procure its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise
dispose of any of its assets without the prior written consent of Hangzhou
Zhenniu. In addition, Hangzhou Enniu shall not, and shall procure its
subsidiaries not to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without
the prior written consent of Hangzhou Zhenniu. In the event that
the Nominee Shareholders | receive any distribution from Hangzhou
Enniu and/or its subsidiaries and subject to the PRC laws, the Nominee
Shareholders | must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to
Hangzhou Zhenniu (or the Designee). If Hangzhou Zhenniu exercises its
purchase right, all or any part of the equity interests in and/or assets of
Hangzhou Enniu acquired would be transferred to Hangzhou Zhenniu
and the benefits of equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable, would

flow to the Company and the Shareholders.
The Exclusive Option Agreement | is for an initial term of ten years

and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Hangzhou Zhenniu

confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement |

Hangzhou Enniu and its subsidiaries entered into the exclusive business
cooperation agreement | (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement 1") with Hangzhou Zhenniu in December 2017, pursuant
to which Hangzhou Enniu agreed to engage Hangzhou Zhenniu and
its designated persons as the exclusive provider to the PRC Operating
Entities | of business support, technical and consulting services, including
technical services, network support, business consultation, intellectual
property licensing, equipment, leasing, marketing consultancy, system
integration, product research and development and system maintenance,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, the service fees,
subject to Hangzhou Zhenniu's adjustment, are equal to all of the net
profit of the PRC Operating Entities |. Hangzhou Zhenniu may adjust the
service fees at its sole discretion, after consideration of certain factors,
including but not limited to the deduction of necessary costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to the respective fiscal
year, and may also include accumulated losses of the PRC Operating
Entities | from previous financial periods, which will be wired to the
designated account of Hangzhou Zhenniu upon issuance of payment
notification by Hangzhou Zhenniu. Hangzhou Zhenniu enjoys all the
economic benefits derived from every business of the PRC Operating
Entities | and bears Hangzhou Enniu’s business risks. If Hangzhou Enniu
runs into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, Hangzhou

Zhenniu will provide financial support to Hangzhou Enniu.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement | is for an initial term of
ten years and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Hangzhou

Zhenniu confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Share Pledge Agreement |

Hangzhou Enniu and the Nominee Shareholders | and Hangzhou
Zhenniu entered into the share pledge agreement | (the “Share Pledge
Agreement |") in December 2017. Under the Share Pledge Agreement
I, the Nominee Shareholders | pledged all of their respective equity
interests in Hangzhou Enniu to Hangzhou Zhenniu as collateral security
for any or all of their payments due to Hangzhou Zhenniu and to
secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement |, the Exclusive Option Agreement | and the
Powers of Attorney | (as defined below). The Share Pledge Agreement
I will not terminate until (i) all obligations of Hangzhou Enniu and
the Nominee Shareholders are satisfied in full; (i) Hangzhou Zhenniu
exercises its exclusive option to purchase the entire equity interests
of the Nominee Shareholders | in Hangzhou Enniu and/or the entire
assets of Hangzhou Enniu pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option
Agreement | when it is permitted to do so under the applicable PRC
laws and regulations; (iii) Hangzhou Zhenniu exercises its unilateral and
unconditional right of termination; or (iv) the agreement is required to
be terminated in accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations.
In addition, under the Exclusive Option Agreement |, none of the
Nominee Shareholders | may transfer or permit the encumbrance of
any of their equity interests in and assets of Hangzhou Enniu (including
any equity interests in and assets of the subsidiaries of Hangzhou
Enniu) without Hangzhou Zhenniu's prior written consent. The Share
Pledge Agreement | will be terminated when all the said obligations
of the Nominee Shareholders | contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements | are fulfilled or terminated in accordance with the

requirement of the relevant applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

Powers of Attorney |

An irrevocable power of attorney | (the "Powers of Attorney |")
was entered into between the Nominee Shareholders |, Hangzhou
Zhenniu and Hangzhou Enniu in December 2017, whereby the Nominee
Shareholders | appointed Hangzhou Zhenniu or, according to the
instruction of Hangzhou Zhenniu, a director of its offshore holding
company or a liquidator or a successor who are acting the function of
those directors as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf
on all matters concerning Hangzhou Enniu and to exercise all of its rights

as a Nominee Shareholders | of Hangzhou Enniu.
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Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual arrangement
entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and the
PRC Operating Entities | and/or the Nominee Shareholders | for the year
ended 31 December 2019. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements | and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for

the year ended 31 December 2019.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement | which involves
the payment of a service fee by Hangzhou Enniu to Hangzhou Zhenniu, and
the nominal purchase consideration to be paid by Hangzhou Zhenniu to
the Nominee Shareholders | under the Exclusive Option Agreement |, the

Contractual Arrangements | do not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract |, taken as a whole, permit the results and financial
operations of Hangzhou Enniu to be consolidated into the Group, as if it were
the Company's subsidiary resulting in all economic benefits of its business flowing
to the Company. Through the appointment of senior management of Hangzhou
Enniu, the Company believes that Hangzhou Zhenniu is able to effectively
supervise, manage and operate the business operations, expansion plans, financial
policies and assets of Hangzhou Enniu, and at the same time, ensure due

implementation of the Structured Contract |.
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The Structured Contract | enables the Company to exercise control over
and receives economic benefits generated from the business operation of
Hangzhou Enniu. The validity and legality of the Structured Contract | has been
confirmed by the PRC legal advisor: The Company is of the view that it is fair and
reasonable for Hangzhou Zhenniu to be entitled to all the economic benefits
generated from Hangzhou Enniu. The Structured Contract | also permits
Hangzhou Zhenniu to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interest in
Hangzhou Enniu, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group's lack of equity ownership in Hangzhou Enniu, the
Group is able to control the business and financial position of Hangzhou Enniu
in substance through the Structured Contract |. As a result of the Contractual
Arrangements |, Hangzhou Enniu is accounted for as the Company's subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results being consolidated into the

Group's consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and net loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 and net deficit
of Hangzhou Enniu as at 31 December 2019, pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements |, amounted to approximately RMB661.5 million, approximately

RMB215.6 million and approximately RMBI,681.4 million, respectively.
Structured Contract 2

Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Limited (‘Hangzhou Jiahao™) was jointly held by
Mr Zhu Jianfei and Mr. Guan Jun. Certain subsidiaries of Hangzhou Jiahao had
obtained the ICP Licenses, and Hangzhou Jiahao is also applying for the ICP

License.

Hangzhou Zhenniu entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement 2 with Hangzhou Jiahao in August 2019, and further entered into:
(2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 2; (3) the Equity Pledge Agreement 2; and
(4) the Powers of Attorney 2 and supporting documents (collectively referred
to as the “Structured Contract 2") with Hangzhou Jiahao, Mr. Zhu Jianfei and
Mr. Guan Jun (the “Nominee Shareholders 2") to enable the Group to obtain
the power and ability to control the business of Hangzhou Jiahao and acquire

economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements 2").
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Exclusive Option Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2, entered into the
exclusive option agreement 2 (the "“Exclusive Option Agreement
2") with Hangzhou Zhenniu in August 2019, pursuant to which the
Nominee Shareholders 2 agreed to grant to Hangzhou Zhenniu (or the
Designee), an irrevocable and exclusive option to acquire or purchase
from the Nominee Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao all or any
part of their equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao at a
nominal price, unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC
laws request that another amount be used as the purchase price, in
which case the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such
request. In compliance with the current regulations and requirements of
the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao shall
return any amount of purchase price they have received to Hangzhou
Zhenniu. At Hangzhou Zhenniu's request, the Nominee Shareholders
2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao will promptly and unconditionally transfer
their respective equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao to
Hangzhou Zhenniu (or the Designee) after Hangzhou Zhenniu exercises

its purchase right.

In order to prevent the flow of the assets and value of Hangzhou Jiahao
and its subsidiaries (the “PRC Operating Entities 2'') to the Nominee
Shareholders 2, during the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement 2,
Hangzhou Jiahao shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, sell,
transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any of its assets without the
prior written consent of Hangzhou Zhenniu. In addition, Hangzhou Jiahao
shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, make any distributions
to its shareholder(s) without the prior written consent of Hangzhou
Zhenniu. In the event that the Nominee Shareholders 2 receive any
distribution from Hangzhou Jiahao and/or its subsidiaries and subject
to the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders 2 must immediately pay
or transfer such distribution to Hangzhou Zhenniu (or the Designee).
If Hangzhou Zhenniu exercises its purchase right, all or any part of the
equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao acquired would be
transferred to Hangzhou Zhenniu and the benefits of equity ownership
and/or assets, as applicable, would flow to the Company and the

Shareholders.

The Exclusive Option Agreement 2 is for an initial term of ten years
and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Hangzhou Zhenniu

confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and its subsidiaries entered into the exclusive business
cooperation agreement 2 (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement 2") with Hangzhou Zhenniu in August 2019, pursuant to
which Hangzhou Jiahao agreed to engage Hangzhou Zhenniu and its
designated persons as the exclusive provider to the PRC Operating
Entities 2 of business support, technical and consulting services, including
technical services, network support, business consultation, intellectual
property licensing, equipment, leasing, marketing consultancy, system
integration, product research and development and system maintenance,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, the service fees,
subject to Hangzhou Zhenniu's adjustment, are equal to all of the net
profit of the PRC Operating Entities 2. Hangzhou Zhenniu may adjust the
service fees at its sole discretion, after consideration of certain factors,
including but not limited to the deduction of necessary costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to the respective fiscal
year, and may also include accumulated losses of the PRC Operating
Entities 2 from previous financial periods, which will be wired to the
designated account of Hangzhou Zhenniu upon issuance of payment
notification by Hangzhou Zhenniu. Hangzhou Zhenniu enjoys all the
economic benefits derived from every business of the PRC Operating
Entities 2 and bears Hangzhou Jiahao's business risks. If Hangzhou Jiahao
runs into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, Hangzhou

Zhenniu will provide financial support to Hangzhou Jiahao.
The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 is for an initial term of

ten years and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Hangzhou

Zhenniu confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Share Pledge Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2 and Hangzhou
Zhenniu entered into the share pledge agreement 2 (the “Share Pledge
Agreement 2") in August 2019. Under the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the
Nominee Shareholders 2 pledged all of their respective equity interests in
Hangzhou Jiahao to Hangzhou Zhenniu as collateral security for any or all
of their payments due to Hangzhou Zhenniu and to secure performance
of their obligations under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
2, the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and the Powers of Attorney 2 (as
defined below). The Share Pledge Agreement 2 will not terminate until
(i) all obligations of Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2
are satisfied in full; (i) Hangzhou Zhenniu exercises its exclusive option
to purchase the entire equity interests of the Nominee Shareholders 2
in Hangzhou Jiahao and/or the entire assets of Hangzhou Jiahao pursuant
to the terms of the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 when it is permitted
to do so under the applicable PRC laws and regulations; (iii) Hangzhou
Zhenniu exercises its unilateral and unconditional right of termination;
or (iv) the agreement is required to be terminated in accordance with
applicable PRC laws and regulations. In addition, under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2, none of the Nominee Shareholders 2 may transfer
or permit the encumbrance of any of their equity interests in and assets
of Hangzhou Jiahao (including any equity interests in and assets of the
subsidiaries of Hangzhou Jiahao) without Hangzhou Zhenniu's prior
written consent. The Share Pledge Agreement 2 will be terminated when
all the said obligations of the Nominee Shareholders 2 contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements 2 are fulfilled or terminated in
accordance with the requirement of the relevant applicable laws and

regulations of the PRC.
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(4) Powers of Attorney 2

An irrevocable power of attorney 2 (the “Powers of Attorney 2")
was entered into between the Nominee Shareholders 2, Hangzhou
Zhenniu and Hangzhou Jiahao in August 2019, whereby the Nominee
Shareholders 2 appointed Hangzhou Zhenniu or, according to the
instruction of Hangzhou Zhenniu, a director of its offshore holding
company or a liquidator or a successor who are acting the function of
those directors as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf
on all matters concerning Hangzhou Jiahao and to exercise all of its rights

as a Nominee Shareholders 2 of Hangzhou Jiahao.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual arrangement
entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and the
PRC Operating Entities 2 and/or the Nominee Shareholders 2 for the year
ended 31 December 2019. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements 2 and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for

the year ended 31 December 2019.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 which involves
the payment of a service fee by Hangzhou Jiahao to Hangzhou Zhenniu, and
the nominal purchase consideration to be paid by Hangzhou Zhenniu to
the Nominee Shareholders 2 under the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, the

Contractual Arrangements 2 do not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract 2, taken as a whole, permit the results and financial
operations of Hangzhou Jiahao to be consolidated into the Group, as if it were
the Company's subsidiary resulting in all economic benefits of its business flowing
to the Company. Through the appointment of senior management of Hangzhou
Jiahao, the Company believes that Hangzhou Zhenniu is able to effectively
supervise, manage and operate the business operations, expansion plans, financial
policies and assets of Hangzhou Jiahao, and at the same time, ensure due

implementation of the Structured Contract 2.
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The Structured Contract 2 enables the Company to exercise control over
and receives economic benefits generated from the business operation of
Hangzhou Jiahao. The validity and legality of the Structured Contract 2 has been
confirmed by the PRC legal advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair and
reasonable for Hangzhou Zhenniu to be entitled to all the economic benefits
generated from Hangzhou Jiahao. The Structured Contract 2 also permits
Hangzhou Zhenniu to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interest in
Hangzhou Jiahao, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group's lack of equity ownership in Hangzhou Jiahao, the
Group is able to control the business and financial position of Hangzhou Jiahao
in substance through the Structured Contract 2. As a result of the Contractual
Arrangements 2, Hangzhou Jiahao is accounted for as the Company's subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results being consolidated into the

Group's consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and net profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 and net
equity of Hangzhou Jiahao as at 31 December 2019, pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements 2, amounted to RMB nil, approximately RMB193,000 and
approximately RMB193,000.

Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed to engage in
the Internet business in which Hangzhou Enniu, Hangzhou Jiahao and each of
their subsidiaries, are engaged, the contractual arrangements are adopted by the
Group. The 51 Credit Card Manager App which is developed and owned by
Hangzhou Enniu acts as the major channel through which the Group approaches
its users and conducts business. Hangzhou Enniu presents information to specific
users by connecting the 51 Credit Card Manager App to its cooperating Internet
platforms, thereby providing credit card management service and other related
service to potential users. Hangzhou Jiahao, through its subsidiary, Hangzhou
Lanye Internet Technology Limited, developed and operated a mobile application
named “Little Blue Book”, and provides business information searching services
to users by the “Little Blue Book™. Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements are

crucial to the Group.

The Company will keep exploring various opportunities in building up its ICP
services operations for the purposes of being qualified as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest of each of Hangzhou Enniu and Hangzhou

Jiahao, respectively, if and when the foreign investment restrictions are lifted.
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Risk Factors Related to Contractual Arrangements and Actions to be Taken

Certain risks related to Contractual Arrangements, including:

if the PRC government deems that the Contractual Arrangements in
relation to the PRC Operating Entities (including the PRC Operating
Entities | and the PRC Operating Entities 2) do not comply with PRC
regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or
if these regulations or the interpretation of existing regulations change
in the future, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to

relinquish our interests in those operations;

if the imposition of any of these penalties or requirement to restructure
our corporate structure by the PRC government causes us to lose
the rights to direct the activities of the PRC Operating Entities or our
right to receive their economic benefits, we would no longer be able
to consolidate the financial results of the PRC Operating Entities in our

consolidated financial statements;

we could face material and adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax
authorities determine that our Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Operating Entities were not made on an arm's length basis and adjust our
income and expenses for PRC tax purposes by requiring a transfer pricing

adjustment;

the nominee shareholders of the PRC Operating Entities may have
potential conflicts of interest with us, which may materially and adversely

affect our business and financial position; and

if any of the PRC Operating Entities become subject to winding up or
liquidation proceedings, we may lose the ability to use and enjoy certain

important assets held by the PRC Operating Entities.

Please refer to the section “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Our Corporate

Structure” on pages 85 to 93 of the Prospectus for further details regarding such

risks.
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The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual

Arrangements and our compliance with the contractual arrangements, including:

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government
authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and

discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the

contractual arrangements at least once a year; and

3. the Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional
advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation of
the contractual arrangements, review the legal compliance of Hangzhou
Enniu, Hangzhou Jiahao and the PRC Operating Entities to deal with

specific issues or matters arising from the contractual arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waivers from the Stock Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements |
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules as some of the Nominee Shareholders | of Hangzhou Enniu
are connected persons of the Company. The highest applicable percentage
ratios (other than the profits ratio) under the Listing Rules in respect of
the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements | are
expected to be more than 5%. As such, the transactions will be subject to the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval

requirements under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are of the
view that the Contractual Arrangements | and the transactions contemplated
thereunder are fundamental to the legal structure and business operations of
the Group, that such transactions have been and will be entered into in ordinary
and usual course of business, are on normal commercial terms or better and the
terms are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Group and Shareholders

as a whole.
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The Directors also believe that our structure, whereby the financial results of
Hangzhou Enniu are consolidated into our financial statements as if they were
the Company's wholly owned subsidiaries, and all the economic benefits of their
business flows to the Group, places the Group in a special position in relation
to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding that the
transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements | technically
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter [4A of the
Listing Rules, the Directors consider that it would be unduly burdensome and
impracticable, and would add unnecessary administrative costs to the Company,
for all the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements to
be subject to strict compliance with the requirements set out under Chapter
[4A of the Listing Rules, including, among other things, the announcement and

approval of independent Shareholders.

In addition, given the Contractual Arrangements | were entered into prior
to the listing and are disclosed in the Prospectus, and potential investors of
the Company has participated in the IPO on the basis of such disclosure,
the Directors consider that compliance with the announcement and the
independent Shareholders' approval requirements in respect thereof
immediately after listing would add unnecessary administrative costs to the

Company.

In view of the abovementioned reasons, we have applied to the Stock Exchange
for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance
with (i) the announcement, circular and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules in respect of the
transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements | pursuant
to Rule [4A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of setting an annual
cap for the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements | under Rule
[4A53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of limiting the term of
the Contractual Arrangements | to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of
the Listing Rules, for so long as Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange subject

however to the following conditions:

(@  no change to the Contractual Arrangements | without independent non-

executive Directors’ approval;

(b) no change to the Structured Contract | without independent

Shareholders’ approval;
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(d)

(®

the Contractual Arrangements | shall continue to enable the Group to

receive the economic benefits derived by the PRC Operating Entities |;

on the basis that the Contractual Arrangements | provide an acceptable
framework for the relationship between the Company and its subsidiaries
in which the Company has direct shareholding, on the one hand, and
the PRC Operating Entities |, on the other hand, that framework
may be renewed and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing
arrangements or in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign-owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch company) engaging
in the same business as that of the Group which the Group might wish
to establish when justified by business expediency, without obtaining
the approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same terms and

conditions as the existing Contractual Arrangements |; and

the Group will disclose details relating to the Contractual Arrangements |

on an on-going basis.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive Directors and the Auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual

Arrangements and confirmed that:

@

(b)

C)

the transactions carried out for the year ended 31 December 2019 had
been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the

Contractual Arrangements;

no dividends or other distributions had been made by the PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of its equity interests which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group;

no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group and the PRC Operating Entities for the year ended
31 December 2019; and

the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, are on normal commercial terms
and are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Group and the

Shareholders as a whole.

©)

(d)

(e)
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The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 had received the approval of the Board, had been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements, and that no dividends or other distributions had been declared by
the PRC Operating Entities to the holders of its equity interests which were not

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Save and except for the interests of controlling Shareholders in the Company,
its subsidiaries and the PRC Operating Entities, the controlling Shareholders
and Directors confirmed that during the year, they did not have any interest in
a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, that would require

disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total issued Shares was at all
times held by the public during the year and up to the date of this report. The
Company has maintained a sufficient public float in compliance with Rule 8.08 of

the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION FOR HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Company's securities.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 74 to 94 of this

report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 4 April 2020, Shenzhen Tiantu Xingshen Tianshi Venture Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership)*, Hangzhou Yunzhuo Phase Il Investment
Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership)*, Ningbo Meishan Bonded
Port Zone Ceran Investment Management Partnership Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* and Hangzhou Yigilaidian Investment Partnership Enterprise
(Limited Partnership)* (collectively, the “Subscribers”), Hangzhou Lanye
Network Technology Co., Ltd* (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company) (the “Target Company”), the then existing shareholders of the
Target Company, Mr. Sun and Hangzhou Zhenniu entered into an investment
agreement, pursuant to which the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to
invest and the Target Company conditionally agreed to issue additional registered
capital of RMB2,633,742 at a total consideration of RMB40,000,000 in cash, of
which RMB2,633,742 as additional registered capital of the Target Company
and RMB37,366,258 as additional capital reserve of the Target Company (the
“Investments”). The equity interest of the Group in the Target Company will
be diluted from approximately 94.30% to approximately 78.59% upon the
completion, and therefore the Investments constitute a deemed disposal of the
Group's equity interest in the Target Company under Rule 14.29 of the Listing
Rules. For further details of the Investments, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 14 April 2020.

For details of other important events the Group which have occurred since
the end of the year ended 3| December 2019, please refer to Note 40 to the

consolidated financial information as set out in this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution
for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the
Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the AGM. Since the date
of which the Shares were initially listed on the Stock Exchange, the Company has

not changed its auditor.

By order of the Board
51 Credit Card Inc.
Sun Haitao

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

30 March 2020

*  For identification purposes only
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate governance
in order to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. In addition, the Group is also committed to

continuously improving its corporate governance practices.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company had applied and complied
with all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as contained in Appendix |4 to the Listing Rules, with exceptions set out

as follows:
Code Provision A.l.1 (Four Regular Board Meetings)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board held three regular meetings
instead of four as required by code provision A.l.1 of the CG Code. The Board
considers that the three meetings were sufficient to deal with the matters of the
Company. Apart from the Board meetings, consent of Directors on certain issues

was also sought through circulating resolutions in writing.
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Corporate Governance Report

Code Provision A.2.1 (Separation of the Roles of Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer)

Mr Sun acts as the chairman, an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of the Company. While this will constitute a deviation from code
provision A2.l of the CG Code, the Board believes that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board
requires approval by at least a majority of the Directors and that the Board
comprises three independent non-executive Directors out of seven Directors,
which is more than the Listing Rules requirement of one-third, and the Board
believes there is sufficient check and balance in the Board; (ii) Mr. Sun and the
other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties as
Directors, which require, among other things, that he/she acts for the benefit
and in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions for the
Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues relating to the operations of the
Company. Moreover, the overall strategic and other key business, financial and
operational policies of the Group are made collectively after thorough discussion
at both the Board and senior management levels. The Board will continue to
review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of the Group in
order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman and chief executive

officer of the Company is necessary.

Going forward, while Mr. Sun as the founder will continue to play a crucial
role in steering the development and operations of the Group as a whole,
the Company will present the key decisions for the approval by the Board in
accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules, the Articles and the

laws of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands.

Code Provision E.I.2 (Chairman’s Attendance at Annual General Meeting)

Mr: Sun, the chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the AGM held in 2019
due to unexpected business engagements. Mr. Zhao Ke, an executive Director
and the chief financial officer of the Company, took the chair of that AGM, and
Mr.Yang Yuzhi, an executive Director and the vice-president of the Company, and
Mr. Wong Ti, an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the

Audit Committee were also present to answer questions from the Shareholders.
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THE BOARD
Board Composition

As at 31 December 2019, the Board consisted of seven Directors, including
three executive Directors, Mr. Sun Haitao (chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company), Mr. Yang Yuzhi (vice-president of the Company) and Mr. Zhao
Ke (chief financial officer of the Company); one non-executive Director, Ms.
Zou Yunli; and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Ti, Mr. Ye
Xiang and Mr. Yang Dong (resigned on 9 April 2020). The biographical details
of the Directors are set out under the section headed "“Biographical Details of

Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board with
one independent non-executive Director possessing the appropriate professional
accounting or relevant financial management expertise as required under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Board, save as
disclosed in this report, there is no financial, business or family relationship among

members of the Board or the chief executives of the Company.
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive

Director an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules and considers that all of them are independent.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Directors participate in appropriate continuous professional trainings to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. The Company Secretary circulated timely
updates and reading materials to all Directors relating to the Listing Rules, the
SFO, and relevant statutory and regulatory guidelines on obligations and duties
of a director of a listed company. During the year, the Company Secretary
has also arranged an expert briefing to all Directors and an induction training
package for the newly appointed Director. According to the records provided

by the Directors and maintained by the Company, the training received by the

Directors for the year ended 31 December 2019 is summarised as follows:

Name of Directors Directors’ duties
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Non-executive Director
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Ms. Zou Yunli Yes §
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Independent Non-executive Directors
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Mr.Wong Ti Yes B
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MrYe Xiang Yes B
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Mr. Xu Xuchu* N/A 3 F
RIBHI ST+

Mr.Yang Dong* Yes B
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Mr.Wang Zhaocheng® Yes B
FHMELE

ka Appointed on 9 April 2020.
* Appointed on 20 June 2019 and resigned on 9 April 2020.
# Resigned on 20 June 2019.
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Board and Committees Meetings

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company held three Board
meetings in total. At least fourteen days advance notice is given for all
regular Board meetings to give all Directors an opportunity to attend and to
include matters for discussion in the agenda. All Directors are provided with
meeting agenda and board papers at least three days before the meetings. The
Directors have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain further
information, and when required, seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense. Minutes of meetings are kept by the Company Secretary.
For the year ended 3| December 2019, all Directors have been provided with
monthly updates by the Company to ensure they are informed of the Group's
performance, financial position and significant business developments and to

facilitate them to discharge their duties as Directors.

For the year ended 3| December 2019, the attendance records of Directors at

Board and committees meetings are set out as follows:

EXEEeRZEEETE

ok

=3
>

HEI9F12A3I8LEFE  RARARHKBITT=ZRE
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Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HERY BRLESEHAE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors BExg EREEE REZEE FTHEEE
EEEH 28 28 28 2% BREKRE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Sun Haitao 3/3 - 2/2 212 o/1M
REREE
Mr:Yang Yuzhi 3/3 - - - I/1
BFERE
Mr. Zhao Ke 3/3 - - - I/1
T A
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Ms. Zou Yunli 3/3 2/3 - - 0/1
BEBRL
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Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HERY ERLEEEHAE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee General

Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors EEg EREEE REZEE FMEESE
ExEW ] 23 28 L BRRXE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES
MrWong Ti 3/3 3/3 - - I/1
EREE
Mr.Ye Xiang® 3/3 2/2 2/2 212 0/1
EWraEe
Mr. Xu Xuchu® N/A A58 N/A 3 N/A 38 N/A & N/A 38
RIBYISEES
Mr.Yang Dong® [/1 - 0/0 0/0 0/0
BREE®
Mr.Wang Zhaocheng® 2/2 1/ 212 2/2 0/1
IR ES
Notes: et -
(1) Details of and reason for Mr. Sun's absence from the AGM are set out under the (1)  RIuEERFERRBFRE2FBRREFNARS [F

@

©)

*

©®

section headed “Code Provision E.|.2 (Chairman’s Attendance at Annual General

Meeting)" of this report.

Appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the

audit committee on 20 June 2019.

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director; a member of each of the

nomination and remuneration committees on 9 April 2020.

Resigned as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the

nomination and remuneration committees on 9 April 2020.

Resigned on 20 June 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board held three regular meetings,

which fell short of four times as set out in code provision A.l.| of the CG Code.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Code Provision A.l.l (Four

Regular Board Meetings)” of this report.
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Responsibility of the Board and Delegation of Management Function

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the Group,
including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term strategies and
appointment and supervision of senior management to ensure that the
operation of the Group is conducted in accordance with the objectives of the

Group. Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the management.
Appointment and Election of Directors

All executive Directors and non-executive Director have entered into
service contracts with the Company for a term of three years. In addition, all
independent non-executive Directors have entered into letters of appointment
with the Company for a term of one year. In accordance with the Articles, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meeting. Any new Directors appointed by the Board either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board are subject to re-election
by the Shareholders at the next general meeting of the Company. At each annual
general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors shall retire from office. A
retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he
retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The retiring Directors, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election. There is no cumulative voting in the
Director elections. The election of each candidate is done through a separate
resolution. Details with respect to the candidates standing for election as the

Directors are set out in the AGM circular to the Shareholders.

The Board, with support of the nomination committee, is responsible for
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment of Directors and

assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. The Company has made specific enquiry
with all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Model Code for the year ended 3| December 2019.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal
actions taken against its Directors and officers. The insurance coverage will
be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the Directors and officers are

adequately protected against potential legal liabilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The main responsibilities of the audit committee include (but not limited to)
supervising the annual auditing work, assessing the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness of the audited financial statements and submitting the assessment
to the Board for consideration; proposing the engagement or change of external
auditor and supervising their performance; reviewing and evaluating the financial
supervising system and internal audit system of the Company; discussing the
internal control system with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have an effective internal control system; and reviewing
the financial information of the Company and its disclosure. The audit committee
consists of three members, of whom Mr. Wong Ti (independent non-executive
Director) is the chairman, and other members are Ms. Zou Yunli (non-executive
Director) and Mr. Ye Xiang (independent non-executive Director). Mr. Wong
Ti (independent non-executive Director) has the professional qualification, and

appropriate accounting or relevant financial management expertise.
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For the year ended 3| December 2019, the audit committee held three
meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the audit committee are
set out in pages 78 to 79 of this report. Summaries of works completed by the

audit committee during 2019 are as follows:

- reviewed the consolidated financial statements, annual results
announcement and the 2018 annual report for the year ended 3l
December 2018;

= reviewed the consolidated unaudited financial statements, interim results
announcement and the 2019 interim report for the six months ended 30
June 2019;

- reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management and internal

control systems, and internal audit function of the Group;

- made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of auditor of

the Company; and

- discussed the audit plan of the year of 2019 with the auditor before the

commencement of audit work.
Auditor’s Remuneration
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration payable in respect of
the audit and non-audit services rendered by the auditor of the Company are as

follows:

Type of services
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Accountability and Audit

All Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the accounts for
the year ended 31 December 2019 which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group. The Directors have reviewed the Group's cash
flow projections together with the underlying basis and assumptions and are of
the opinion that, taking into account the Group's available funds and forecast
cash flow from on-going businesses, the Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations and commitments
for the twelve months from the period end date of these consolidated financial
statements. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
statement of the auditor of the Company about its reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” of this report.

Remuneration Committee

The main responsibilities of the remuneration committee include (but not
limited to) reviewing and examining the remuneration policies and proposals
of Directors and senior management; reviewing the performance of Directors
and senior management in discharging their responsibilities and conducting
annual performance evaluation; making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors, non-executive Director and
senior management; and considering the remunerations paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
for other positions in the Group. The remuneration committee consists of three
members, of whom Mr. Ye Xiang (independent non-executive Director) is the
chairman, and other members are Mr. Sun Haitao (chairman, chief executive
officer of the Company and executive Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent
non-executive Director).

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration committee held
two meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the remuneration
committee are set out in pages 78 to 79 of this report. Summaries of works
completed by the remuneration committee during 2019 are as follows:

— reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management;

= reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of all Directors and senior management;

= reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package adjustments of individual executive Directors, non-executive
Director, and independent non-executive Directors; and

= considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package for Mr Yang Dong upon his appointment as an
independent non-executive Director.
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Nomination Committee

The main responsibilities of the nomination committee include (but not limited
to) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience of the members) of the Board at least once a year and making
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board in accordance with the
Company's corporate strategy; reviewing the requirements and procedures
for the appointment of Directors and senior management and providing
suggestions to the Board; identifying qualified candidates for Directors and
senior management and reviewing and making suggestions on the qualification
of the candidates for Directors and senior management; and evaluating the
independence of independent non-executive Directors. The nomination
committee consists of three members, of whom Mr. Sun Haitao (chairman, chief
executive officer of the Company and executive Director) is the chairman, and
other members are Mr.Ye Xiang (independent non-executive Director) and Mr.

Xu Xuchu (independent non-executive Director).

For the year ended 3| December 2019, the nomination committee held
two meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the nomination
committee are set out in pages 78 to 79 of this report. Summaries of works

completed by the nomination committee during 2019 are as follows:

- reviewed the structure, size and composition and diversity of the Board,

and the board diversity policy;

- reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for directorship during

the year;
- assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

S made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the

re-election of Directors; and

— considered and made recommendations to the Board on the

appointment of Mr.Yang Dong as an independent non-executive Director.
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Nomination Policy

The Group has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy").

Summary of the Nomination Folicy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member selection
process. The Nomination Policy aimed to ensure the Board maintains a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company's business. The nomination committee has been
delegated to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and

appointment of new Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy")

to achieve diversity at Board level.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

Selection of candidates for members of the Board will be based on a number
of measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service, and will take into full consideration of the Company's business
scale and specific requirements from time to time. Currently, members of the
Board have different business and professional backgrounds, and among all seven
members of the Board, one is female. The nomination committee is responsible
for supervising the implementation of this policy and reviewing it, as appropriate,

to ensure its effectiveness.

The nomination committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy this year and

was satisfied that the diversity of the Board was optimal.

TREGWME

HEHIBE
AEBECHRMELZRR ([REBE]) -
FEH BRI E

ARBEREFENBBEEEARERARE - RAK
REERREFTSERGE KRNBHZHEE LRE
FEAEERARANERFR - RLEZEGCEZIR
NER EBAEERKRESTERENAL A3E
WRAETEFBRUNATETRERRNERTSRDY
EE-EEORKRBERENIRHES-

EBEFEHEZTTIEHE

EXRCRMESENB S TR (EEEHE
ZRACBE]) BREFEERERZ T

EFEHBZTIEHEME

BEFENEZREAGUZETAEERRE
CBEETRRMER FiR XERBREER &
RoBERER B ABERBER RS ZEAR
RANEBRELTRNARTE-BREEEKE
KETAEBLREEES E2RBELUESZKED
—NAKMEEFE - REZECATEEZRHRNNT
B TEFEERREEZER UBRZBRTZ
BR

L3l
*

REZBEERAFARNEZTEREZ TEEE
THEZSERENZ T EERRERERTRE

SUEAFERAT #8209 | 8D



Corporate Governance Report
ERERHE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible for the

corporate governance duties. Such duties include but are not limited to:

- developing and reviewing the Company's policies and practices on

corporate governance and making recommendations;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

- reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and

compliance manual (if any) applicable to the employees and the Directors;

and

- reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and the

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed and performed the abovementioned

corporate governance functions.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company are not separated and exercised by different individuals but are both
taken up by Mr. Sun, an executive Director. For further details, please refer to the

section headed “Code Provision A2.1 (Separation of the Roles of Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer)” of this report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Hiu Ling (“Ms. Li") was appointed as the Company Secretary by the
Company. Ms. Li is an employee of the Group and is familiar with the affairs of
the Group. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable law, rules and
regulations, are followed. For the year ended 3| December 2019, Ms. Li took
no less than |5 hours of relevant professional training as required by the Listing

Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Effective risk management and internal control systems are crucial for achieving
the strategic goals of the Company. With the risk management and internal
control systems, the Company can ensure its law-compliant operation, which

keeps its operational risk within tolerable limits.

The Board is responsible for the comprehensive assessment of the key risks
exposed to the Company, identifying the risk level that the Company expects
and can absorb for achieving its strategic goals, determining risk strategies,
ensuring the establishment of internal control system and its effective
implementation, and monitoring the operational risk and performance indicators

in a timely manner.

The senior management is responsible for the implementation of the risk
management plans and risk strategies approved by the Board, organizing and
coordinating the implementation and daily operation of internal control system.
The senior management is also responsible for identifying and assessing the

material business risk exposed to the Company and taking measures accordingly.

The audit committee is responsible for assisting the Board to check the overall
risk profiles of the Company, conducting risk assessment and risk management,
inspecting internal control, overseeing the effective implementation of internal
control and the self-evaluation of internal control, and reviewing and monitoring

the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit.

TREGWME

DREAMWE

ARRBEEZEFTERZL ([ZELL])ARRME-
FutAAERRE ABAEESK -2BEFEY
ASRKARWENERERE UHBREFSREFR
FrAEEAER RARERYEBSET - HE20I19F
NRAIRALEFE FTLITERELTHRUNRESH
N RN oR El S =

R B 2 % PO R B 4
BERHREREERAMBEZERGH BRARQ BB

EFzMEZ -RREERANIEZ RS IERARD
AKEER BEERBRENEAIRAZNEER -

EXeRAR AN ARRMERNBRRR EE
AR SER BB R FTIE BN BE 585 HE /Y B R 7k

I - B E R B R ﬁﬁW%W??ﬁmkiﬂﬁﬂ
e 0 R B BE T A LB R AE R AE o

LERERERTEZSHEANRARKREETEME
fﬁ BN EIE RN E B BEE-
ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁf%% FEARRIEERMNERNED

%+ Nz BR EY FE ¥ 45 B o

11 o s ]D

%%é%@ﬁﬁhﬁi$ﬁ@§$“ EEaE R
o ﬂﬁaﬁﬁﬂ EIREE  BENEEE
EEANMEENBRERMABEZERTEER
ﬁ@ﬂ&%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁZ%ﬂ°

SUEAFERAT #8209 | 87



Corporate Governance Report
ERERHE

The internal control department of the Company is responsible for monitoring
the risk management and internal control systems, independently auditing the
effectiveness and completeness of the risk management and internal control
systems and ensuring the compliance of internal control. Also, the internal
control department is responsible for assessing risks independently, identifying
material risks and making suggestion for improvement, carrying out subsequent
audit on issues identified, and regularly reporting the auditing results and follow-

ups to the audit committee.

The Company has established a comprehensive risk management system to
effectively identify, assess, mitigate and monitor various risks, which enables
the Company to identify and manage its risks through continuous supervision
and auditing in a proactive and structured way. The Company has adopted the
following dynamic risk management procedures to cope with the ever-changing

risk profiles:

- all business units and functions will, from the bottom up, analyze, confirm,

manage and monitor the risks arising from the operation systematically;

= the senior management will be responsible for the overall organization,
coordination and planning of the operational risk management of the
Company, and conduct real-time monitoring on the risk management
work and internal control of all business units and functional departments,
for which the internal control department will collect and coordinate risks

and confirm and audit risk control;

= the internal control department will conduct post-inspection, audit and
monitoring on the risk management work, conduct inspection on the
Company's internal control system for defects, audit the compliance,
reasonableness and risk controllability of the principal business processes
of the Company, audit the economic responsibility of the personnel in
charge of operation, audit the effectiveness of enterprise information
system, and report relevant results to the audit committee semi-annually;

and
- the audit committee will, from the bottom up, promote the

implementation of strategies for coping with material risks by the

management.
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MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
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TERBRIEERE

A summary of the major risks and uncertainties faced by the Company is set T XF|RAA G HENTERRETHETEAZME-
out below. With the changes of our business scale and external environment, [ ZE ¥ IR E RINIBIRIBO TE &L - KA THER
the risk profile of the Company may subject to changes. The following risks and AR A] BE & B¢ A2t - A N AR R A FEE R =30 FE 5

uncertainties are not exhaustive.

The major risks faced by the Company currently include:

yee

ARARERHEERNTZRAREE:

Economic and market risks

Any significant or prolonged slowdown in the Chinese or global economy
may have an adverse impact on our business, financial position and
operation results. Facing an ever-changing market and due to the limited
operating history, the Company is subject to fierce competition in the
industry. If the Company does not compete effectively, its operation
results could be harmed. If the services provided by the Company are
insufficiently attractive to customers or fail to satisfy the demands of users,
applicants or cooperative institutions, the Company's business, financial

position and operation results will be affected.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company pays close attention to
market and industry trends, actively promotes communication with
industrial peers and regularly conducts analysis on competing products.
At the same time, the Company places emphasis on the demands
and experiences of users, constantly promotes the innovation and
development of products and technologies, expands into new areas and
makes the strategies of the Company more suitable for the market and
environment. In addition, the Company will continue to strengthen the
cooperation with excellent business partners to achieve mutual benefits

and joint development.
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2. Government policies and regulations risks

The PRC government has been improving laws and regulations on
Internet finance industry and referral services. With the gradual
implementation of regulatory policies and rules of self-regulation, if the
Company is unable to ensure that its existing practices are in compliance
with the laws, regulations and government policies relating to the industry,

the Company's business will be adversely affected.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company has set up a professional
and strong in-house team to ensure operation compliance in all aspects
such as communication with regulatory authorities, law interpretation
and internal system construction. The Company maintains close contact
with regulators to update the regulatory trends in real time and pay close
attention to the new laws and regulations in the industry, so as to conduct
self-inspection immediately and comply with regulatory requirements
comprehensively and actively responds to regulations, thus improving its

compliance management.

Credit risk

The Company relies on the proprietary credit assessment model in
assessing the creditworthiness of the borrowers and the risks associated
with loans. If the proprietary credit assessment model of the Company is
flawed, or if the Company otherwise fails or is perceived to fail to manage
the default risks of loans facilitated through its platform, the reputation
and market share of the Company would be adversely affected, which
would impact the business and operation results of the Company. If the
Company is unable to maintain relatively low delinquency rates for loans
facilitated, or its ability to collect delinquent loans is impaired, the business,
financial position and results of operation of the Company might be

adversely affected.
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To diminish the related risk, the Company has continued to improve its
credit risk management system. Based on the strengths of the Company's
mobile internet platform, the Company has continued to develop and
focus on the quality credit customers; based on big data and artificial
intelligence technology, the Company has continued to expand its
risk management data and explore and improve its variables of risk
management; through accumulated experiences and outstanding practices
of its peers, the Company has kept optimizing its risk management
model and risk management policy; through expanding and enhancing
its own after-credit management team and applying artificial intelligence
technology, the Company has continuously enhanced its asset recovery

ability.

Information system and security risks

The business and internal systems of the Company rely on highly technical
software and application. Undetected errors or significant disruption in the
[T system of the Company could restrain us from offering our products
and services, thereby reducing the attractiveness of our products and
services and resulting in a loss of borrowers or individual investors. In
addition, if the Company breached the requirements of national Internet
security, or if our platform is subject to attacks that result in unauthorised
intrusion into our users’ personal information, our services may be
perceived as insecure and unreliable, our users may curtail or stop using

our services and our business and operating results may be harmed.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company has set up an independent
and professional team dedicated to technology operation and
maintenance and information security construction. The Company
has well-established systems and control measures for technology
development, online management and information security management
and the above systems and measures have been implemented strictly.
Effective emergence plans have been made and emergence drill and
data backup are carried out regularly. In addition, the Company has
established a user management system to strengthen the access authority
management of important business systems, and conducts internal audit

and training and education on staff awareness regularly.
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EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

With the assistance of the audit committee, the Board continues to monitor
the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The relevant
procedures involve reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control and dealing with material internal control issues include (but not limited
to) meeting and communication with the management team, internal control
department, legal personnel and external auditor; and reviewing relevant work

reports and key performance indicators.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems. The
risk management and internal control systems can provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, and are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in the process of attaining
business objectives. For the year ended 3| December 2019, the internal audit
team of the Group conducted internal audit on the principal businesses of the
Group independently. The Board and audit committee reviewed and monitored

the Group's internal audit function and considered it effective.

The Board has conducted annual review of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2019 and was of the view
that the financial reporting system and the risk management and internal control

systems for the year ended 31 December 2019 were adequate and effective.

During the annual review for the year ended 3| December 2019, the Board also
assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, employee qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, the result with which the Board is satisfied. The

Board is not aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses.

As for the procedure for handling and publication of inside information as well
as its internal control, the Company was aware of its responsibility under the
SFO and has adopted relevant internal policies covering the definition and
scope of inside information, guidelines on all insiders including directors and
accountability for breaches etc. to ensure that the handling and publication of

inside information are in compliance with the SFO.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles, general meetings shall be convened on
the written requisition of any two or more members deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one member which is a recognized clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not
within twenty one days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further twenty one days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT THEIR
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication and
reasonable disclosure of information to its Shareholders. The Company delivers
interim and annual reports and publication of the interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosure of information on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two way communications with the
Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders are encouraged to put
their enquiries about the Group through the Company's email at if@u5 |.com
or by mail to the address of the Company's principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 1006, 10th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong

Kong. All enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.

The Company has in place the shareholders communication policy which sets
out the policies in relation to communication with the Shareholders. Such policy
which is published on the website of the Company shall be reviewed by the

Board on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution are encouraged
to convene an extraordinary general meeting in accordance with the section
headed "PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING" above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no significant change in the Articles for the year ended 31 December

2019. The Articles are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.u5 |.com).
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REPORTING STANDARD, PERIOD AND SCOPE

This environmental, social and governance report (the “"ESG Report”)
is prepared by the Company in compliance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide")
as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, which describes the
environmental, social and governance (the “ESG") developments of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting
Period™).

In order to centralize resources to monitor the performance more
effectively, our ESG work (ie. this ESG report) only covers the two
principal offices located at Hangzhou and Beijing and does not cover
other offices of the Group (2018: six principal offices located at Hangzhou,

Beijing, Daging, Shanghai, Fuzhou and Shenzhen).

BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANY

We were established in 2012. Our business comprises of three major
business segments including personal credit management services, credit
card technology services, and online credit facilitation and investment
services. It has various core Apps such as “51 Credit Card Manager”, 51

Renpin” and “51 Renpin Loan".

In May 2012, we launched “51 Credit Card Manager”, an App that can
smartly manage credit card bills at one touch, mainly offering personal
credit management services to credit card holders and helping the users
to manage their credit cards and household bills such as home mortgage,

automobile loans, utilities bills, etc.

Leveraging the highly-valuable user base and the personal credit data
accumulated from the credit card management platform, we have
gradually developed into a dynamic and self-reinforcing ecosystem
providing users with one-stop personal financial services covering
personal credit management services, credit card technology services, and

online credit facilitation and investment services.

RE dE8RERHRSE

C RERE - -HRNEE
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W R AR 2 NEEZERDIGH) -
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BRI R0NF £BREEAEHEER
BERREERE GLEERE RIRERY
ZREBRBE - ETEIERARER]I51A
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We have won numerous awards such as the Global Fintech Unicorn
by CB Insights, the China Leading Fintech 50 by KPMG and the China
Internet Finance Top 50 by Forbes. We are also an executive council
member of the National Internet Finance Association of China, the
executive president of Hangzhou Internet Finance Association and the

vice-president of Zhejiang Association of Internet Finance.

Honors and recognition in 2019

019FFTERNEE

KB LECB Insights 2 B2 A BB A8 8
BB A B 5L 2 BB 505 - 1@ B AP B & B
2 F505% E L IEEETE DA R IEE B E B
CRBEFHETEN MNTEHESRE
EHRTEREMIMNIEHASRBERBSR
B o

J  Topping the list of “2018 Third Party Credit Card APP” \

) BB 2018F EE =51 AEAPP B H

BNIVFEEBEB=FANBRA BN LE50%

J  Being granted the 20/9 Financial Consumers Protection and Compliance

Development Award

J  Being listed on the Hurun New Finance 50 for three consecutive years up to 2019

B20I19FEZHEBEERELESHRRE )
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In the future, adhering to the vision of “Better Credit, Better Life",
the Company will stay true to its faith and stride ahead.
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OUR ESG PHILOSOPHY AND FRAMEWORK

The Group acknowledges the significance of effective ESG initiatives
at operational level. We endeavor to provide long-term benefits to
all stakeholders by way of responsible operation, which take both
the economic factors and the social and environmental factors
into consideration during operation, so as to maintain a sustainable

development of the Company.

The direction of our ESG practices is led by the Board, so as to assess
and identify our ESG related risks and opportunities, formulate our ESG
policies, strategies, priorities and targets, allocate resources and examine
and approve ESG achievement from top to bottom, ensuring the proper
and effective operation of relevant risk management and internal control

systems, and reflecting the core value of the Company.

Our ESG management approach is designed with a focus on the key
areas which are considered to be significant to the Group. Such key areas
will be explained in the section below headed “STAKEHOLDERS AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT".

Externally, while striving to provide quality services to users, we also
wish to make use of our operation model under our ESG framework to
create a harmonious and cooperative atmosphere for our diverse users
(including the borrowers and the lenders), thus effectively contributing to

the stability and healthy development of the online lending business.

RR #HERELGHRSE
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Internally, the Company has established written guidelines under our ESG
framework and would provide training and strive to invest resources
for improvements in the pursuit of sustainable development. With such
guidelines, effective policies and training, the Company could integrate
from top to bottom the ESG concept into all aspects of our operation
and thus effectively enhance the ESG awareness of the employees,
enabling each member of the Group to take part in our sustainable
development. This ensures that our ESG framework could fully cover the

key aspects of our business.

Driven by strong and effective ESG risk management, the Company is
devoted to continuously improving the performance in these key areas
through our ESG framework, so as to create sustainable values in the long

run.

STAKEHOLDERS AND MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Stakeholders

We strive to make constructive communication with stakeholders
(including Shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, regulatory
authorities and the public) to adopt their views and protect their
interests, so as to set long-term development direction and maintain close

engagement with them.

Set out below are the stakeholder groups, their expectations and the

typical communication channels with the Company:

Stakeholders Expectations

EW%'$“ﬂWBGEW KR TEEMIE

Bt REBINUREAREEROTRA
BPRAEERERASRKNET L - BBAX
ARIMIEEF - ARMBER MRS 8 £
i TS ESGIE S AR M EMTE T E - 1 W
BRHMIEE B THESGHRH  FAEENE
BREMEXAIUFELHTRNDESE EHR
THMMESGIERGEEEZEMBEERMER
MRBR S -

ERTmA HESCRRERES T KA T H
RiBBESGIERIF BN EZSEHBINEN
HMERBERPAEFENEE-

B EEEEMFTM
&

ﬁﬁ“ﬁ@ﬂ@%@%ﬁ@“ﬁm%\ﬁﬁﬁ
RS (BERR BF BT #ER EE#
BAIMEAR)NERRRERSER  UEE
ARFNRIBERTT R R EEERET A
&

%@%@m~ﬁ%%ﬁ&ﬁ%@$ﬂﬁmﬁ
BBEREMTHR:

i

Communication channels

BBERE

K& e
Government and regulatory authorities ¢ Compliance in operation
BT R EEE BRARRE

» Safe and controllable online lending platform
REAENBBERETS

»  Compliance with the laws and regulations

ETIERRER
* Internal inspection

MEbRE

*  Workplace occupational health and safety

THEESABEFERZ 2
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*  Public information such as financial
reports, announcements and circulars
HmE RE BEFQRAES

*  Direct communication by email and
phone
BEBBEE
3

* Interview with government officials
HERFEE®

B AE AT
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Stakeholders Expectations Communication channels
& HE BBRE
Users Protection of users’ interests *  Risk warning documents

mE A S 2R BRIER Y
Capital and transaction safety of the platform ¢ Collection of complaints and
FTREZRXGLE feedback
User experience of the platform AR AN 88 B U R
TamAFER *  Public information such as financial
Fair transaction and reasonable charges reports, announcements and circulars
RIRGREBEE MBRE AE BEFRHER
Protection of users’ information, the timeliness ¢ Maintaining good communication
and authenticity of information with customers
RPEERE EERKEMEEX HEPRERIFHER
Preferential policies for marketing »  Satisfaction survey
LIHEEBR mEERAE
Fair valuation standard
ATHERE

Employees Training and career development potential *  Employee activities

BT 3|7 22 55 R 2 ETES
Wages and benefits »  Employee bulletin board
TE®RH BT
Working environment *  Periodic employee memorandum
TERE 8T F HeT ik
Health and safety +  Collecting employee's views through
fEREL 2 direct communication

Career development and opportunities

S B RN B

BERBRWREETIER

* Employee trainings, seminars and
briefings
BT e & A 3

»  Cultural activities such as team
building
B RS A
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Expectations

HE

Communication channels

BBRE

Shareholders and investors

PRRFIRE &

Local communities, non-governmental
organizations, potential
customers and the public
it R
BGEEFPMOR

Media
e

*  Return on investment
RE O

* Information disclosure and transparency
EEBBEABEAE

*  Protection of Shareholders’ interests
TREE IR R M a5

» Timely and accurate disclosure of relevant
information
T B & A M AR R AR RS R

* Improving corporate governance
REREEBKTE

»  Compliance with the laws and regulations
T IERRER

*  Anti-corruption

KRB 18

* Employment opportunities
EHRE

»  Ecological environment
FREIRIE

*  Community development
it m R

* Devotion to public welfare
BRGBEENRE

*  Charitable donation
HERBE

*  Reduction of pollutant discharge
BB R BE

* Reduction of wastes

B BEY)

* Information transparency
ERERE
*  Good media relations

RIFHIREE R R
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*  Public information such as financial
reports, announcements and circulars
FBHRE A5 BESFAREER

* Road show/teleconference/meeting
with investors/Shareholders

R EE RFEITHEEE
Em/@

* Inquiry by phone/email
B/ BTBHEN

*  On-site visit by investors
KREERSHM

* Information disclosure on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company
B3P R AN R AL {E B ER

*  Charitable activities
BELY

*  Community investment and service
HERIE ER

. Stakeholders' engagement
FhHE2H

» Environmental protection activities

RREE

* Information disclosure on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company

B P R AR R A8 b5 R ER

»  Public information such as financial

reports, announcements and circulars
WgmE  AEMBRERRER
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Materiality assessment

The Company has collected many potential issues relating to ESG after
the abovementioned communications with its stakeholders during the
Reporting Period. We have grouped these issues into areas set out
in the ESG Reporting Guide, and further collected more internal and
external information about the Group in relation to these issues from
the employees and external consultants. VWe assessed the impact of these
issues on the Group and their materiality, and obtained the following

materiality assessment results after careful analysis:

B HEREARS

EEMF

ARBREREARELS LR BERHHENER
ZHESCE M EERE - RME
BRESGHREHSITHSHBIEES -
VHE-THELEBEMNE T MIINEBEHRE
LR AEBBOAIMER B ZFESGHEAE
HAREMPERTHESENE AKFAD
TRSDNATEZEFGAE

)_d‘;lt
i
v
ki)

i =
b=1T3
=+ 1

Issue Risk

E 1= | B
Extremely important B6. Product Responsibility Whether the proprietary credit
HEEZ B EmEE assessment is flawed or invalid;

BI. Employment
BI. B1%

BEEAMEESAREBREN:
Whether we can maintain relatively low
delinquency rates for loans facilitated;
ETERAERANERRERN
EH=:

Whether we can identify the fraud of
borrowers;
BERERERANRFETA:
Whether we can offer quality user
experience;

ETRHEIRFPER:

Whether we can protect the information
and privacy of users;
REERERPERERML:
Whether we can uphold and protect
intellectual property rights; and

REm M MRE A ERE &
Whether we can comply with the PRC

regulations on Internet security
RERETTREESZ2NER

Whether we can attract and retain
employees; and

ARSI RREBEE &
Whether labor cost will increase

SBE) KA G EIE
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Issue

A

Risk
B

Very important

FEEER

Important

B2

B2. Health and Safety
B2 EEZE

B3. Development and Training

B3. BRE KIFI

B4. Labor Standards
B4. &5 TR

BS5. Supply Chain Management
BS. HEBE IR

B7. Anti-corruption
B7. R&E)S

Al. Emissions

Al R

A2. Use of Resources

A2 BIR(ER

A3.The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 RIBERKAER

B8. Community Investment

B8 HLE&KE
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Whether we can provide a safe working
environment and protect employees from
occupational hazards
ETARHZ2THERERERER
I

Whether we can provide training on

skilled and quality employees

REDEIIRMRAREBERE

Whether we can comply with the PRC

regulations on labor
REBETPESE AR

Our operations depend on the
performance of the Internet infrastructure
and fixed telecommunications networks in
the PRC

EBRE B RN B AR R R X
[EE EEMBE IR

Whether we can prevent bribery,

extortion, fraud and money laundering

BERRTLLIRER - B3R MRF ROAER

Whether we can cope with extreme

climate changes
BE T R S SRR B

Whether we can cope with changes in
water resources, water sources and water
quality

BEBEEIKEIR KR FKE B Z(L

Whether we can cope with sea level rise

REm Y BT E LT

Whether we can understand community
demands and ensure that our business
activities take the community’s interests
into consideration
RETHHRFENEREEEED
Rt R AR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE dE@RELGHRSE

The Company keeps on improving its ESG performance to meet RRBTNENEEESGHI R A& E D
stakeholders expectations and deal with the risks faced by it. During the HEREHARRARAME SRR - REHA ],
Reporting Period, details of our practice and KPIs (as defined in the ESG MERSEAEENEFEBLAREERE

ENTHEASMBEREBER (E&ERESGRE
#a)  EATHEZBEEFSTIENRA -

Reporting Guide) which are considered to be relevant to the Group's
operation and of great importance are described in the following four

subject areas.

Our Environment

EFHRE
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

We are principally engaged in the operation of online credit card
management platform. In view of our online nature, the operation has
minimal direct impact on the environment. Nevertheless, we acknowledge
the importance of environmental protection and have adopted certain
measures which are regularly implemented in our business operations, to

manage emissions and wastes.
Aspect Al: Emissions
Air and greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions

Set out below are different types of air emissions of the Group during the

Reporting Period:

- BANERE

BPMETEXBEBRELR LERRERY
B EREMWRLEBUE  LEEHY
RENBERZEFTE/ ) -BEML  HAIRED
RERENERMN  WRIR T — L6 ELHE
BERMNAREFERBETEHRT NER
HEAIEE D o

AITTTH : BER

ZER R ERBEHAY

MEHA AEENTRBRO T RERY
MEWT:

2019 2018
20195 20184
Total Total
Direct air emissions Source of emissions emissions Density" emissions Density”
(k) (k) (kg) (kg)

HEEZRERD BERUR BYEHE BmEO  HAYNE BEO

(F2) (F2%) (T7) (T7)
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") Corporate motor vehicles 18.48 9.24 2398 4.00
RAELY NRIER
Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") Corporate motor vehicles 0.03 0.02 0.04 0.01
mELw NRIER
Particulate Matter (“PM") Corporate motor vehicles 1.72 0.86 223 0.37
R ATE
Note: Hiat -
() Density is the average of the total emissions divided by the number of () TBEREFRERAEENNSHANBENTYH

principal offices.
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Set out below is the approximate carbon dioxide equivalent (“CO2e")"
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of different types of GHG emissions during the Reporting Period:

RE dE8RERHRSE

REHATRBLEZREIHRY N — A
P EE ([COze ) OAEIT :

2019 2018
2019% 20185
Total Total
GHG emissions Source of emissions emissions Density® emissions Density®
(tonne (tonne (tonne (tonne
COze) CO:ze) COze) COz)
BEREHERY PERORIR MEBE BE? @BHNE BE®
(WiCOe)  (BiCOz)  (MiCOx)  (BiCO:)
Scope |: Direct emissions Corporate motor vehicles 5.47 2.73 6.57 [.10
HE  EERERY NS
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions  Electricity purchased 1,538.18 769.09 1,804.12 300.69
FE2 : geIREZ BERY) FRREE
Scope 3: Other indirect emissions Business trips by air; disposal of
paper waste and sewage 49.08 24.54 9545 1591
#E3 A EEHERY BSAE R E  BEAR K
KRR
Total GHG emissions 1,592.73 796.36 1,906.14 317.70
BRZERBHEBRY
Notes: Bit
(n COze (tonne) is a measurement unit based on the greenhouse effect N —EitirE s (BE) 2 —(EUEME S bt FELE
caused by one tonne of carbon dioxide, and used to measure and HEENEAEBNEEEMN  LEERLEERT
compare the greenhouse effect caused by emissions of different GHGs AR EREaE —E/bik (CO)) » BiE (CHs) »
such as carbon dioxide (COz), methane (CH4) and nitrous oxide (N20). GALTR (N2O ) ZEBE BT 4 198 = U FE o
) Density is the average of the total emissions divided by the number of @) FERBHNERNTER NSNS EN T

principal offices.

A
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Minimal direct air emissions are generated from the use of corporate
motor vehicles, which mainly comprise of NOx, SOx and PM generated

from the petrol combustion in the engines of the vehicles.

During the Reporting Period, the direct GHG emissions under scope |
amount to 547 tonnes of COse (2018: 6.57 tonnes of COze) in total,

which were generated from the use of corporate motor vehicles.

During the Reporting Period, the energy indirect emissions under scope
2 represent the major source of the GHG emissions, which amounted
to 1,538.18 tonnes of COze (2018: 1,804.12 tonnes of COze) in total
and are the GHG indirectly generated from the electricity purchased. As
the Group does not have any generators, all the electricity consumed is

sourced from the national power grid in relevant regions.

During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions under scope 3
approximate 49.08 tonnes of COze (2018: 95.45 tonnes of COze) in total,

which were mainly indirectly generated from the business trips by air

As evidenced by the data above, the measures to mitigate emissions
adopted by us were effective. These measures are regularly implemented
over the course of our operations. For details, please refer to the section

below headed “Environmental protection policies and measures”.

Waste

The waste generated by us is non-hazardous in nature, minimal in quantity

and mainly from day-to-day work activities, such as disposal of food

packaging, beverage cans and bottles, paper waste and office stationery.

Therefore, we did not collect the relevant data for the Reporting Period,

considering that neither the analysis result of such data nor its impact is

significant as compared with other KPls.

Nevertheless, we have implemented various waste-reduction measures to
further reduce the waste generated from day-to-day work activities, which
are detailed in the section below headed “Environmental protection

policies and measures’.
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BFFEE N -ARAEELSEREK BERENE
NBRHEELSBEREHRM

REHAN BEBRERBAT NE L R49.08H

CO2e (20185 : 9545MBCOe ) * T BN =
TOMERM B I ABEES-
WA EEHERT R B AATERENE) — R BIR  BE R

BT AR BEEEEREERMANKEL BRE
PEHHITH FEFAEAEELR [RERE
BER ] —f e

ZY

BAEENEYEERE2EBE HEGL £ E
HERIEEHEL NEERARBE KA
M BEEEMMHAZEXE Al BME
MEAAAL R B W ERESRE  BARE Mo
BESAL  SLBENIMERRTEY
TEE-

BEML BMERT SERDEDOERE A

E—SPRIBBIEZDELENENE EE
BEEES [ RBEREBCRLER] — 8P A
I AE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect A2: Use of Energy and Resources

During the Reporting Period, electricity was our major energy source,
which was used for general lighting at office, IT rooms and office
equipment such as air-conditioners, projectors, computer screens and
printers. During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption was
approximately 1,831 MWh (2018: 2,101MWh), representing an average
monthly consumption of approximately 152,542 kWh (2018: 175,095
kWh).

During the Reporting Period, general domestic water was our major
use of resource, which was used for office facilities such as washrooms
and tea rooms, and we have no issue in sourcing water. The waste water
generated has been properly discharged through the designated pipe
connected finally to the main pipe of the urban central sewage disposal
network. During the Reporting Period, we consumed approximately
12,217 tonnes of water (2018: 23,467 tonnes), representing an average
monthly consumption of approximately 1,018 tonnes (2018: 1,955

tonnes).

For details of our energy and water use efficiency initiatives, please refer
to the section below headed “Environmental protection policies and

measures’.

Aspect A3:The Environment and Natural Resources

Given that the Group is principally engaged in the operation of online
credit card management platform, apart from the use of resources
described in the previous section, the Group's operation does not
consume other natural resources, nor does it have any significant impact
on the environment. As a result, the Group has very limited direct
impact on the natural environment. However, the Group is committed to
environment protection and has adopted a series of measures to mitigate

the negative impact on the environment and resources.

RR #HERELGHRSE

A2J5TH - REIRFE R EF

REPAN - BHRRMEANEERLR - AR
@E\—:n%~%%u&%ﬁi&%mf
MR R BERREMITHRE - RE
HIRBBEEREL B 1,83 1K BB (20184 : 2,101
KER) FHEABEEEHAI525402F B
(20184 : 175,095 F FLB§ ) »

REAR —WEFAKREMNEAHNZIEZE
B AREFERZKEERARRNE BT
A A AR B 3 AR 35 30 (T (0] R RE o 22 AR WO B K
HEBETEESINZERE ZEBHAER
EEERMARSKERNEEE - REHA -
BAMEA T 12217087k (20184 : 23,4670 ) » F
HFREFES AI1,0180F (20184 : | 9550F) o

R B MR EAKRGEFEEREZEER
fﬁitaﬁ% ERRNIER] —EHAFANA-

AL H:BRERRXARER

BT e ERN AASENTIEE
BEHETELRLERARERTA HELR
ATEHRRERFENEMER R AHR
BEREREAZE Al REBHBEARRER
MERFZEFEER - AMAKBERINIERER
R WERER T — R 5 605 5 2R D IR IF A
BERMNEBEEZE
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Environmental protection policies and measures

As a leading comprehensive financial service company in the credit lending
sector; we are committed to do the best in fulfilling our environmental
responsibility and ensure the Company’s compliance with relevant laws as

follows:

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Air Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Pollution from Environmental Noise

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy Conservation

To achieve our ESG strategy, we regularly implement the following

measures in the course of our business operations:

0) reminder slogans are posted on the bulletin boards and public
spaces in the Company to enhance the environmental awareness

among the employees and visitors;

(i) contracts are entered into with green plants service firms to
regularly maintain and replace the green plants placed at the
designated office areas, for the purpose of raising greening

awareness and beautify the environment; and

(i) regularly update our policies and procedures, and incorporate the
environmental protection rules and standards into our daily work
procedures. For the purpose of saving energy and resources and
reducing GHG emission, we encourage the employees to adopt

the following practices in their work:

(1) turn off electronic equipment not in use or when they leave

the office to save energy;

(2)  save water at washroom and tea room and reduce the use

of tissue paper;
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advocate green travel and use of carpooling for business

trips;

conduct regular check on our electrical equipment to ensure

safety and operational efficiency;

make centralized purchase of office supplies for various
departments and shorten the distance for delivery, so as
to reduce the indirect emission from transportation and

packing materials;

reuse or recycle packaging materials such as plastics, paper

bags and cartons;

mitigate excessive printing by going paperless as much as
possible and maximize the use of electronic equipment for

internal meeting and internal communication; and

reuse printing paper where the requirements on personal

data protection are met.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had not received any

complaints from any person or the relevant authorities (2018: Nil), and

had not paid or became liable to any penalties arising from any violation

of relevant environmental laws or regulations (2018: Nil).
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OUR EMPLOYEE

Aspect Bl: Employment

Our workforce represents the most important asset to our operation,
which is also the cornerstone on which we could build up our sustainable
development. As such, it is of our top priority to ensure that all employees

could have a fair, harmonious, comfortable and safe working environment.

We also respect and protect the rights of our employees. Our employees
enjoy the protection under laws and the rights under the rules and
regulations of the Company, which allows our employees to have
equal opportunities in employment, redesignations, salary adjustment,
promotion and training despite of their race, nationality and gender
The Company never tolerates any discriminatory acts in the working
environment. We ensure the Company's compliance with relevant laws as

follows:

Labor Law of the People's Republic of China

Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China

Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China

Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China

Law of the People's Republic of China on the Protection of Disabled

Persons

The Company has put in place its Human Resource Policy and Employee
Manual, which comprised the key systems and procedures relating
to employee management such as code of conduct, remuneration
management system, working hours, holiday management, disciplinary
measures, attendance and promotion, recruitment and dismissal
management, internal redesignations, information safety, equal
opportunities and other employee benefits, and rules and regulations
relating to occupational health, and has explicitly communicated such
guidelines to all employees. The Company is committed to protecting the
legal interests of employees and keeps on improving employee benefit,

thus enhancing the employee loyalty.
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Talent recruitment and promotion

We have the ability to attract, retain and motivate high-caliber talents. We
attract and maintain a stable team of core employees through providing a
comfortable working environment, comparable remuneration package and
appropriate employee assessment scheme as well as provision of training
and personal development opportunities according to the position and

development potential of the employees.

Through implementing the recruitment and promotion policies, we could
ensure that decisions on recruitment, remuneration and promotion
are made based on the level of capacity of the employees, while taking
his/her working experience, qualifications and professional skills into

consideration.

We strive to ensure that our employees are reasonably remunerated
and properly motivated. The remuneration management is conducted
based on the position ranking system, which enables the position-
based ranking and rank-based salary. Our remuneration system mainly
comprises several aspects: determining remuneration at the time of
hire, adjusting remuneration at the time of promotion/demotion and
conducting performance-based remuneration adjustment. In order to
broaden the career development for the employees in the Company,
the Company adopts a mode of “double ladder” development route,
namely professional rank route (route P) and managerial rank route
(route M). Rank promotion is made after taking various factors such
as work performance, professional skills, experience and behavior into
consideration. According to the comprehensive assessment scheme, rank
promotion assessment is made available to each employee annually. Such
assessment activities aim to motivate our employees to achieve their
career objectives and reach their full potential, thus resulting a win-win

situation.

Our service quality relies on the quality of our employees which in turn
needs on-going update of their professional knowledge and skills. The
employee training and development is discussed in the section below

headed “Aspect B3: Development and Training'".
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Working hours

The Company adopts a flexitime practice while staying in compliance with
the standard 8-hour working system. Our employees may, in accordance
with the relevant regulations, enjoy statutory holidays, annual leave,
marriage leave, sick leave, bereavement leave, maternity and parental leave,
and leave in lieu, thus strictly ensuring the rights of our employees to take

rest and holiday.
Our workforce
As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company had 605 employees

(2018: 1,140). Set out below is the information of our employees by

gender, age and rank:

GENDER % Bl
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HFiav258) 7

HEREHHPR A2 AIHEH058E T (2018
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2018 57%

43%

2019

[ Male B

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of the Company's female
employees increased by 3% as compared to 2018, representing the result
of the Company's devotion to achieving a balance in the percentage of

male and female employees.
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AGE GROUP F#: &

2018

<1%

2019

B <> M 2529 | 30-39

The employees of the Company are mainly 25 to 39 years old. During the
Reporting Period, there were 547 employees aged 25 to 39, accounting
for 90% of the total number of our employees (number of employees
aged 25 to 39 in 2018: 1,030, accounting for 90%).
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As at the end of the Reporting Period, a total of 565 employees left office. HEREMEAR LA ETHB - EL8

Set out below is the information of these employees by gender and age: TR MBI HA/\ R

Category Number

2Rl A B %

By gender

B

Male 351 62

Bt

Female 214 38

gk

Total 565 100

et

By age

FRoH

<25 34 6

25-29 303 54

30-39 222 39

40-49 5 |

>49 I |

Total 565 100

#at

Aspect B2: Health and Safety B2AH: REEZE

We are committed to providing our employees with a comfortable BB AREIRHE—EFERZEHIIER

and safe working environment, maintaining and improving the employee R OHERAENREETHEN IRRARQA

welfare and ensuring that the Company's compliance with relevant laws as ﬁ./:l\ B ERNT :

follows:

Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China (REARAMBESEE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of (REARLMBEBERETEE)
Occupational Diseases

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Production Safety (PEARAMBZ 24 EE)

Fire Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China CRE ARLMEDERED

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Response to Emergencies (PEARATMBEIZEEEHEHE)
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Workplace safety

We have put in place the Circular on Relevant Regulations on Work
Environment Management and the Office Management Regulation, and
engaged third-party professional institution to test and measure the
environmental pollutants, which confirmed that during the Reporting
Period, the methanal, benzene and total volatile organic compounds
(TVOCQ) in the samples tested at each of our workplaces comply with the
requirements of GB50325-2010 regarding Class Il civil building indicators.

Set out below are certain day-to-day measures taken by the Company

relating to workplace safety:

(1) each department head provides daily safety education to the
department staff for the purpose of a satisfactory safety practice at

offices;

(2)  safety warnings are posted at various areas and the safety exits are

kept clear;

(3)  security personnel patrol the workplaces every day to avoid any

unauthorized entries;

(4)  regular inspection and maintenance are arranged for the
workplaces, building structures, fire control equipment and facilities

to avoid any potential safety hazards therein;

(5)  strict control is exercised over smoking to prohibit any smoking in

the undesignated smoking areas at the workplaces;

(6)  purchase ergonomic chairs for the employees, which could protect

their spine and lumbar; and

(7)  massage chairs and fitness equipment are placed in the recreational

areas for the employees.
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Welfare

Apart from the employment welfare stipulated in laws, we also provide
additional welfare to the employees for the purpose to improve

employee protection and maintain their physical and mental health.

In respect of employee protection, we provide the group commercial
supplementary medical, traffic accident and accident injury insurances for
current employees, which could help to cover the salary loss and medical
expenditure of the employees in case of illness or work injury. In addition,
the Company also provides annual physical check-up for all current
employees who, at the end of the previous year, had been in service in the

Company for not less than half a year.

As to employee's physical and mental health, the Company offers meal
subsidy and travel subsidy for overtime work, arranges team travel activity
every year and organizes various sports and recreational activities on a

regular basis.

Benefit Package

During the Reporting Period, we had 2 people (2018: 4) suffered from
work injury with 23 lost work days in total (2018: 52 days), while we had

no serious work-related injuries or fatalities (2018: Nil).

Aspect B3: Development and Training

We believe that the on-going update of employee'’s vocational knowledge
and skills is critical to the business development of the Company. To
this end, the Company has formulated relevant policies to provide
the employees with systematic training and professional development
and ensure that the employees could receive training appropriate to
their respective circumstances, so as to meet the need for continuous

professional training by their respective vocations.
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Set out below is the information of the types of training courses

completed during the Reporting Period:

Training course

RE dE8RERHRSE

RERAN TR IFIN T ERLET

Training hours

(Hour)
- EIE R
(418)
Induction training and professional skills 1,224
AR I F A RE
Communication skills and emotional management 480
BB RBREER
Updates on the knowledge of laws and regulations and compliance management 80
ERERANBENLAERERE
Total training hours 1,784

AR D B

Set out below is the information of the average training hours completed

per employee by gender and rank during the Reporting Period:

HEAR - ZUERMEIRANSIHNETEES
TERIEIIN FERRNT

Category Average training hours
(Hour)

bl F1g3E I R
(/\F)

By gender

BB

Male 3.54

Sk

Female 2.26

gk

By rank

BETHE

Management 12.33

B2

Mid-level employee 6.32

FERT

Junior employee 2.56

MEET

The Company always sticks to diversified business layout to provide
our employees with the enriching and challenging work. We have built a
comprehensive training system and a dual-track development mechanism

for guiding the employees to discover more possibilities.
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Aspect B4: Labor Standards

The Company places much importance on and strictly complies with all
applicable national laws and local regulations in the places of operation,
and prohibits any unethical business practices. The Company has put in
place stringent recruitment procedures which require all candidates to
give, prior to being hired, their identity documents such as identity card
for screening by our administration and human resources department, so
as to avoid the recruitment of any child labor and other illegal labor. We
prohibit any forms of forced labor to ensure the employees could work

on a voluntary and lawful basis.

Our work schedule represents the reasonable arrangement for the
employees in the context of the Labor Law of the People's Republic of
China, which ensures they could have sufficient rest and a proper work-
life balance and provide excellent service. The Company may arrange
overtime work as the circumstance demands, and provide compensation
in accordance with the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China
and other relevant labor laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, the Company had no material non-compliance incidents such as

employment of child and forced labor; etc (2018: Nil).
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OUR SERVICE

With our credit card management platform serving as the foundation
and entry point, we develop and operate a dynamic and self-reinforcing
ecosystem addressing a spectrum of our users’ financial needs. We enable
our users to easily compare and apply for credit cards that suit their
profile and credit needs through our credit card technology services,
which in turn help them to build their credit record and achieve better
credit management. The credit card management platform actively
monitors users’ credit card bills and other personal financial liabilities and
issue periodic repayment reminders. With this information, our credit
active users may consider taking extra credits to satisfy their ongoing
financial needs and obtain appropriate online loans through our online
platform. For users who look for investment opportunities, we provide
them with convenient and diversified investment opportunities. Leveraging
the large amount of credit data accumulated on our platform to assess
risk and determine the creditworthiness of borrowers, our platform
provides borrowers who not served by traditional financial institutions

with access to credit facilitation services.

Our three main services (namely personal credit management services,
credit card technology services, and online credit facilitation and
investment services) gradually established a coherent and dynamic

financial services ecosystem in a synergistic manner.

Such ecosystem is further strengthened by other participants, including
banks offering convenient credit card application process through our
platform and other online consumer finance marketplaces enabling our
users to further explore and compare a variety of loan products. We
have developed in-depth cooperation with several credit card issuing
banks in the areas of data application, credit analytics and risk profiling.
Leveraging the highly valuable mobile traffic on our platform, data analytics
capabilities and robust risk management capabilities, our platform keeps
attracting third-party business partners such as credit card issuing banks
and external online consumer finance platforms, boosting the continuous

growth of our business.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

We have a total of 107 suppliers, primarily comprising providers for
internet services, custody services, collection services, IT services and
payment services. Our business and internal systems rely on highly
technical software and processes. Failures in our IT system could prevent
us from offering our services. Therefore, ensuring the stable operation and
continuous development of our IT system is of vital importance to us. In
order to avoid the decline in the overall performance and the increase
in the breakdowns of our IT system caused by imperfect outsourcing
service safeguard systems, we have established the Management Measures
on Technology Service Outsourcing which stipulates the procedures for
selecting service providers for outsourcing [T system technologies to
ensure that our suppliers are up to standard. Before including a supplier
into our list, we make a series of examination including examining its
certifications, qualifications and reputation to ensure they could provide us
with reliable and trustworthy products or services in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC such as anti-money laundering
and antiterrorist laws and regulations. Suppliers are selected in accordance
with the relevant management measures of the Company on the principle
of openness, impartialness and fairness and by way of appropriate

methods such as bidding.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

As online consumer finance and micro credit business gain increasing
popularity and continue to evolve, and the increasing users' demand for
our products, there have been changes in the regulations of the PRC
government on online lending industry. In view of such new developments,
we also continuously enhance the technological and risk management
capability of the Company, so as to ensure the products and services we

provided could meet the demands of various stakeholders.
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Credit risk control

We utilize our proprietary comprehensive credit analytics system, iCredit,
to enhance our risk management capabilities, which is built based on
massive data collected through our credit management platform and
various other channels, and strengthened by our sophisticated artificial
intelligence and advanced machine learning techniques. The iCredit system
categorizes borrowers into different credit ratings according to their
risk profiles, based on which our risk pricing system assigns them with

appropriate interest rates and credit limits.

In order to prevent the product responsibility risk, the Company
established a comprehensive risk management system, which covers risk
management framework, risk assessment procedure and risk warning

management.

The risk management framework consists of our various functional
models, including financial model analysis, strategy analysis, anti-fraud
analysis, credit control, collection control and data analysis etc, to jointly

manage day-to-day risk management.

We adopt a four-step approach to make risk assessment on the

borrowers for our platform:

(1) Identity verification: we make multidimensional verification on the
basic information provided by our borrowers, including making
detailed and meticulous due diligence investigation through the
Internet, phone and other effective channels, so as to verify the

identity of the customers;

(2)  Fraud risk assessment: for customers with different types of fraud
risk, we employ a number of core technologies such as big-data
anti-fraud technology, deep learning and relationship analysis by
knowledge mapping to make real-time monitoring and dynamic

warning against any possible fraud, thus minimizing the risk of fraud;
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(3)  Credit risk assessment: we employ the credit risk assessment
system to assess customers’ repayment ability, repayment
willingness and credit risk level, and hence formulate corresponding

credit risk strategies and rules; and

(4)  Manual review: experienced examining staff examines customers’
information such as photos on identity cards and customers’
occupation, education and use of loan by telephone, to have a

comprehensive assessment of the risk profile of the customer.

In addition to the above measures and adoption of legal actions including
turning to courts for assistance, we also have started connecting to
Baihang Credit system in April 2019 to strictly prevent promise-breaking,
aiming to establish a sound credit environment covering the whole society

via exchange of information with other players in the industry.

Regulatory compliance

In addition, we are subject to strict regulation by China Banking and
Insurance Regulatory Commission and National Internet Finance
Association of China. During the Reporting Period, we devoted a large
amount of time and resources to ensure our compliance with laws,
regulations, rules and policies relating to our industry. Details of these
laws and regulations are set out in the following paragraphs. We had no

significant violations during the Reporting Period (2018: Nil).

Apart from the annual audit for our annual report, we also have specific
audits on the key aspects such as clients' fund management, information
disclosure and operational compliance, for the purpose of a sound risk

control and compliance with regulatory requirements.
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Marketing and promotional activities management

In order to reinforce management over our marketing and promotional
activities, we have been in strict compliance with various standards

regarding advertisement release and the following regulations:

Law of the People's Republic of China against Unfair Competition

Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of China

Interim Measures for Administration of Internet Advertising

Guidance from the General Office of the State Council on Strengthening
Protection of Interests of Financial Consumers

Self-discipline Convention on Marketing and Promotion Activities of

Internet Financial Players (Trial)

We have also established the Control System for Marketing and
Promotional Activities to strengthen our product responsibility, details of

which are as below:

(1) the business department shall conduct marketing and promotional
activities in relation to only such business which is legally permitted
to operate, and shall ensure the content of such marketing and
promotion complied with the scope and content of the business

which is legally permitted to operate;

(2)  prior to conducting any marketing and promotional activities, the
business department shall evaluate the relationship between such
activities and the potential contractual obligations, work out proper
plans and well address the engagement between such activities and
the related work, so as to protect the legal interests of Internet

finance consumers;

(3)  the risks relating to financial products and services shall be
highlighted in the course of marketing and promotional activities,
so as to remind the Internet finance consumers to exercise caution

before making a transaction; and
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(4)  in case of any marketing and promotional activity in cooperation
with a third party, contract shall be entered into in accordance with
laws to specify the responsibilities of both parties in respect of
design, production, advertising and other related work. In addition,
we shall urge and supervise the third party to fufill its contractual
obligations, and ensure an effective implementation of the
requirements of laws and regulations as well as the control system

for marketing and promotional activities.

We have established relevant policies in relation to product responsibility
management, to ensure there would be no absolute wording in the
product description, and avoid the use of terms such as “guarantee
of principal”, “risk-free” and “guarantee of return”, or similar terms
which would mislead the Internet finance consumers. In addition, we
are prohibited to make any false or misleading statement regarding the
income and security of the investment products, make any guarantee
commitments on the future performance, income or any related
circumstances of any products or services with an expected investment
return, or directly or indirectly make a commitment on guaranteed
principals and interests, including either through our official website,

mobile application or in any relevant contracts or agreements.

Handling of complaints

We take all complaints and suggestions seriously and take them as an
important process to continuously improve our service quality. We have
developed the Relevant System in Relation to the Handling of Customer
Complaints, and established a sound customer service system for
complaints in accordance with relevant policies to receive all customer
complaints, advice and suggestions from public sentiment, regulatory
authorities, procuratorial organs and media organizations. The Company
has in place a dedicated department to collect these information and
arrange, based on the subject of complaints, appropriate personnel to
follow up and deal with the complaints, which would ultimately provide
our users with a satisfactory reply. We fully cooperate with any regulatory

authority on any investigation, with a view to providing the best services.
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During the Reporting Period, a total of approximately 2,000 complaints
from the customers through external channels have been handled by us
in relation to repayment of loans. Based on the feedback on the issues
arising from call in arrears, we had terminated the cooperation with all
the outsourcing collection companies in July 2019. Instead, our future
collection will be undertaken by the in-house collection leaders who will
supervise the collection staff to complete collection, which would in our

opinion make our collection more effectively under strict supervision.

Protection of intellectual property rights

In recent years, the nation has attached great importance to intellectual
property protection and supported enterprises to maintain their own
legal interests. In addition to our own efforts, we also made active
utilization of the relevant national policies and regulations to protect the
intellectual property of our brands, thus to continually improve our brand
competitiveness which in turn promised better services for users. The

regulations that we are subject to are as follows:

Copyright Law of the People's Republic of China
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China
Tort Liability Law of the People’s Republic of China
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China

Trademarks are important intangible assets of the Company. For
enhancing trademark management, we have established the Trademark
Management Measures, and the Intellectual Property Management Policy
(Publications and Patents) to regulate the naming, application and use of
trademarks, and protect the trademark proprietary rights of the Company
and third parties. After the application of registration of trademark, the
trademarks would be centrally managed by the legal department, which
would serve as the basis for the use of the trademarks. Without the
written authorization of the Company, any third party is not permitted to
use such trademarks on any similar products of the Company or within
the scope of such registration. With regard to the third parties authorized
by the Company to use our registered trademarks, the relevant business
departments and the legal department would exercise necessary

supervision and regularly review their use of such trademarks.
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In addition to the duties on trademark supervision performed by the
legal department, the employees will also notify, through the relevant
communication channels and mechanisms, to the legal department any
infringement on the trademarks by any third parties. The infringement,
once verified through investigation, would be submitted to the decision-
making department, the legal department may decide whether to report
the infringement to the administration agency for industry and commerce
or initiate a lawsuit with the People’'s Court, for the purpose to stop and

crack down such trademark infringement behavior.

During the Reporting Period, the People’s Court of Xihu District,
Hangzhou dispatched a paper of judgment in favor of the Company,
which meant that substantial progress has been realized by the Company
in penalizing serious tort of our trademarks. According to the paper
of judgment, the Company was clearly defined as the obligee of the
registered trademark. The defendant, who used a trademark similar to
the registered trademark of 51 Credit Card Manager with respect to
the same products and similar services without permission from the
obligee, has constituted tort of trademark and shall assume the civil
liability of stopping infringement and making compensation for loss by
laws. The court came to a verdict that the defendant shall stop the
infringement, delete or block the information as far as the infringed
products concerned, and indemnify the Company with any economic loss
arising therefrom taking into account a series of factors, including, among
others, the popularity of the registered trademark, the operation scope
and degree of subjective fault of the defendant, and the nature and time
of the relevant infringement. This judgment marked that our actions could

effectively prevent third parties infringing our intellectual property rights.
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Protection of personal information

Our credit management tool, 5| Credit Card Manager App, is the
cornerstone for the development of our financial services ecosystem.
We obtain the credit card statements of our users primarily from the
users’ email accounts based on the users authorization or from the
users' import, which forms the basis for us to provide customers with our
credit management service. The day-to-day operation of our credit card
management platform involves processing and storing a large amount of
personal information of users, which includes not only the basic personal
information (including mobile phone number or account information of
social media) provided to us at the time of registering an account, but
also the credit card transaction records from different banks, consumption
history records for different occasions, and repayment data through
users’ life cycles. Our brand reputation is critical to our business and
competitiveness. Therefore, it is a critical task for us to ensure the security
of personal information on our platforms and comply with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to Internet security and privacy protection as

well as the following regulations.

Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China

Measures for the Security Review of Network Products and Services
(Trial)

Several Provisions on Regulating the Market Order of Internet
Information Services

Decision on Strengthening Network Information Protection by the
Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress

Provisions on Protection of Personal Information of Telecommunication
and Internet Users

Ninth Amendment to the Criminal Law of the People's Republic of China

Information Technology — Personal Information Security Specification

Interpretations of the Supreme People’s Court and the Supreme People’s
Procuratorate on Several Issues Concerning the Application of Law
in the Handling of Criminal Cases Involving Infringement of Citizens'

Personal Information
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In order to keep alert for attacks from external or internal sources, we

have implemented the Information Security Management System, setting

out a series of the following measures to protect privacy and information

security, which are detailed as below:

("

@

©)

*)

&)

©)

encryption and privacy protection. Our platform employs
sophisticated Internet technology to effect multiple authentication
and encryption for data such as all the account information and
capital information, which shall not be disclosed without the
consent of our customers and the authorizations by relevant laws

and regulations;

security technology support. We apply multi-layer firewall to
monitor the data security and our intrusion detection system
would make real-time feedback to prevent any intrusion and hence

ensure the information security;

bank custody. We have set up a custody account with a third-
party bank to hold our users’ fund, which could better protect the

security of capital information;

at the time of hire, the human resource department have arranged
the signing of formal labor contract and confidentiality agreement
with the employee. The confidentiality agreement clearly provides
for, among others, the content subject to confidentiality and the

validity term of the agreement;

where a third party stay in the Company's office for business
purpose, the relevant department of the Company shall be
responsible for the management of such third party and arrange
due registration with the administrative department. Such third
party shall also sign a confidentiality agreement with the Company
to inform the third party of the prohibited behaviors. We have
strict regulations on the activities, limits of authority, use of
resources of such third party at the Company. Without our prior
approval, no confidential information shall be disclosed to any
person. It is strictly prohibited to copy, spread or disclose, without
our authorization, any confidential information such as customer’s

identity and transaction records; and

We have entered into an agreement with a reputable third-
party insurance provider in relation to the provision of insurance

covering the risk of personal information leakage.
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In addition, we plan to enhance our technology and risk management
infrastructure, in particular for big data analysis and artificial intelligence
technology with the focus on anti-fraud, deep learning in image analysis,
behavior analysis, relationship mapping, automatic user interaction and
intelligent user operation. Specifically, investment in artificial intelligence

and big data will enable us, among others, to:

0) further develop facial recognition and voice recognition system to

minimize the risks of fraud;

(i) increase the level of automation and precision of our interactive
Help Center that serves as a starting point for any question our

users may have; and

(i) optimize our risk pricing capabilities in data processing and analysis.

Aspect B7:Anti-corruption

In compliance with the Anti-money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, we have developed the Management System on
Anti-corruption and Anti-terrorist Financing to monitor and report
any suspected money laundering activities. The anti-money laundering

procedures in the system include:

(i)  taking multiple identity verification measures against loan applicant;

(i) performing comprehensive analysis to assess the money-laundering

risks of the loan applicant;

(i) identifying and monitoring suspicious transactions;

(iv) reporting the identified suspicious transactions to relevant

government authorities; and

(v)  providing ongoing anti-money laundering training to our employees.

As part of our risk management procedures, we also ensure that loans
from us and from our financing partners are deposited to the correct
borrowers' bank accounts and use our custodian bank as intermediaries

for settlement and payment to further reduce money laundering risks.
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Bribery and any form of corruption behavior is forbidden by the AARBREEBMEMERXBEBRIT A -BME
Company. We have prepared procedures to comply with the following BIERFARFEEBEEERAT

regulations:

Provisional Rules on Prohibition of Business Bribery Behavior (ARBEIIBAXBRITROEITRE)
Anti-Monopoly Law of the People’s Republic of China (R ARAME K EEX)

Law of the People’s Republic of China against Unfair Competition (FEARAMBRTEEBEFE)

Information Collection
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We have established the Anti-corruption Administration Rules which BMEFTUARBRERHE)  ©FEHT
defined corruption behavior, adopted rewards to encourage reporting and ROBTRRRBHSEBER JHEBEREE R
listed approaches for reporting, We would take severe disciplinary action MEmEAERRBRITANETEFERENE

against any staff conducting corruption.

4
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During the Reporting Period, the Company immediately established a
special working team in charge of crime crackdown once it received the
notice from the Financial Office of Xihu District concerning the action of
“Special Fight against Criminal Offence (172 FIHS) ", pursuant
to which, particular staff were in place to take charge of the relevant
contact, follow-up and dissemination. Besides, the Company has integrated
contents of crime crackdown with particular slogans and dispatched
the same to all employees in a straightforward manner. Roll-up banners
for propaganda were placed in conspicuous positions, such as doors
of elevators and reception of the Company. In addition to carrying out
special propaganda classes within the Company, we also relied on suitable
meetings to realize routine dissemination, showing our strong adherence
to the spirits under the Notice from the State Council of the CPC
Central Committee Relating to Special Fight Against Criminal Offence. We
targeted to become the enterprise model within the jurisdiction in which
the Company operates business in propagating “Special Fight against
Criminal Offence (& BB HIEF ) " through four innovation,
namely “one special office, one letter; one fixed point, one quarter of hour
(—FH —HE —EH —AE)"

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no corruption or bribery
cases (2018: Nil).
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OUR COMMUNITY

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Company endeavors to shoulder more social responsibility by active

participation in public welfare activities, so as to give positive feedback to

the users and society for their caring and supports. Meanwhile, we also

wish increasing number of enterprises and users would be influenced by

our efforts to care about children in remote rural area, promising healthy

and happy life for them.

Set out below are some of our contributions and programmes in respect

of community investment during the Reporting Period:

(M

3

“Home of 5| Credit Card — Rainbow Dream Programme (5115
ARZR HU285E) "

aiming to give a warm home to the kids. The Company will provide

is our public welfare programme

long-term financial assistance to the kids in the rural area at

Hualansi Primary School, Dangbao Village, Dingxi, Gansu;

Sponsored the project named “Basketball Court, Not a Dream
Any More ([EIZ&IRE) "

made capital contribution to build a synthetic resin based basketball

Under the project, the Company

court with relatively high degree of safety for Hualansi Primary
School. On 24 May 2019, the Company, together with the school,
checked and accepted the court and announced the official run of

operation of the court;

Launched the programme of “to Build a Dream Basketball Court
for Children (B FMIIT#E—EZ8EIKI5) " on the platform
of the 51 Credit Card Manager App so as to arouse considerable
concern from the public for physical health of children in poverty. A
total of more than 400,000 thumbs-up have been received by this

programme;
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In order to popularize the first-aid knowledge and skill of the public
and improve their capability in first-aid treatment, “Home of 51
Credit Card (51{fEFARZZ )" made special donation to the
Zhejiang University Education Foundation in the PRC to support
the No.| Affiliated Hospital of Zhejiang University School of
Medicine to popularize first-aid knowledge and training of the first-
aid skill; and

Public welfare programme titled “Home of 51 Credit Card (5115
F2ZZ) " will be further promoted to encourage more people
to participate in such event, with a view to helping these kids in the

rural area in the long run.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the Shareholders of 51 Credit Card Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of 51 Credit Card Inc. (the “Company”)

and its subsidiaries (the “Group) set out on pages 146 to 315, which comprise:

. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a

summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
("ISAs™). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

0 Recognition of revenue and quality assurance fund payable
. Measurement of expected credit losses
. Impairment assessments of goodwill and payment license

R 7RG

ERNER
BPIERE CBRFR LR ETEZ M
FRAITAENEECEARE [ 12260 Tk

BHRRAENEE]| HBOPELE— M-
HAEE RMMECHNEREEERRLES S
ﬁ1FﬁE’\J%ﬁ}ET,\%Em°
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RIBFEE ST B XIRTIEESEME (FESETAD
BT AD (L/\Tﬁﬁﬁﬂfoﬁ D - RMBINE
S8 YERTEBRTATHEMERBRAE
HREZER
MREZFEERERMANZEXALE ReYAHR

AR ENERRAEENEH - ELEERER
MEZEEGAVBRAREAE RRETEREN-
KM TSN ELEHEEERBNER -
BRMESZTPHNOEREZEEHMOT
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VR 7% Gl e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
HREREE

Recognition of revenue and quality assurance fund payable (“QAF payable”)

bERENEERES ((ENEEREE])BR

Refer to Notes 5 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

BB E M IEIRERMI 523 °

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had recognized revenue
of credit facilitation and service fee of approximately RMBI,173 million. As at
31 December 2019, the amount of QAF payable amounted to approximately
RMBI,559 million.

HEWOFNAJBLFE BE£EEEAEERS MREEBRZHA
REINTZEABIIL-R0I9F AR ENEERBFEHNESEADAR

B 559 BT e

The total proceeds from borrowers generally includes the services fees for
facilitating loan origination and for providing ongoing monthly services, and
contribution to the QAF payable, which provides a protection mechanism to
investors of the loans.

TERERARE N EFE—R BB ERERBERRERFFES AREOR
%E*M&ﬂ%ﬁgﬁ% SEMHE BERIBEAZFEANRES
RERIEHEH

Of the total proceeds from borrowers, the portion meeting the definition of
a financial guarantee is first allocated to the QAF payable at fair value, and the
remaining amount is then allocated to credit facilitation and service fee. The initial
recognition of QAF payable is based on the determination of the estimated loss
rate of the financial guarantee.
T RA MBI B AR IR - ﬁé%ﬁﬁﬁm%%%ﬁé%? RABED

Miﬁﬁﬁgﬁmi HRBANDEZEERE RIREE - VIa R ER
HERBEHKHMBEROMGHERE &E°
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AEELRER(F)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNELNMEERREERSR

Our procedures in relation to recognition of revenue and
QAF payable included:

Bl R ENEERESHAETHNRETEHE:

We made enquires of management and inspected supporting
documents to evaluate the key controls in respect of
recognition of revenue and QAF payable, including the
management’s review and approval process over the
determination of estimated loss rate of the financial
guarantee.
BfmERBELERLRER
mRENESRESHRNBEEBITS
EMBEROGHERERNFLIER -

SRAX M AR B R
BREEEEYHE

For the key underlying systems used for processing
transactions in relation to credit facilitation and service
fee as well as QAF payable, we tested the general control
environment and automated controls of the information
technology system. We tested the interface between the
operating and financial systems.
HRARREEEERAMRBEEUARENEERE
SR ZNBERAEAS  HAAH T E MRS
BRBIESIRERABES - BMARTELRUB R
mZERE -



Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
HARERER

Recognition of revenue and quality assurance fund payable (Cont'd)

hEkENMEERESERRE (&)

We identified the recognition of revenue and QAF payable as a key audit matter
taking in consideration i) the recognition of revenue and QAF payable relies on
the Group's self-developed IT systems which process a large volume of revenue
transactions and transfer the operational data for financial reporting process;
and ii) the magnitude of the credit facilitation and service fee and QAF payable
recognized; and iii) the significant judgements applied by management in the
recognition of revenue and QAF payable.
EZRIHERUBERENEERBSRBESEEB THBENEARER
B ZEGREAENREZ UK ELHBEERARMBRERE:
KiEEREMRBEARBNEERFENEEN  Nii)E R EBEE
Rz FENEERBEREMNERHEG RASEREMENEER
EERI SARERER

R 7RG

HEEREE (&

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEANERNMEEBRERER

We tested, on a sample basis, revenue transactions by
checking the cash receipts/payments, reviewing the underlying
contracts, identifying the key terms and attributes from the
contracts, obtaining the underlying data from the system used
in the transaction processes, and recalculating the revenue
amount.

HMBBRERLBR R EEHBER BES
[l VBRI R B MR B R IR P P ) R 4t &
DHEMABERENRAEBRAESHE MEAMR T HER
5o

We obtained the management's calculation of the estimated
loss rate and tested, on a sample basis, the major underlying
data. And we further tested the mathematical accuracy of the
estimated loss rate.

BPVER T EREH A BRAERNFE TR T
TEMNHEMEE - RIVE—FRE T AEHERXNEMN
HERENE o

Based on the procedures performed, we found the Group's
recognition of revenue and QAF payable was supported by
the available evidence.

HENGETOREF  RAIRSEREMKE RENEER
BRI SERNOR-
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
HARERER
Measurement of expected credit losses

AHERBELFE

Refer to Notes 4.1.2, 12(b), 23, 24, and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BRI BREM 412 12(b) 23 - 2426

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's gross loans to customers and contract
assets amounted to approximately RMB302 million and approximately
RMBI,173 million, and a loss allowance of approximately RMB28| million and
approximately RMB462 million was recognized respectively; the exposure
of quality assurance fund receivable (“QAF receivable”) amounting to
approximately RMBI,333 million and the loss allowance of QAF receivable
and QAF payable amounting to approximately RMB766 million and RMBI,559
million respectively was recognized.

RN19FNAIE EEBEFERNBBERANEEDFIROARE
3NBEETEMARELITEEL ERBREBNAREBIBETR
MARBiBE T FREERES ([BREERES])IRABOA
R¥I3BEET MEKEERZCRENEERECHABEEED
AHARBTe6BEBTLRARKISSOBET
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AEELRER(F)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEANERNMEEBRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to measurement of ECL
for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF receivable and
payable included:

BMAFFPER AWEE BRUEERESNENE
ERESNARERABRFELETNEREFEHE:

We understood, evaluated and tested the internal controls
related to ECL for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF
receivable and payable, primarily including the review and
approval of portfolio segmentation, parameters estimation,
criteria for determining whether or not there is a SICR, or
credit-impaired and economic indicators for forward-looking
scenarios;

BHATHR FERAATRERFER ANEE BY
EERBcRENEERIZSNEHERBEEHED
WEES TERRUREEAAS DM EX
EAFAEERRBREZIZMN B BHERENRERA
WE 34 P A B OB R IR ) B B S L -

We reviewed the modelling methodologies for ECL
measurement, and assessed the reasonableness, based on
our industry knowledge with reference to the industry
benchmarks, of the portfolio segmentation and key
parameters estimation. We examined the calculation for
model measurement on a sample basis, to test whether
or not the measurement models reflect the modelling
methodologies documented by the management.

BT T HRBERBRAEBNEENE WERITHE
HBRSETEREFGTREASHAN RARSH
EFFRA IR - AT THEAAEFTE - SO
AAERUEERR T ERERENERTTE-

We selected sample of loans, to assess the appropriateness
of management’s identification of SICR, defaults and credit-
impaired loans.

HIPREE S - LARH(E B 3% 8 3511 A R b R 1
MBHOREEEERARENEROEE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
HARERER

Measurement of expected credit losses (Cont'd)

AHERBERFE (F)

The Group assesses whether the credit risk of loans to customers, contract
assets, QAF receivable and payable have increased significantly since their
initial recognition, and apply an impairment model to calculate their expected
credit losses (“ECL"). In assessing the ECL, management use the risk parameter
modelling approach that incorporates various parameters, including the portfolio
segmentation, parameters estimation, criteria for determining whether or not
there is a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR"), or credit-impaired and
economic indicators for forward-looking scenarios.

BEEEFNGEPER AWEE RREAERESMNENEERESH
ERRRBVTHERARZEAREN WRAREEEFEERBAE
RER ([FEMERBX]) -AEFFHBEHERERR EEEEARRZ
BEEE ZNEEERR2H BRREMAGAD 2HMAH EER
BHREERRARBEEN ([ERRABREZEN])HEHEERRERN
SERRARBED L EERE -

We identified the measurement of ECL as a key audit matter due to i) the
magnitude of the loss allowance for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF
receivable and payable; and i) complex calculation models, significant judgement
and assumptions used by management in determining the ECL.
BPSEMERBANGEREREREXZEE RER)TFER A
WEE RUEERESNENEERECHNBREBFHENERIL: Ki)
EREAEERMERBAREMANEMITERL  EAHEH LRKRR-

R 7RG

AEELER (&)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEANERNMEEBRERER
For forward-looking measurement, we reviewed the
management’s model analysis of their selection of economic
indicators, economic scenarios and weightings employed,
assessed the reasonableness of the prediction of economic
indicators and reviewed sensitivity analysis of economic
indicators performed by management.
%“TE/\\ﬁTEJ‘%"\EEJr% CRABHTEEEMELEESR K
EiR s REENRIUOMN  HE T REREFRANSE
\E Wigsl 7 EEEHRBEREOGURIED T -

We examined major data inputs to the ECL models
on selected samples, including historical data and data
at the measurement date, to assess their accuracy and

completeness.

BfRETREEANAREABRRAEENTIREER
WA BRESLBERNGERRNEER UFHEE

MR TR -

Based on the procedures performed, in the context of the
inherent uncertainties associated with measurement of ECL
for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF receivable and
payable, we found the models, key parameters, significant
judgement and assumptions adopted by management were
supported by the available evidence.

ERNETHRER ZEAEBFPENR GHNEE EK
FERESMENEERBCNBHRERBANEHR
THEW BMRAKERERANEL BRE28-&
R R BRRCEAFEE T

SEAFERAT #2009 | 139



Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
HARERER

Impairment assessments of goodwill and payment license

BB R A BB E RT

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

B2 A M B RERMEIS -

As at 3| December 2019, the carrying amounts of goodwill and license
amounted to approximately RMB482 million and approximately RMB499 million,
respectively, before the provision of impairment.

R2019F 128318 BEREROEEED B ANARE2EE T RL
AREE49B BT (REHERERE) -

Management is required to perform impairment assessment of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite life (e.g. payment license) annually or more
frequently if there is an impairment indicator.
EREEASFHERFHNBERELEE (NN MER) ETRE
At R IFERET R AR B E SR ME TR ER o
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HREREREE (&

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEANERNMEEBRERER
Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessments of

goodwill and payment license included:

BPAEE RN R EFGETHRERF B

We understood and tested management's process and
controls in respect of the impairment assessments, including
the review of the implementation of impairment standards
and the determination of the key assumptions.

BT ERIWRE T EEERBREN NIRRT RIES
BREEHMEZERNERERL N ERERVETE -

We identified the cash-generating unit (“CGU") and
evaluating the composition of the assets and liabilities
allocated to the CGU and assessing the fair value less cost of
disposal (“"FVLCD") and value-in-use calculation methodology
used by management.

HPBNReELEM ([(ReEELBM]) RFHEIE
ERSELAFUNBEERAGBNEXIED RFHEAR
BEREERN ([AABERLDEXRA) ARERE
PrE e EREEFETA-

We assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of
the external valuation experts engaged by management.
BAFFHETEEBZRENIMIEEERNER R
BB
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
HARERER

Impairment assessments of goodwill and payment license (Cont'd)

BERXNERBBERE (&)

Management engaged external valuation experts to assist in performing
impairment assessments of goodwill and payment license. The recoverable
amounts of goodwill and payment license have been determined based on
the higher amount of the FVLCD and value-in-use calculation. Preparation
of the value-in-use calculation supported by cash flow projections. Significant
judgements and estimations were involved in the calculation which include
use of key assumptions including annual revenue growth rate, operating profit
margin and pre-tax discount rate etc. Based on the impairment test performed,
an impairment charge of approximately RMB 146 million was recognized against
goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2019.
EEEREINAEERIGETEE R ERARER G - AE K
XN RESEERBEACEBEBRDEXANEFAEEHENR
SEEE -RUCAEEAECARSRETAN A EF P RERAE
MG BRERFRERSIERE EXF B REVAMA XS
R -RIBFAETZRER S DREE2019F2A3IALFEZHE
BRAEXHHARKI46BET-

We identified the impairment assessments of goodwill and payment license as a
key audit matter due to the magnitude of the carrying amounts of goodwill and
payment license and the complexity of the assessments which involve significant
judgements and assumptions.

BB LM EROBENGRESERESZEE  DTHRBEER
XAERMREESEA R EOERNE B RERHE R KRXK-

R 7RG

AEELER (&)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEANERNMEEBRERER

We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation models,
the assumption of pre-tax discount rate and the accuracy of
mathematical calculation applied in the valuation models with
the involvement of our internal valuation experts.
BAEARSBHBEERN2E T HEGEERNEE T
BRECATRE IR Z B R R EERE P EANEMRER
TEHENE o

We assessed the key assumptions adopted (including
annual revenue growth rates and operating profit margin)
by agreeing to the approved financial forecast models, and
comparing actual results for the year against the prior year's
forecast taking into consideration of market trends and our
industry knowledge.

BfEBRERRR (BRFERSEREMEENE
R)EXFUOMBIRARLZE IR EREEE
—EFRNFAETLE  LBREEMSBE MEMNT
EME AR AR BR AR

Based on the procedures performed, we found the models
and assumptions adopted by management in the impairment
assessments were supported by the available evidence.
ERBFIETHRER  RAR/EEBERERNETR
AR RRRCEABEBERN S HF-
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B BT S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED

WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

R 7RG
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B BT S

AUDI
CON

TOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or; if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have

compli

ed with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably

be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's

report is Jack Li.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2020

R 7RG
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive (Loss)/Income

GEERE (B1R) WEX

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BEWOFNAIBLEE

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 ARBTR AR¥ETTT
Credit facilitation and service fee EE&RA LIRIEE 5 1,173,082 2,055,531
Referral service fee NHREE 289,146 203,061
Credit card technology service fee ERARBEREE 152,261 255,676
Other revenue H bWz 6 430,904 297726
Total revenue W4 e 2,045,393 2,811,994
Origination and servicing expenses 3R I AR 75 A 2 8 (870,463) (758,314)
Sales and marketing expenses HEREHEAX 8 (454,219) (618,153)
General and administrative expenses — M RATH R X 8 (291,711) (411,323)
Research and development expenses HERX 8 (194,815) (328,634)
Other losses, net H b EiEF5E 12 (1,559,481) (629.939)
Total operating expenses REMERE (3,370,689) (2,746,363)
Operating (loss)/profit K (|\E) EF (1,325,296) 65,631
Share of net loss of associates accounted D5 A ERE AR R B &
for using equity method NElEEFRE 19 (3,255) (1,302)
Fair value gain of preferred shares BEBRNAABEKE - 1,942,22 |
Fair value gain of financial liabilities BRARBHETABRY
at fair value through profit or loss TRABBEALBERZ 46,160 98,448
Finance expenses, net B 15 i SR R 13 (5,014) (24,374)
(Loss)/profit before income tax MRATEBLAT (B518), B8R (1,287,405) 2,080,624
Income tax credit FiSHiiE % 14 176,362 88,143
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(FHB) BR (1,111,043) 2,168,767
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: UTSEEEEE (F8),
A
— Owners of the Company . YNEIE X DN (1,128,878) 2,162,084
— Non-controlling interests — IR R 17,835 6,683
(1,111,043) 2,168,767
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive (Loss)/Income

meE2mE (BR) WaE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BEWOFNAIBLER

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
G ARBFR  ARETR

Other comprehensive loss Htt2HEEE
Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss & E #7738 £ 187 19 7H A
Currency translation differences ERmE x5 (5,303) (57,408)
Change in fair value attributable to change BARGARBREZHEHL

in the credit risk of preferred shares AAEEEDY - (16,990)
Change in fair value attributable to change BRARBEFABRY

in the credit risk of other financial liabilities EMeraEERRR

at fair value through profit or loss BN ANEBEEES - (517)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE2E (BB W

for the year, net of tax HRBiE (1,116,346) 2,093,852
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UTREEGEZE (BE)

attributable to: WS 4aEE:

— Owners of the Company —ARAHEEA (1,134,969) 2,083,254

— Non-controlling interests — IR 18,623 10,598

(1,116,346) 2,093,852

Basic (loss)/earnings per share SRER (FE) BA I5 (1.13) 3.84
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREE (5E) 2R I5 (1.13) 329
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss)/income should be iR e 2 mH (E18) I e 7 FE 5216 fE [T it — 0F B

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE MR AR I R

As at 3| December 2019
R2019F 128320

As at 31 December

RI12A31R
2019 2018
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
G ARBFR  ARETR
ASSETS &E
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment, net L/ E Y E S 16 179,185 236,340
Right-of-use assets EREEE |7 55,718 -
Intangible assets mEEE 18 852,850 1,029,342
Investments accounted for using equity method EAEREARNKRE 19 117,711 144,430
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BRARBEFAEBRY
TREE 20 153318 425,026
Deferred income tax assets BIEFSTHEE 2| 390,894 222,300
Term deposits TE BATER 27(c) = 6,000
Prepayments and other receivables TE A R K H e W Sk IE 22 4,464 7,531
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 1,754,140 2,070,969
Current assets REBEE
Quality assurance fund receivable FRNESERES 23 566,801 812,078
Contract assets BHEE 24 711,741 1,155,184
Trade receivables B 5 fE W IR 25 96,761 149,567
Prepayments and other receivables TB A FRIE K E Ath fE W FR B 22 386,528 322923
Loans to customers, net BEPERERE 26 20,739 185,296
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BRAREBEFGFAERN
TREE 20 - 573221
Restricted cash R IR & 27(b) 810,302 1,056,788
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 27(a) 1,283,144 1,206,172
Assets classified as held for sale DEAEBELEEE 28 110,270 -
Total current assets RBEELE 3,986,286 5,461,229
Total assets EEHE 5,740,426 7532,198
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma PRI R

As at 31 December 2019
®2019%12A328

As at 31 December

®I12A318
2019 2018
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
s ARET ARBTTT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ExKkEaRE
Equity =
Share capital N 29 79 79
Share premium IR 15 % 18 29 5,960,095 5,878,494
Shares held for employee incentive schemes FHER B R EIN ARG 29 (12) (14)
Reserves i 5 30 (15,599) (57,450)
Accumulated losses 2:tEiE (3,422,389) (2,291,794)
Non-controlling interests JEVE N = 32,184 16,941
Total equity R 2,554,358 3,546,256
Liabilities =Kt
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term borrowings REMER 32 149,046 413,102
Lease liabilities HER®E 17 35,435 =
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFMEHAE 21 127,624 150,252
Payable to trust senior tranche holders BB ERIFTE ARKE 26 - 209,500
Total non-current liabilities FRBEELRE 312,105 772,854
Current liabilities REBEE
Quality assurance fund payable ENEERES 23 1,559,495 [,524,621
Payable to platform customers ERFaEPRE 707,842 744,783
Contract liabilities aRaE 24 108,250 47514
Short-term borrowings 52 ARt K 32 19,821 189,900
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 12,012 =
Payable to trust senior tranche holders BB ERIFTE ARKIE 26 20,100 =
Trade and other payables Z 5 RE MR RIE 33 404,032 624,608
Income tax payable FERFREHE 11,347 1,133
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss BRARBEFAEBEGHTRAR 34 24,370 70,529
Liabilities directly associated with assets HAOBARIELEEERRE
classified as held for sale *ﬁ B E 28 6,694 -
Total current liabilities RBEEERE 2,873,963 3,213,088
Total liabilities =Rk 3,186,068 3,985,942
Total equity and liabilities REREEAR 5,740,426 7,532,198

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 315 were approved by
the Board of Directors on 30 March 2020 and were signed on its behalf.

Sun Haitao
7eE
Director

o=
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Zhao Ke
]
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEREEER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BEWOFNAIBLEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ADREBEA AR
Shares
held for
Share employee Non-
capital Share incentive Accumulated controlling
(Note 29) premium schemes Reserves losses Sub-total interests Total
FiFER
B2 BmErE
(K&E29)  ROEE HR 5 e RIAER Pt FERES @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TR AR¥MTR ARMTR ARETR AREBTR AR®TRT AR®TR
As at 31 December 2018 20185128318 79 5,878,494 (14) (57,450)  (2,291,794) 3,529,315 16,941 3,546,256
Changes on initial application of IFRS 16 B R IEABIR BT S
(Note 2.2) RS |65
23 (Mz22) - - - - (1,508) (1,506) (209) (1,715)
Restated balance as at | January 2019 201951 A1BH
RED &tk 79 5,878,494 (14) (57450)  (2,293300) 3,527,809 16,732 3,544,541
Comprehensive loss 2EHER
(Loss)/profit for the year FRN(EE) /5 F - - - - (1,128878)  (1,128,878) 17,835 (1,111,043)
Currency translation differences (Note 30) &% 28 2 58 (B #30) - - - (6,091) - (6,091) 788 (5,303)
Total comprehensive loss FHEERARE = = = (6,091)  (1,128878)  (I,134,969) 18,623 (1,116,346)
Transactions with owners as their BEZREENR
capacity as owners FREENSHET
MR %
Share incentive exercised (Note 29,30)  EfT{Ek 17 &2E)
(K29 +30) - 89,542 2 (82,798) - 6,746 - 6,746
Acquisition of additional equity interest Ui s — B B 2 Al A
in a subsidiary (Note 30) R (B 5230) - - - (24) - (24 (3.671) (3,695)
Share repurchase (Note 29) R EEE (FE29) - (7,941) - - - (7,941) - (7,941
Share incentive awarded under share R BB E 2B T 5t
incentive plan (Note 30) AR 17 2D
(PE30) - - - 130,553 - 130,553 - 130,553
Profit appropriations to statutory reserves BEZETEREOET
(Note 30) (B#zE30) - - - 211 @Iy - - -
Capital contribution by a non-controlling ~ — 5 Pfi B 22 A1 FEE Ak
interest of a subsidiary ERAEE - - - - - - 500 500
Total transactions with owners as their ~ BRI EUH
capacity as owners FEEHS G
ETHRSAE = 81,601 2 47942 (I 129,334 (3,171) 126,163
As at 31 December 2019 R2019F 128318 79 5,960,095 (12) (15599)  (3,422,389) 2,522,174 32,184 2,554,358
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BEWOFNAIBLER

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ADREBEA AR
Shares
held for
Share employee Non-
capital Share incentive Accumulated controlling
(Note 29) premium schemes Reserves losses Sub-total interests Total
HFEE
JRA Ed ]
(B&E29)  RUEE 1R 40 e RiER Mt FRRES #asgt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR AR®TR AR®TR

As at 31 December 2017 as previously #2017 128318

reported (%A 25]K) 20 33,134 © (214433)  (4403224)  (4584512) 2956 (4581556)
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 BRERERSRE
R B E B - - - - (50,654) (50,654) = (50,654)

Restated balance as at | January 2018 R2018FIAIBH

@B 20 33,134 O QI4433)  (4453878)  (4635.166) 295 (4632210)
Comprehensive income 2EKES
Proftt for the year E P = - - ~ 2162084 2162084 6683 2168767
Change in fair value attributable to change DRABEFABEN
in the credit risk of other financial ﬁﬁﬂ% REEER
liabilities at fair value through E 2B EH
profit or loss (Note 30) AAEEED
(Mﬁzo) - = = (517) = 517) = (517)
Change in fair value attributable to change 18 25 1% 5 F B

in the credit risk of preferred shares By ’L\/'TE -4

(Note 30) (B 3£30) - - = (16990) = (16990) = (16,990)
Currency translation differences (Note 30) & ¥ #8258 (Bt 730) - - - (61,323) - (61,323) 3915 (57,408)
Total comprehensive income 2ENGBEE - - - (78,830) 2,162,084 2,083,254 10,598 2,093,852
Transactions with owners as their HERAEENR

capacity as owners Fﬁﬁ% Eg Eﬁﬁﬁ

MR 5

Issuance of shares held for employee BITREE B RE

incentive schemes (Note 29) SRR (FiE29) 5 = O] - - - - -
Conversion of preferred shares to ordinary {8 5t ik 8544 & % i@ Ak

shares (Note 29) (Bt5k29) 46 4951374 = = = 4951420 = 4951420

Issuance of ordinary shares upon Initial Public§/'/Q’L\‘Fﬂfﬁ""i ([ERRH

Offering (“IPO") and partial exercise of B ]) REH T

over-allotment option, net of issuance #8 Be i i fﬁﬁ‘ﬁ g
costs (Note 29) FR - MBR B TR AR
(PEE29) 8 893986 - - - 893994 = 893994

Share incentive awarded under employee  {& B #2E)aT 8118 TR

incentive schemes (Note 30) # A& 17 828 (Ff3E30) = = = 204920 = 204920 = 204920
Conversion of convertible bonds transferred — % Fff B2 &) AT iR & 5

to shares of a subsidiary (Note 30) ERERG (KE30) = = = 30,893 = 30,893 2013) 28,880
Capital contribution by a non-controlling  — % Ffi B 22 A1 FEHE Ak

interest of a subsidiary L aiope - - - - - - - 5,400 5400

Total transactions with owners as their HERAEENR

capacity as owners FEENSH
ETNRZAE 59 5,845,360 5) 235813 = 6,081,227 3387 6084614
As at 31 December 2018 R20185F 128318 79 5878494 (14) (57450)  (2291,794) 3529315 16941 3,546,256

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in  _FiLAR & 1 a2 B) K FE ELRE 1T By MY i — GF (435 -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BEWOFNAIBLEE

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B =E AR®TR ARBTT
Operating activities RESEE
Cash generated from operations BEMRBHEE 210,333 135,269
Income tax paid [RERPZIEEE (9,877) (46,094)
Net cash generated from operating activities RETHMBEEENR 36 200,456 89,175
Investing activities REEE
Investments in associate accounted for using fE AR RAEARD
the equity method REFE R AR E (18,904) (51,433)
Investment in term deposits RERFRIEE = (1,000)
Disposal of term deposits & BRI K 1,000 -
Investments in ordinary shares with preferential R EEIEEED
liquidation rights TR R R E (15,167) (32,500)
Proceeds from ordinary shares with preferential M E e BN TR
liquidation rights FRfS 518 109,944 =
Dividend from ordinary shares with preferential M E e BN TR
liquidation rights b ey 16,103 11,083
Investments in disposal from ordinary share of R EHIRE AR E AR
investees R & (20,624) =
Proceeds from disposal from ordinary share of HERKRE QA ERR
investees PSSR 23,378
Investments in investment funds REREESHNRE (5,000) (20,000)
Proceeds from disposal of investment funds ﬁ EREESMGHIE = 13,677
Investments in trust RIEFEHIRE (15,000)
Investments in wealth management products REBHERmNKRE (778,015) (2,113,749)
Proceeds from disposals of wealth management i 65 38 B B G PR S RRIE
products 1,346,974 1,903,315
Interest from wealth management products BB e PSR 12,392 12,477
Interest from trust EELPTISALE 333 -
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash in forward RASMNESHZREIRE
foreign exchange contract A, () 5,108 (3,000)
Purchases of property and equipment BEMELZE (4,048) (72,331)
Purchases of intangible assets BERLEE (7,117) (10,945)
Cash transferred to held for sale EREZRELENRS (73,437)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net g AU = YNCIbE S - (260,102)
Decrease in restricted cash in acquisition of W R I 8 A R X R IR &
subsidiaries = 417,545
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing REZFBHME (FTA)
activities REFHE 577,920 (206,963)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BEWOFNAIBLER

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B aE AR¥ETT ARBTTT
Financing activities b % 5E B
Proceeds from share incentive exercised BT R P15 R IE 2,185 -
Share repurchase % 7 & (8] (7,941) =
Cash paid for acquisition of additional equity interest W & — ZR [t /8 2 5158 M%7 79
in a subsidiary BEfNBRE (3,695) =
Cash received from capital contribution of non- 16 FE 22 AR AR 3R A0 F & UER
controlling shareholders ki 500 -
Proceeds from issuance of convertible redeemable %17 AJ 2% 7] & [B1 (2 & iR
preferred shares FRi§ 538 - 33,832
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares upon IPO, B )X /A f % & %17 & @ A%
net PR1SSIRF 8 - 893994
Proceeds from borrowings B RFT 155K IE = 359,900
Repayment of borrowings EEER (473,486) (472,781)
Cash received from trust senior tranche holders REFELERFTEABBMOHR S - 281,500
Cash paid to trust senior tranche holders ER T EAELEAFEANRS (189,400) (1,022,000)
Interests paid to trust senior tranche holders B T IERELERFEANTE (8,406) (44,640)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRNEEKS (25,126) -
Redemption of Preferred Shares & 2 ST AR = (30,000)
Cash received in connection with the reorganization FtE#8E WIR & - 51,690
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing MEES (A
activities FSRE B (705,369) 51,495
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash ~ [EXEE)HIRE KIRNEFH
equivalents f;‘? L 0b-% 3,965 14,019
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents IR & % I8 & @I,
OR ) #%58 76,972 (52.274)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FUHReRBEEEFED 1,206,172 1,258,446
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRREERREEEY 1,283,144 1,206,172

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction — _F AR & Bl & 75 2 2 FEEIFE T B9 T i — F 38 -

with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

154

GENERAL INFORMATION, REORGANIZATION AND BASIS
OF PRESENTATION

General information

51 Credit Card Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 21 September 2017 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of the Company's registered office is at Second Floor,
Century Yard, Cricket Square, PO. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY'I-
['103, Cayman Islands.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“‘Stock Exchange”) since |3
July 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of one-stop personal financial services covering
personal credit management services, credit card technology
services, and online credit facilitation and investment services (the
“Listing Business”) in the People's Republic of China (“China”, or
the “PRC").

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB'000) except

when otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors (“Board”) of the
Company on 30 March 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION, REORGANIZATION AND BASIS
OF PRESENTATION (Cont'd)

1.2

History and reorganization of the Group
For year ended 31 December 2019 (the

Listing Business is mainly operated by 5 operating entities and their

“current year”), the

subsidiaries (the “PRC Operating Entities), namely, (i) Hangzhou
Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (#TN B 448 4% £ it A R
‘A a], "Enniu Network”), (i) Beijing Dingli Chuangshi Technology
Co, Ltd. (Jb & H BItE R A R A &, “Dingli Technology™), (iii)
Hangzhou Yeniu Information Technology Co., Ltd. (#T/N4-15 &
Rt B BR A 8], “Yeniu Information Technology) (formerly known
as Hangzhou Yeniu Asset Management Co,, Ltd. (fiM b4+ EEE
BARAF) ), (iv) Hangzhou Yiniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(M EFWBEE M AR A ], “Yiniu Network) and (v) Fuzhou
Enniu Network Micro Loan Co, Ltd. ( #EM 1 B 44848/ N EEE K
BBR A A, “Fuzhou Enniu Microcredit”).

On 8 January 2015, U51.Com Inc., an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands has become the
ultimate holding company of the Listing Business through a series
of contractual agreements. From February 2016 to November
2016, the then shareholders of U51.Com Inc. agreed to undergo
a restructuring pursuant to which (i) Enniu Network and other
PRC Operating Entities terminated all the relevant contractual
agreements and ceased to be subsidiaries of U5I.Com Inc,
(i) Enniu Network acquired the entire interests of other PRC
Operating Entities; and (iii) the then shareholders of U51.Com Inc.
or their affiliates invested directly in Enniu Network based on their

initial investment and relative interests in U51.Com Inc..

For the purpose of preparing for the listing of the Company's
shares on the Stock Exchange, the Group underwent a Group

reorganisation in November 2017 (the “Reorganization”).

Pursuant to a series of contractual agreements dated 23
November 2017, Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (FTN IR 415 BB B R A ], “Zhenniu Information”) is
able to effectively control, recognize and receive substantially all the
economic benefit of the business and operations of Enniu Network.
Accordingly, Enniu Network is treated as a controlled structured

entity of the Company and is consolidated by the Company.

A M AR R

I —RES EARZIEE(E)

1.2

rEBEERER

Bl Lm%i‘%IzzﬁaS%‘«N%E e
EffBAREE([PHEERR])

BNy M B A @R R MmAR AR (T[R4
Mg (hERBHAERMKXBR AR
(TRABEL) - (MM B ERRIA

AR (T4 EREM]) (AR ML
FEEEBEBRAA]) - (IUMEFBR
BRMARRE ([EFEE]) RWEMNT
BARE I NBEERBRAR ([HEMB4
NERER]) -

20155 1 A8H - R S B S MK 2 &9
E#REBREMTATUSI.Com Inc.EiBiE
—RINEHNLHR A L TEBNZLR
f& A Al B20165F2H ZE20165 11 A U5,
Com IncERMKREREETESR &

bR BRERAMPREESETRRILE
%ﬁm%é%tmﬁ$ﬁﬁwL®mmc
WHBAR: (hEFEEKBEmPEE
BEEMDIBER  B>IiHUSI. Com Inc. &
BFRYPIE SR sk E BB 2 A LA E FAUS . Com
IncHVTIRERIBEESREREER
BRBAAEE-

BEARRE DN X ETEERE
AREFR0I7FIAETEBEHA([E
#l) e

RIFEREA2017F1 1 B23BM—RAEH
i?ﬁt MR EERIRAER AR ([HRF
Bl)aema izt mRRkEE LR
%#%M%%%%&%«%E’J B ER = A
b BAREIERAR ARSI &E T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GENERAL INFORMATION, REORGANIZATION AND BASIS
OF PRESENTATION (Cont'd)

1.2

History and reorganization of the Group (Cont'd)

Pursuant to the reorganisation, the Company issued shares at
par value of US$0.000!| each to the then shareholders of Enniu
Network or their affiliates based on their relative interests in
Enniu Network. Upon completion of the Reorganisation, the
then shareholders of Enniu Network or their affiliates became
the shareholders of the Company and the Company became the
ultimate holding company of the companies now comprising the

Group.

In March 2018, the Company effected a share split. Each of
ordinary share and preferred share of the Company was
subdivided into 10 shares at a par value of US$0.00001.

Basis of presentation

Immediately prior to and after the Reorganisation as well as the
restructurings as discussed in Note 1.2, the Listing Business was
carried out by Enniu Network and its subsidiaries. Upon the
completion of the Reorganisation, the Company has become
the holding company of Enniu Network. The Company has not
involved in any other business prior to the Reorganisation and
does not meet the definition of a business. The Reorganisation is
merely a reorganisation of the Listing Business with no change in
management and the owners of the Listing Business remain the
same. Accordingly, the Group resulting from the Reorganisation
is regarded as a continuation of the Listing Business under Enniu
Network and the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a consolidated basis and is presented using the
respective carrying values of the companies now comprising the

Group for all years presented.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains/(losses)
on transactions between the Group companies are eliminated on

consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRSs. The consolidated
financial statements of the Group have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial
instruments at FVPL. The preparation of consolidated financial
statements of the Group in conformity with IFRSs requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in

Note 3 below.

During the year ended 3| December 2019, the Group reported a
net loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMBI,128,878,000. In addition, the Group’s business results and
liquidity position have been and likely will continue to be adversely

impacted by:

(I) The 1021 Event, as disclosed in Note 39 “Contingent
liabilities” to the consolidated financial statements, has had
a negative impact on the Group's business and liquidity,
including (a) a decrease in the Group's credit facilitation
volume after the incident; and (b) the associated publicity
has led to a higher risk of default for those loans facilitated

by the Group which are still outstanding; and

(2)  The release of a series of stricter regulatory notices and
guidance, together with an increase in credit risk associated
with the personal credit market, will lead to at least a
temporary decline in the Group's credit facilitation and
service fee. This is because the new regulations have led to
the Group adopting a more prudent strategy towards its
credit facilitation business and focusing on customers with
higher credit quality, as well as ceasing the facilitation of new

P2P financing.

A M AR R

2 EXRSTHEREHME

2.1

mAEE
AEBENGZEMBRERIVERMAEERD
BRI G REEN R AEENGEA Y
BRERTDRELRANEHRE  BRART
BEFABEENEMTAEMERT GH
HEBEBRPBRELENNAEENES R
BRESFRAETEARNG AR
EREEERERAEESTBREEL
HIET 0% B B 0 HI T 2= B AR R I RO 8
B 3 MR E M B HRRBERBRRM
R E A - £ T XXM 3R E -

HZE2019F12A3IBILLFE  AEE K
BARARAEBEAEGLEBEEIEOARE
1,128,878,0007T  LEAI - T3 = B AL #
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

In view of the above circumstances, management has given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient funds to fulfill its financial obligations and
continue as a going concern. Management has prepared cash flow
projections of the Group covering a period of not less than twelve

months from 31 December 2019.

The Directors have reviewed the Group's cash flow projections
together with the underlying basis and assumptions and are of the
opinion that, taking into account the Group's available funds and
forecast cash flow from on-going businesses, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations and commitments for the twelve months from
the period end date of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern

basis.
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e IR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.1  Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new standards, amendments and

interpretation of IFRSs have been adopted by the Group for

the first time for the financial year beginning | January 2019:

IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRSs

IFRIC 23

Amendments to IAS 28

Amendments to IAS |9

Leases

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Long-term Interests in Associates and

Joint Ventures

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

The adoption of these revised IFRSs except for IFRS 16

currently was irrelevant or has had no significant impact

on these consolidated financial statements. The Group

has not early adopted any other standard, amendment or

interpretation that was issued but is not yet effective.

The impact of the adoption of IFRS |6 and the new

accounting policy is disclosed in Note 2.2 below.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.1

22

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)
2.1.2  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2019 reporting periods and have not been early adopted
by the Group. These standards are not expected to have
a material impact on the entity in the current or future

reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively from | January
2019, but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting
period, as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the
standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from
the new leasing rules are therefore recognized in the opening
statement of financial position on | January 2019 as disclosed
below. The new accounting policy is disclosed in Note 2.2 (v)

below.

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognized lease liabilities in
relation to leases which had previously been classified as “operating
leases” under the principles of IAS |7 Leases. These liabilities were
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as at |
January 2019.The weighted average lessee's incremental borrowing

rate applied to the lease liabilities on | January 2019 was 5.48%.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Cont'd)

(1) Practical expedients applied

In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the

following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

. applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases

with reasonably similar characteristics;

0 relying on previous assessments on whether leases
are onerous as an alternative to performing an
impairment review — there were no onerous

contracts as at | January 2019;

. accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease
term of less than 12 months as at | January 2019 as

short-term leases;

. excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application;

and

. using hindsight in determining the lease term where
the contract contains options to extend or terminate

the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial
application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the
transition date, the Group relied on its assessment made by
applying IAS 17 and Interpretation 4 Determining whether

an Arrangement contains a Lease.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Cont'd)
2.2  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Cont'd) 22

() Measurement of lease liabilities

EXEHBEREE (&)

EHBERBRBEY ()

(i)

]\UH‘

HEE A H‘JHE

2019
RMB’000
AR¥T R
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at R20I8FI2A3I A ENKEHERE
31 December 2018 93,964
Discounted using the lessee's incremental borrowing 72 & X f& Fi B BiEk &R A M
rate at the date of initial application 1= 8 R R BAIR 87,296
(Less): short-term leases not recognized as liabilities  (J&) : AR A B ENCEHEE (5,377)
Lease liabilities recognized as at | January 2019 R209FIAIHERANEEAE 81,919
Of which are: HhaE:
Current lease liabilities MEHESE 37,949
Non-current lease liabilities ERBEEEE 43,970

(i) Measurement of right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets for property leases were
measured on a retrospective basis as if the new rules had
always been applied. There were no onerous lease contracts
that would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use

assets at the date of initial application.

The recognized right-of-use assets relate to the following

type of assets:

(i)

EHEEENTZE

MEBENHBEREEEREEN
BER FETHE RRZEE

BEERZEN - AEBNHEES
R RFEERER TEEEER

FER B Y EMEEEE

THE-

ERBNEREEERNTEESR
R AE R -

As at As at

3| December | January

2019 2019

20195 20196

12A31H DENR=!

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBTT

Properties mE 55,718 86,838
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.2  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (Cont'd)

E MR

EXEHBEREE (&)

22 EBRBRREEER(Z)

(iv)  Adjustments recognized in the consolidated statement of v)  R2019F 1 A1 AERE B LR AE
financial position on | January 2019 PR B
The change in accounting policy affected the following items R2019F 1A IH @ KEHNE
in the consolidated statement of financial position on | R ETNINGEEMBEIRAEKHIER :
January 2019:
As at  Effect of initial As at
3| December adoption of | January
Items HE 2018 IFRS 16 2019
BRIER
B B 75
20185 &R 20195
12A318 SEI6MHTE AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETIT AR®BTT ARETT
Right-of-use assets EREEE = 86,838 86,838
Deferred income tax assets BEMSTHEE 222,300 218 222518
Prepayments and other receivables  FB/5 5k I8 f H i fE UL 5K 18 330,454 (6,852) 323,602
552,754 80,204 632,958
Lease liabilities HEAE = (81,919) (81,919)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AE (16941) 209 (16,732)
Accumulated losses REtEE 2291794 1,506 2,293,300
2,274,853 (80,204) 2,194,649
Lessor accounting ) HHEABEEEFE

)

The Group did not need to make any adjustment to the

accounting for assets held as lessor under operating leases as

a result of the adoption of IFRS 16.

RENBERSBEREEANE 65
B AKEHARRBLEREE
REEARBEENSREEFL
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.3

Subsidiaries

@

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive (loss)/income, statement of

financial position, statement of changes in equity respectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHBEHEE(£)
(Cont'd)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Cont'd) 23 MEAR (&)
(a)  Consolidation (Cont'd) (@) #HEEKHE (&)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Agreements

Zhenniu Information entered into a series of contractual
agreements (collectively, “structured entities agreements’)
with Enniu Network and the direct equity owners of Enniu
Network, who are affiliated with the Company. Through

these contractual agreements, Zhenniu Information is able

to:

0 Exercise effective control over Enniu Network and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “the structured entities”);

. Receive substantially all of the economic benefits and
residual returns, and absorb substantially all the risks
of expected losses as if it were the sole shareholder;
and

. Have an exclusive option to purchase all of the equity

interest in the structured entities.

The Group evaluated the relationships and contractual
arrangements among Zhenniu Information, the structured
entities and their direct equity owners and concluded
that Zhenniu Information is the primary beneficiary in the
variable interest arrangement. As a result, the results of
operations, assets and liabilities of the structured entities
have been included in the Group's consolidated financial

statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

2.3

@

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Agreements
(Cont'd)

Pursuant to the structured entities agreements, the Group
has the power to direct activities of the structured entities
and can have assets transferred out of the structured entities
under its control. Therefore, the Group considers that
there is no asset in any of the structured entities that can
be used only to settle obligations of the structured entities,
except for registered capital and PRC statutory reserves. As
the structured entities are incorporated as limited liability
companies under the PRC Company Law, lenders of the
structured entities do not have recourse to the general
credit of the Group for any of the liabilities of the structured

entities.

Currently there is no contractual arrangement which
requires the Group to provide additional financial support
to the structured entities. However, as the Group conducts
its businesses primarily based on the licenses and approvals
held by its structured entities, the Group has provided and
will continue to provide financial support to the structured
entities considering the business requirements of the
structured entities, as well as the Group's own business

objectives in the future.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHBEHEE(£)
(Cont'd)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Cont'd) 23 KMIBARE (&)
(a)  Consolidation (Cont'd) (@) #HEEKHE (&)

Other structured entities through trust arrangements

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so
that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in
deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting
rights relate to administrative tasks only, and the relevant

activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements.

The Group's structured entities include trust schemes. These
trust schemes are managed by unaffiliated trust companies

and invest the funds raised in loans to individuals (Note 26).

According to the trust scheme agreements, the Group is
considered as the primary beneficiary of the trusts and
also has the power to direct the activities of the trusts. As
a result, the results of operations, assets and liabilities of
the trusts have been included in the Group's consolidated

financial statements.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations not under common control. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured

initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

2.3

@

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Business combinations (Cont'd)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests’ proportionate share in the recognized
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement

basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from

such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognized in accordance with IAS 39 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-
measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.3  Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

@

®)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Business combinations (Cont'd)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognized and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognized directly in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss)/income.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries (including structured entities) are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividends exceeds the total comprehensive loss of
the subsidiary in the year the dividends declared or if the
carrying amount of the investments in the separate financial
statements exceed the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

23

®)

Separate financial statements (Cont'd)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31

December 2019 are set out below:

2 EAREFHBEBE (&

23 KMIEAFE (4
) BUHBHEE (E)

R2019F 12831 B AL B M E B W
BARFEBHIWT

Percentage of attributable
equity interest

EEREED L
Name of Entity Date of incorporation  Place of incorporation  Registered capital As at 3| December 2019 Principal activities
REZE EMRLAM EMA T H EMER 0195128318 IRER
Anhui Chaoke information Technology 2 September 2019 PRC RMB250,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
Co, Ltd. 201959728 il AR 2500000007 EREARERES
ZHENEENRERAR
Beijing Gaoying Technology Co,, Ltd. 24 April 2019 PRC RMB5,000,000 100.00% Technology services
ERBREMARAT 2019F4A24R HE ARH50000007 UL
Beijing Jianguo Credit Management Co, Ltd. 9 October 2015 PRC RMB50,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
ERERERERERARA 2015510898 HE AREH500000007T EREARERER
Beijing Shouhui Kaizhuo Technology Co,, Ltd. 12 May 2006 PRC RMB5,887,423 100.00% Technology services
("Kaizhuo Technology”) 2006454 128 e ARE5887437C iR
FREEREMBERAA
(TRKRE])
Beijing Shouhui Shidai Information Technology 14 May 2012 PRC RMB10,000,000 100.00% Technology services
Co, Ltd. ("Shouhui Shidai”) 2012458 148 e AR #10,000,00070 iR
FREERRESRNARAT
(TEBER])
Beijing Yahui Shidai Information Consulting 28 August 2009 PRC RMBI00,000,000 100.00% Technology services
Co, Ltd. 200948288 e AR #100,000,0007 iR
FREERRESRABRAT
Beijing Yaku Shikong Information Exchange 23 March 2005 PRC RMB100,000,000 100.00% Prepaid cand issuance and acceptance
Technology Co, Ltd. (*Yaku Shikong”) 200543A23A H AR %100,000,0007T and internet payment
EREEEEEERERTERAR RERBETRARLRBEXM
(THEEEZE])
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited || November 1999 Cayman Islands HK$110,000,000 39.28% Investment holding
(“Netcom”) 19911 A11A HEHE 110,0000007% 7o REER
RYBBERERAR ([hFE8))
Daging Liniu Information Technology Consulting | March 2017 PRC RMBI,000,000 100.00% Loan collection services
Services Co, Ltd. 01753818 HE ARE1,0000007T Wk R
REMFEERMAAREERAR
Dingli Technology 14 April 2014 PRC RMB25,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
SNBE 014547148 E AR 2500000070 EREARERES
Enniu Network 2 August 2012 PRC RMB500,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
BhRR 20125828 E AR 5000000007 EREARERES
Fuzhou Enniu Microcredit 23 June 2017 PRC RMB200,000,000 100.00% Micro loan services
BB BN 01756238 E AR 20000000070 NEERRE
Guangxi Jiahai Technology Co, Ltd. 19 August 2019 PRC RMB10,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
FEZEMEARAF 019587198 E ARH100000007T EREARERES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR MR

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

2.3

®)

Separate financial statements (Cont'd)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31

December 2019 are set out below: (Cont'd)

Name of Entity

Date of incorporation

Place of incorporation

2 EARETHBEME (&

23 KMIBATE (4

b) BUHBHE (&)

Registered capital

2019 12831 B AL B E B W
BRARFEBHIWT: (&)

Percentage of attributable
equity interest
EEREADL
As at 31 December 2019

Principal activities

REZE EMALAM ERMA LS EMER R2019% 128318 IRER
Hangzhou Jiahao 16 August 2019 PRC RMBI,000,000 100.00% Technology services
liESs 201958168 i ARE1,00000070 iR
Hangzhou Jiniu Network Technology Co, Ltd. 23 May 2016 PRC RMB20,000,000 100.00% Operation of fund sales
AMEFRRRITERAR 2016554238 E AR 8200000007 EOHEEE
Hangzhou Lanye Network Technology Co,, Ltd. 21 May 2019 PRC RMB10,000,000 87.5% Technology services
MNERRRRITARAR 2019557218 E ARE100000007C iR
Hangzhou Liniu Assets Management Co,, Ltd. 22 April 2016 PRC RMB206,250,000 100.00% Post-loan management
MMFFEEEBBRAR 01654228 i AR 20625000070 BkER
Hangzhou Qifuyun Technology Co,, Ltd. 23 December 2019 PRC RMB10,000,000 100.00% Technology services
AMENEREARAF 0195128238 E ARE100000007C iR
Hangzhou Shangniu Information Technology 16 March 2016 PRC RMBI0,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
Co, Ltd. 016537168 E ARE100000007C EREARERES
HARFEERTERAR
Hangzhou Shangniu Investment Management 19 May 2017 PRC RMB470,000,000 26.60% Investment management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) 2017458198 $ AR 47000000070 REER
MNBEFREEEAR LR (BRAY)
Hangzhou Shangniu Network Technology 12 December 2014 PRC RMB3,125,000 100.00% Technology services
Co, Ltd. 0145128128 i ARE312500070 iR
AR ARNRERAR
Hangzhou Wuyao Technology Co,, Ltd. 25 July 2014 PRC RMB500,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
HAEARBRERAR 2014F725A hE AR #500000,0007C EREARERES
Hangzhou Xingniu Information Technology 20 October 2017 PRC RMB400,000,000 100.00% Technology services
Co, Ltd. 2017%10A208 H AR #400,000,0007 Bk
MNEFEEHRERAR
Hangzhou Panniu Financing and Guarantee 24 May 2018 PRC RMB300,000,000 100.00% Financing guarantee services
Co, Ltd. 201855248 i AR 3000000007 RERRRH
MABTRAERERAR
Zhenniu Information 16 November 2017 PRC RMB2,000,000,000 100.00% Technology services
REES WI7F11A168 i AE#2,0000000007 UL
Hefei Liniu Information Technology Co,, Ltd. 05 December 2018 PRC RMBI,000,000 100.00% Technology services
AEMFERRINARAR 018512754 E AR 100000070 UL
Shanghai Jingjia Network Technology Co,, Ltd. 17 December 2010 PRC RMB400,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
LEBRRRMEARAR 20105128178 E AE#40000000070 EREARERES
Shanghai Qiandian Information Technology Co, 27 May 2009 PRC RMB325,000,000 100.00% Technology services
Ltd. (“Qiandian Information”) 2009%5A278 $ AR #3250000007 Bk

LBAEESHRERAR
(THEES])

SIEAFBRAR #2019

el
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(Cont'd)
Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

2.3

®)

Separate financial statements (Cont'd)

23

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31

December 2019 are set out below: (Cont'd)

Name of Entity Date of incorporation

Place of incorporation  Registered capital

EXEHBEME (&

MEBAR (&)
(b) BUHFHHK (E)

R2019F 12831 B AL B M E B W
BRARFEBHIWT: (&)

Percentage of attributable
equity interest
EEREADL

As at 3| December 2019 Principal activities

REZE EMALAM ERMA LS EMER R019F 128318 IRER
Shanghai Qingniu Business Information 18 September 2013 PRC RMB200,000 100.00% Employees’ incentive operation
Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) 201349 7188 $ AR 2000007 1B 8 #E:r )
LERTRBERANABLE
(BERA%)
Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Co,, Ltd. 14 December 2015 PRC RMB150,000,000 100.00% Investment holding and industry
LR FRENRARAR 015127 148 i AR 15000000070 investment
REBBRREZRE
Shenzhen Zhongrong Insurance Brokers 28 October 2003 PRC RMB50,000,000 100.00% Insurance broking
Co, Ltd. 2003F10A28R H AR #50,000,0007 REEL
AP RRBELERAT
Tianjin Lance Business Management Consulting 13 May 2019 PRC RMB2,750,000 100.00% Consulting Service
Partnership (Limited Partnership) 2019%5A13A HE AR 27500007 R
REERGCEERANABLE
(BERA%)
Tianjin Qifutianxia Business Management 12 December 2019 PRC RMB,000,000 100.00% Consulting Service
Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) 2019128128 $ AR®1,0000007C R
RECRATEXEERASBLER
(BERA%)
Yeniu Information Technology 24 February 2016 PRC RMB400,000,000 100.00% Credit facilitation service
A ER R 201652248 E AR 40000000070 ERBARS
Yiniu Network 5May 2015 PRC RMBI20,000,000 100.00% Development and operation of apps
ETAR 201565 A5H E ARH12000000070 EREARERES
U51.Com Inc. 8 August 2014 Cayman slands US$50,000 100.00% Investment holding
U5 1.Com Inc. 201458 A8H &S 50000% 7T RELR
U51.Com Limited 15 August 2014 Hong Kong ("HK") HKSI 100.00% Investment holding
US| Com Limited 01458158 36 1T RARR
51 Award Limited 27 February 2017 British Virgin Islands (“BVI")US$! 100.00% Employees' incentive operation
51 Award Limited 2017528278 ARERRES IXTC EEERE
51 Credit Card (China) Limited 13 October 2017 HK HK$! 100.00% Investment holding
SIERF (FE)ERAF 0176108138 36 1T RARR
51 Renpin.Com Inc. 7 January 2016 BVI US$50,000 100.00% Investment holding
51 Renpin.Com Inc. 201651 A7A EREARES 50000% 7T RERR
51 Renpin.Com (HK) Limited 14 January 2016 HK HK$! 100.00% Investment holding
51 Renpin.Com (HK) Limited WI6EIA14A ) BT RERR
51 Stock Limited 2 August 2017 BVI Uss! 100.00% Employees’ incentive operation
51 Stock Limited 201758A28 ARERRES IXTC EEERE
51 Credit Card Investment (HK) Limited 12 September 2018 HK HK$100 100.00% Investment holding
51 Credit Card Investment (HK) Limited 201859A 128 ) 1007 7T RERR
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

E MR

2 ERSFHEBE (&)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Cont'd) 23 MIBATF (&)
(b)  Separate financial statements (Cont'd) b) BUHBEHE ()
Consolidated structured entities material to the Group REREEANEAEEM=BEE
during the years presented are set out below: MEFEBLERSHY W :
Collective holding proportion
by the Group Product scale
AEEERERLL EmBAR
As at 31 December As at 31 December
RI12A318 RI2A31R

Company name 2019 2018 2019 2018 Principal activities
NTELE 20194 20185 20194 WIsE  FEEH
Bohai trust & China Securities Credit - - - 28000,000  Provision of trust loans to borrowers recommended

Investment 51 Renpindai No.| single by a service vendor, which is agreed or endorsed by

trust plan principals/beneficiaries of the trust.
BEEERFEEASIAREIR MZETETA/ S ARZRERNBHIRES

B—{z5tstal EENERARREIER
Bohai trust & Huian No.|0 assembled - 18.18% - 122222300  Provision of trust loans to borrowers recommended

trust plan by a service vendor, which is agreed or endorsed by
BEETERERI0% principals/beneficiaries of the trust.

—HES A2 EE MZETETA/ SR ARZRERNRHRES

EENERARREIER

Bohai trust & Huian No.32 assembled 57.48% 2500% 47,270,000 108,670,000  Provision of trust loans to borrowers recommended

trust plan

HREANELNRAE R ETE

by a service vendor, which is agreed or endorsed by

principals/beneficiaries of the trust.
MZELETEA/ REARBAER ORI RAE

RENEFARBEREN -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

24

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares are
accounted for using equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recognized at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the
investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee after the
date of acquisition. The Group's investments in associates include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as

goodwill.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss)/income, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive loss
is recognized in other comprehensive loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the

associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

24

2.5

2.6

Associates (Cont'd)

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares (Cont'd)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment
as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate
and its carrying value and recognizes the amount adjacent to
“share of profit of investments accounted for using equity method”
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss)/income.
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for

impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.9.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the chief executive officer and the

vice presidents of the Group that make strategic decisions.

Functional currency and foreign currency translation

(@)  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is United States dollars (“US$"). The Company's
primary subsidiaries are incorporated in the PRC and these
subsidiaries consider RMB as their functional currency. As
the major operations of the Group during the reporting
year are within the PRC, the Group determined to present
its consolidated financial statements in RMB (unless

otherwise stated).

E MR

2 ERSFHEBE (&)

24

25

2.6

B AT (&
BRI ARE SR ()
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.6

Functional currency and foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

®)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

(loss)/income within “Finance expenses, net”.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive (loss)/income, within “Finance expense, net”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss)/income

on a net basis within “Other losses, net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities such as equities held at FVPL are recognized in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as
equities classified as available for sale, are included in other

comprehensive |oss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.6  Functional currency and foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

(c)  Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation

currency as follows:

0) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate

at the date of that statement of financial position;

(i)  Income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive (loss)/income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the rate

on the dates of the transactions); and

(i) All resulting currency translation differences are

recognized in other comprehensive loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences

arising are recognized in other comprehensive loss.

E MR
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.7

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation on property and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Estimated useful lives

of the assets

Computer and electronic equipment 3 years
Office furniture and equipment 3 years
Leasehold improvements Estimated useful lives
or remaining lease

terms, whichever is

shorter
Building 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting year.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than

its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized
within “Other losses, net” in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive (loss)/income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.8

Intangible assets
The Group's intangible assets include software, platform,

applications, license and goodwill (Note 2.10).

Intangible assets can be recognized only when future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the item will flow
into the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. Intangible
assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business

combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs that
are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and
unique software products controlled by the Group are recognized

as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

. It is technically feasible to complete the software product so

that it will be available for use;

. Management intends to complete the software product and
use or sell it;
. There is an ability to use or sell the software product;

E MR
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.8

Intangible assets (Cont'd)
o [t can be demonstrated how the software product will

generate probable future economic benefits;

. Adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the software

product are available; and

. The expenditure attributable to the software product during

its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the
software product include the software development staff cost and

an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs
previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset

in a subsequent period.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed by the period of

bringing economic benefits for the Group.

The intangible assets acquired in a business combination, mainly
including software, platform, applications, license and goodwill,
are recognized initially at fair value at the acquisition date and
subsequently carried at the amount initially recognized less

accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.8

Intangible assets (Cont'd)

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Estimated useful lives of

the intangible assets

Software 2-3 years
Platform 5 years
Applications 10 years
Trademark |0 years
License Indefinite
Goodwill Indefinite

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortized on the
straight-line basis over the useful life. The amortization period and
the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each year

end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but

are subject to annual impairment assessment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

29

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortization and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset's fair value less costs to sell of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at

each reporting date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents
the excess of the consideration transferred over the Group's
interest in net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-

controlling interests in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating

segment level.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.10 Goodwill (Cont'd)

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognized immediately

as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Held for sale

Disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly
probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred
tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets and
investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual
rights under insurance contracts, which are specifically exempt from

this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognized for any initial or subsequent
write-down of the disposal group to fair value less costs to sell. A
gain is recognized for any subsequent increases in fair value less
costs to sell of a disposal group, but not in excess of any cumulative
impairment loss previously recognized. A gain or loss not previously
recognized by the date of the sale of the disposal group is

recognized at the date of derecognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.11

Held for sale (Cont'd)

A disposal group is not depreciated or amortized while they are
classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable
to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale

continue to be recognized.

The assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are
presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet.
The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are

presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet.

Financial assets
The Group has adopted IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” to confirm

and measure financial instruments since January |, 2018.

Measurement methods

Amortized cost and effective interest rate

The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial
amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted

for any loss allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Cont'd)
2.12 Financial assets (Cont'd)

EXEHBEREE (&)

212 &REE (&)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

Amortized cost and effective interest rate (Cont'd)

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortized cost before any
impairment allowance) or to the amortized cost of a financial
liability. The calculation does not consider ECL and includes
transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid
or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as

origination fees.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the
carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial
liabilities is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using
the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognized in

profit or loss.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate

to the gross carrying amount of financial assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.12  Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognized on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits

to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or
financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a
financial asset or financial liability not at FVPL, transaction costs
that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and
commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately
after initial recognition, an ECL allowance is recognized for financial
assets measured at amortized cost and investments in debt
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI"), which results in an accounting loss being

recognized in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.12 Financial assets (Cont'd)
Measurement methods (Cont'd)

0]

Classification and subsequent measurement

From | January 2018, the Group has applied IFRS 9 and

classifies its financial assets in the following measurement

categories:

. FVPL;

. FVOCI; or

. Amortized cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity

instruments are described below:

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the
definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective,

such as loans, trade receivables and other receivables.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt

instruments depend on:

. The Group's business model for managing the asset;
and
. The cash flow characteristics of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.12 Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

()

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt
instruments into one of the following three measurement

categories:

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI"), and that are not designated at FVPL, are
measured at amortized cost. The carrying amount
of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance
recognized and measured. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in “Other revenue” using

the effective interest rate method.

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, and that are
not designated at FVPL, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive loss, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s
amortized cost which are recognized in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive loss is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognized in “Net Investment income”.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not hold

financial assets classified as FVOCI.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.12  Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

0

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

. FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognized in profit or loss and
presented in the statement of comprehensive (loss)/
income within “Other losses, net” in the period in

which it arises.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group
manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That
is, whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the
contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both
the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the
sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial
assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial
assets are classified as part of “other’” business model and
measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Group in
determining the business model for a group of assets include
past experience on how the cash flows for these assets
were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated
and reported to key management personnel, how risks are

assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.12  Financial assets (Cont'd)
Measurement methods (Cont'd)

0

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to
collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual
cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the
financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest (the “SPPI test”). In making this
assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual
cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement,
i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value
of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit
margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.
Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to
risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and

measured at FVPL.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
SPPI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets changes.
The reclassification takes place from the start of the first
reporting year following the change. Such changes are
expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during

the year
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.12  Financial assets (Cont'd)
Measurement methods (Cont'd)

()

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition
of equity from the issuer's perspective; that is, instruments
that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that

evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
FVPL, except where the Group's management has elected,
at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive loss.
The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as
FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other
than to generate investment returns. When this election
is used, fair value gains and losses are recognized in other
comprehensive loss and are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when
representing a return on such investments, continue to
be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the

Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included
in the “Other losses, net” line in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive (loss)/income.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group does not hold financial
assets classified as FVOCI.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.12  Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

@iy Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL
associated with its debt instrument assets carried at
amortized cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising
from financial guarantee contracts and contract assets. The
Group recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each

reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

. An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that

is determined by evaluating a range of possible

outcomes;
. The time value of money; and
. Reasonable and supportable information that

is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions

and forecasts of future economic conditions.

For contract assets and trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires

expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial

recognition of the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M AR R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHBEHEE(£)
(Cont'd)
2.13 Financial liabilities 213 E@MEE
Classification and subsequent measurement SEEFNE B E
Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at SRBEYIREBEKATESE TS
amortized cost, except for: SLER AN :
Financial liabilities at FVPL: this classification is applied to . BRARNBEFTAEBEZNSHERE:
derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading and measured EESEEANITAR BEXST
at fair value. Gains or losses on financial liabilities at FVPL are REAnBEAENEMAG-ZA
presented partially in other comprehensive loss (the amount AEETFAEBENEREENTISE
of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is MBELXBHIAEMEEERE (H
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, ZBEERREBNELERHNAR
which is determined as the amount that is not attributable BEEE MTAETSIEEE
to changes in market conditions that give rise to market S| BRI T IS R BT B ) F1 365 51 A

risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of
change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such
a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting
mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to
changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in

profit or loss;

Financial guarantee contracts: Financial guarantee contracts
are contracts that require the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial
institutions and others on behalf of customers to secure
loans. The Group's financial guarantee contracts is reflected
as the quality assurance fund payable recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The quality
assurance fund is a protection mechanism offered to
investors who subscribe to the loans facilitated on the
Group's platform. The quality assurance fund contribution
rates are determined at loan inception on a loan by loan
basis and does not subsequently change over the life of the
loan. The determination of the contribution rates is also
based on the estimated loss rate of the loans, taking into
account the underlying risk profile and historical loss record

and other market factors when necessary.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.13 Financial liabilities (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement(Cont'd)

Financial guarantee contracts (i.e. quality assurance fund payable)
are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at

the higher of:

. The amount of the loss allowance; and

. The premium received on initial recognition less income

recognized in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognized

as a provision.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, with gains or losses arising

from de-recognition or amortization recognized in profit or loss.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes a financial liability or part of it only
when the underlying present obligation or part of it is discharged,
cancelled or expired. An agreement between the Group (an
existing borrower) and an existing lender to replace the original
financial liability with a new financial liability with substantially
different terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original

financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

When the Group derecognizes a financial liability or a part of
it, it recognizes the difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and
payable (including any non-cash assets transferred or new financial

liabilities assumed) in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.14

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the

counterparty.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as foreign
exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. These
derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value
on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair

value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives

are taken directly to profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.16

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets. All the trade receivables of
the Group are expected in one year or less, therefore, they are

presented as current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

interest method, less provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash at banks and other short-term highly liquid

investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's equity
share capital (treasury share), the considerations paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company's equity holders until the shares
are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received (net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs) is included in equity attributable to

the Company's equity holders.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive (loss)/income over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it

relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least

|2 months after the end of the reporting year

E MR

2 ERSFHEBE (&)

2.19

(EE

fERNFRAABEMBAELENRHK
AR - ERERIZH AT IR : PT15
KRR HEA) B EEENE A E
BEAERMNEENERABESRSEZE
(B18) R ER -

HMERBERA TR D A2 AT
AR EFRRER NN ERERRE
RRXGRA-HERBERAT BREEER
RBEERL - HEEANEBEBRIZERR
BRgEd o2 ER MZERRETE
AERRBE S REHFANK LNE
BE B

BRIFAKEB R EMNECEERSF
ERELNEANAE TRERBER
mEBEE-

SUEARERAT #2009 | 197



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

2

198

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.20 Financial guarantee

Quality assurance fund payable

The quality assurance fund payable is measured at their fair value at
inception for both individual and institutional investors. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the quality assurance fund payable is measured
at the greater of |) the amount determined in accordance with
IFRS 9 and 2) the amount initially recognized (fair value) less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortization of the initial amount
recognized in accordance with IFRS 15, The Group's financial
guarantee is also reflected as the quality assurance fund payable
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position (Note
23).

Quality assurance fund receivable

The quality assurance fund receivable is recognized at loan
inception for amounts allocated to the guarantee. At each
reporting date, the Group estimates the future cash flows and
assesses whether there is any indicator of impairment to any
individual underlying loan of the quality assurance fund receivable.
If the carrying amounts of the quality assurance fund receivable
exceeds the expected collections, an impairment loss is recorded

for the quality assurance fund receivable not recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.21

2.22

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for services that have been
delivered in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade
and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. All the trade payables of the Group are expected in one

year or less, therefore, they are presented as current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for a year comprises current and
deferred tax. The income taxes are recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive (loss)/income, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive loss or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other

comprehensive loss or directly in equity, respectively.

(@)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
financial statements date in the countries/regions where
the Company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Cont'd)

®)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income

tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be

utilised.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2019 Annual Report

2

EXEHBEREE (&)

222 BNEIRIBEEFREH ()

®)

EEFTFH

MR AEERE

BEFREHIRAAEE REER
BEREAERNGAMBERRAOEK
EERMEENERZHEELRER-
i fHEE R IR B & V) PR
BEMEL ATERRELEHRAR]
B MR —ERXS (BRI
RUBEANETRIKIGTE
S AERTENERBENEEX
BEELELEMEHR AT
BEFRBEHEAEACRHHCE
BRAEMmE B R (ROAR) EE - B8
REREBELCHASHREENSFE
EXEFRSHABRER -

I FE P 1S T B EE R IR AT BE R 2R
FE R B T] B A 0 B = AR
DT THER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXSHBEHE (£)
(Cont'd)
2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Cont'd) 222 BENEARELEFTBH (£
(b)  Deferred income tax (Cont'd) (b) FEEAEH (E)
Outside basis differences INERAEZETE

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is
unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference
for associates. Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of
the temporary difference in the foreseeable future, deferred
income tax liabilities in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed profits

are not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the

temporary difference can be utilised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

222 Current and deferred income tax (Cont'd)

®)

Deferred income tax (Cont'd)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis.

2.23 Employee benefits

@)

Fension obligations

The employees of the Group are mainly covered by
various defined contribution pension plans. The Group
makes and accrues contributions on a monthly basis to the
pension plans, which are mainly sponsored by the related
government authorities that are responsible for the pension
liabilities to retired employees. Under such plans, the Group
has no other significant legal or constructive obligations for
retirement benefits beyond the said contributions, which are

expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.23 Employee benefits (Cont'd)

®)

©

Housing benefits

The employees of the Group are entitled to participate in
various government-sponsored housing funds. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on
certain percentages of the salaries of the employees. The
Group's liability in respect of these funds is limited to the

contributions payable in each year

Mediical benefits

The Group makes monthly contributions for medical
benefits to the local authorities in accordance with the
relevant local regulations for the employees. The Group's
liability in respect of employee medical benefits is limited to

the contributions payable in each year

2.24 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based

compensation plans, under which the entity receives services from

employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Group.

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for

the grant of the options and restricted share units (“RSUs") is

recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is

determined by making reference to the fair value of the options

and RSUs granted:

U]

0)

(iii)

Including any market performance condition (for example,

an entity's share price);

excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining as an employee of the

entity over a specified time period); and

including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for

example, the requirement for employees to serve).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.24 Share-based payments (Cont'd)

Non-market performance and service conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options and RSUs that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting

conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognizing the expense during

the year between service commencement date and grant date.

Where there is modification of terms and conditions which
increases the fair value of the equity instruments granted (for
example, by changing the vesting period of share options),
the Group includes the incremental fair value granted in the
measurement of the amount recognized for the services received
over the remainder of the vesting period. The incremental fair
value is the difference between the fair value of the modified
equity instrument and that of the original equity instrument, both
estimated as at the date of the modification. An expense based
on the incremental fair value is recognized over the period from
the modification date to the date when the modified equity
instruments vest in addition to any amount in respect of the
original instrument, which should continue to be recognized over

the remainder of the original vesting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.24

2.25

Share-based payments (Cont'd)

At the end of each reporting year, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options and RSUs that are expected to vest
based on the non-market performance and service conditions. It
recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in

profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised or the RSUs are vested, the
Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital

(nominal value) and share premium.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not

recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any

one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the

provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when service is provided to the customer
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, service may be provided over time or at a point in

time. Service is provided over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as

the Group performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

If service transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period
of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains the

service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods that
best depict the Group's performance in satisfying the performance

obligation:

. direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group

to the customer; or

. the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the

performance obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.26 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

If a contract involves multiple services, the transaction price will be
allocated to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone
selling prices. Where these are not directly observable, they are

estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the

principal revenue streams of the Group.

(a)  Credit facilitation and service fee

The Group engages primarily in operating an online
consumer finance marketplace by providing an online
platform which matches borrowers with investors. The
Group's platform provides investors with various investment
products, which the investors can elect to participate in. The
Group determined that it is not the legal lender and legal
borrower in the loan origination and repayment process.
Therefore, the Group does not record loans receivable
and payable arising from the loans between investors and

borrowers on its marketplace.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

@

Credit facilitation and service fee (Cont'd)

The total proceeds are collected on a monthly basis
over the loan period. The total proceeds from borrowers
generally includes the services fees for facilitating loan
origination (covering matching of investors to borrowers
and facilitating the execution of loan agreement between
investors and borrowers) and for providing ongoing
monthly services (mainly covering cash processing services
and collection services), and also include contribution to
the quality assurance fund, which provides a protection

mechanism to investors who subscribe to these loans.

The total proceeds from borrowers are first allocated to
the quality assurance fund payable (Note 2.20) at fair value
which meets the definition of a financial guarantee under
IAS 39, and the remaining amount are then allocated to
credit facilitation service and ongoing monthly service. The
Group generally collects the entire amount relating to credit
facilitation and ongoing monthly services as one combined

fee.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Cont'd)
2.26 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)
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(a)  Credit facilitation and service fee (Cont'd) @ EEES

RIRHEE (%)

The Group considers the credit facilitation services and
ongoing monthly services as distinct performance obligations.
Although the Group does not sell these services separately,
the Group determined that both deliverables have
standalone value. However, the Group does not provide
these services separately, and the third-party evidence of
selling price does not exist either; as public information is not
available regarding the amount of fees competitors charge
for these services. As a result, the Group uses the expected-
cost-plus-a-margin approach to determine its best estimate
standalone selling prices of the different performance
obligations as the basis for allocation. The total service fee
allocated to credit facilitation is recognized as revenue
upon execution of loan agreements between investors and
borrowers. The service fees allocated to post-origination
services are deferred and recognized over the period of
the loan on a straight-line method, which approximates the
pattern of when the underlying services are performed.
When the cash received is different from the revenue
recognized, a “Contract Asset” or “Contract Liability” shall
be recognized in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

®)

©

Incentives

To expand its market presence, attract new investors and
new borrowers and increase activity level on the Group's
platform, the Group provides incentives to potential

investors and borrowers at its sole discretion.

When a loan is successfully matched during the relevant
incentive program period, the investor receives a cash
incentive as additional interest on a monthly basis over the
term of the loan.The borrower may receive a cash incentive,
as a reduction of credit facilitation service fee. These cash

incentives are accounted for as reduction of revenue.

Referral service fee

The Group introduces loan products of external online
lending platforms to borrowers on the Group's own
platform who can click through to third-party platforms. The
Group generally is not the primary obligor, does not have
the ability to establish the price, is not exposed to the credit
risk when directing borrowers to third-party platforms.
Upon successful set-up of loans, the Group will charge the
third-party platforms a negotiated amount or a fixed rate
referral fee based on the loans amount. Loan referral service
income is recognized on a net basis upon successfully set-up

of the loans.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

@

G

@

Credit card technology service fee

The Group cooperates with banks for their online credit
card applications on a nationwide basis. Users of 5| Credit
Card Manager App can click on the icon of a bank displayed
in the Group's platform and the webpage of the bank will
pop up in the App to complete the credit card application
process. The Group charges banks the referral fee based on
the successful applications which are defined by the banks.
Credit card technology service fee is recognized on a net

basis upon successful applications.

Interest income of loans to customers

The Group has originated and held loans through
consolidated trust schemes and a micro loan subsidiary.
Interest on the loans to customers (Note 26) is accrued
based on the contractual interest rates of the loan as
earned using the effective interest method. When a loan and
receivables is impaired, which interest revenue is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to net of the ECL

allowance.

FPayment service fee

The Group provides payment services for the third parties
to support the platform users. The income originates from
the payment channel service and the payment advance
service. When the service provided, the service fee will be

automatically deducted from the funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

2.27

2.28

(g)  Insurance commission income

The Group provides the intermediary service for the
conclusion of an insurance contract between the applicant
and insurer and charges the agreed commissions for the

intermediary services.

(h)  Overdue charges

The Group makes efforts to collect the outstanding overdue
amounts from borrowers. Overdue charges incurred on a
case-by-case basis. The collectability of these amounts are
often of high uncertainty. Overdue charges are only highly
probable to be collected when the actual overdue amounts
are repaid and are recognized as revenue when the cash of

the overdue payments is actually collected.

Interest income of cash at banks and bank deposits

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis, taking
into account of the principal outstanding and the effective interest
rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such

income will accrue to the Group.

Government grants
Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be

received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss)/income over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are

intended to compensate.
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E MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAXSHBERE (£)
(Cont'd)
2.29 Leases 229 HE

As explained in Note 22 above, the Group has changed its
accounting policy for leases where the Group is the lessee. The
new policy is described below and the impact of the change in
Note 2.2.

The Group leases various offices. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to || years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

Until the 2018 financial year, leases of property were classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net
of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line

basis over the period of the lease.

From | January 2019, leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life

and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.29 Leases (Cont'd)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a

similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing

was received;

. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group,

which does not have recent third party financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g, term, country,

currency and security.
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E MR

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARETHEEE (£)
(Cont'd)
2.29 Leases (Cont'd) 229 HE (4

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received; and

. restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-
value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 2

months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor
is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and
recognized as expense over the lease term on the same basis
as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the
balance sheet based on their nature. The Group did not need to
make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as

a result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

3.1 Measurement of the ECL allowance
The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets
measured at amortized cost and is an area that requires the use of
complex models and significant assumptions about future economic
conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers

defaulting and the resulting losses).

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying

the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

0] Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk
("SICR");

. The financial instrument considered to have

experienced a SICR if the borrower is past due on its

contractual payments.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 3 FARESSTESTRHE (&)

(Cont'd)
3.1 Measurement of the ECL allowance (Cont'd) 3.1 STEEHEREREE (&)
(i) Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the (i) EEFETERIE AL EERA R

measurement of ECL; B2

ECL is measured on either a |2-month (12M) or
Lifetime basis depending on whether a SICR has
occurred since initial recognition or whether an
asset is considered to be credit-impaired. ECL are
the discounted product of the Probability of Default
("PD"), Exposure at Default (‘EAD"), and Loss Given
Default (“LGD"), or ECL=PD*LGD*EAD*DF

The calculation of PD and LGD started with the
Group's historical information. They are further
adjusted for the impacts from micro-economy
conditions as well as observed industry experience.
PD and LGD are calculated by type of products,

internal risk grades and loan durations as appropriate.

EAD is calculated based on the amounts the Group
expected to be owed at the time of default, over the
next 12 months (I12M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD).

The discounted rate (DF) used in the ECL
calculation is the original effective interest rate or an

approximation thereof.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Cont'd)

3.1

32

Measurement of the ECL allowance (Cont'd)

(i) Establishing the number and relative weighting of forward-
looking scenarios for each type of product/market and the
associated ECL; and

0 The Group used the Morten Model to estimate
the relationship between ECL and forward-looking

scenarios.

. Based on economic statistics, three different
prospective scenarios, namely the “base”, the
“upside” and the “downside” are used with 80%, 10%
and 10% weighting respectively.

. Other forward-looking considerations, such as
the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political

changes, have also been considered.

. The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and ECL of each portfolio. The most significant
assumptions used are PPI, given their impact they
have on the loans facilitated or provided by the

Group.

Revenue related to credit facilitation service and ongoing
monthly service

The Group considers the credit facilitation services and ongoing
monthly services as distinct performance obligations. However,
the Group does not provide these services separately, and the
third-party evidence of selling price does not exist either, as
public information is not available regarding the amount of fees
competitors charge for these services. As a result, the Group
uses the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach to determine
its best estimate of selling prices of the different deliverables as
the basis for allocation. When estimating the selling prices, the
Group considers the cost related to such services, profit margin,
customer demand, effect of competition, and other market factors,

if applicable.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Cont'd)

3.3

34

Quality assurance fund payable and receivable

The quality assurance fund is a protection mechanism offered to
individual and institutional investors who subscribe to the loans
facilitated on the Group's platform. The quality assurance fund
contribution rates are determined at loan inception on a loan by
loan basis and does not subsequently change over the life of the
loan. The determination of the contribution rates is also based
on the estimated loss rate of the loans, taking into account the
underlying risk profile and historical loss record and other market

factors when necessary.

Recognition of share-based compensation expenses

The fair values of share options granted are measured on the
respective grant dates based on the fair value of the underlying
shares. In addition, the Group is required to estimate the expected
percentage of grantees that will remain in employment with the
Group or, where applicable, if the performance conditions for
vesting will be met at the end of the vesting period. The Group
only recognizes an expense for those share options and RSUs
expected to vest over the vesting period during which the grantees
become unconditionally entitled to these share-based awards.
Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have a material
effect on the determination of the fair value of the share options
and RSUs and the amount of such share-based awards expected
to become vested, which may in turn significantly impact the

determination of the share-based compensation expenses.

The fair value of share options and RSUs at the time of grant is to
be expensed over the vesting period of these share-based awards
based on an accelerated graded attribution approach. Under the
accelerated graded attribution approach, each vesting installment
of a graded vesting award is treated as a separate share-based
award, which means that each vesting installment will be separately
measured and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated

recognition of share-based compensation expense.

E MR

3 BARSFEERRAE (&)

33

34

EAREREERES
HERESEMRBRAEE LBANE
HREVEA MBI E B R REH S
BERBSHEXNERFT LR @5
HEET JREEFBRAERFTE -
HEXRNBEERERERNEEHEREE
17 EREt RABERERYLRE L BERD
BREMTHEER (MBE) -

RRUAR G HERNFHEX
REBRENAABERSRHAHER
MEROWAREBEE U AEE
AMABEREZENAEENARANTE
AR (WER) REORBKMTE
FEMERNIHEN AEBEME
AR A ARG Z A B R 2R A
57 8 H 7 57 MO P v % S IR Il A £ B L
RS - ZEHRBRROEFHA
EEHBERERIRIBRODEMORE
ENEERESEBENRDRBNESR
ERERNTE A L ARND BER
NEMASNEETERNEATE -

B R ZR G M EMNEHENR T
EBEMZINERESREEEZSRMN
RENEBHNIX -RENEREZEEB
% BEMERBEBN D BB KK
BRBILNIRD R BI& 2 BB
BB KB A B RIS BEINERTER A
Befn AETER F R S -

SUEAFERAT #2009 | 219



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

3

220

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Cont'd)

3.5

3.6

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax regulations under the PRC,
HK, Cayman Islands and BVI. Significant judgement is required
in determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognizes liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the year in which such determination is

made.

In addition, a deferred income tax asset is recognized to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognized based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits of the individual entities together with tax

planning strategies.

Fair value of financial instruments

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group
estimates fair value by using a valuation technique. Valuation
techniques include using recent prices in arm's length market
transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties, if available,
reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is
substantially the same, or discounted cash flow analyses and option
pricing models. To the extent practicable, valuation technique makes
the maximum use of market inputs. However, where market inputs
are not available, management needs to make estimates on such

unobservable market inputs.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out

by the senior management of the Group.

4.1.1 Market Risk

(@)  Foreign exchange risk

The transactions of the Company are denominated
and settled in its functional currency, US$. The
Group's subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and
are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to US$ and HK$. Therefore, foreign exchange risk
primarily arose from cash and cash equivalents in
the Group's PRC subsidiaries when receiving or to
receive foreign currencies from overseas business

partners.

The Group enters into foreign exchange contracts to
cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts

within the exposure generated.

E MR

4 SRERESE

4.1

ETREREE
$EIWEE%$EI%§%E$@@
BEMSAR ERARRRBHES
=”$$lm¥% RERGETIES
ﬂm%%$ﬂﬁﬂ%&§ﬁiﬂ%f$ﬁ
AEEMBRANBESNTZE - BRE
ERAEENSREEEAE-

4.1 THEERE

(@) HMNEREFE

RARNR S AR e B X
TLRHE RS HE - A& B & B
RAEATBEPELE AER
FASBREBTIRNINER
B EBRXTRETER-
Hib - SMNERBRERESBA
N1 SN ST ENERYE S
BEHINENPEME R RN
RERREEFEY -

AEBAIMNESH REM
W R BV EIMNEI S

SUEAFERAT #8209 | 221



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR MR

4

228

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.1  Market Risk (Cont'd)

@

Foreign exchange risk (Cont'd)

For the Group's PRC subsidiaries whose functional
currency is RMB, if US dollars had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the loss before income tax for the
year ended 31 December 2019 would have been
approximately RMB2,068,000 higher/lower as a result
of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation
of net monetary liabilities denominated in US dollars,
and the profit before income tax for the year ended
3| December 2018 would have been approximately
RMB584,000 higher/lower as a result of net foreign
exchange gains/(losses) on translation of net

monetary assets denominated in US dollars.

For the Group's PRC subsidiaries whose functional
currency is RMB, if Hong Kong dollars had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all
other variables held constant, the loss before income
tax for the year ended 3| December 2019 would
have been approximately RMBI7,000 lower/higher,
and the profit before income tax for the year ended
31 December 2018 would have been approximately
RMB5,708,000 higher/lower, as a result of net
foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of net

monetary assets denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily
in relation to term deposits, loans to customers, net,
long-term borrowings and short-term borrowings.
The Group generally assumes borrowings to
fund capital expenditures and working capital
requirements. The risk is managed by the Group by
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and

floating rate borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.1 Market Risk (Cont'd)

(®)

Interest rate risk (Cont'd)

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the

liquidity risk management section of this Note.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for financial
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting year. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis
is prepared assuming the amount of the liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting year was

outstanding for the whole year.

A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. If interest rates had been 50
basis points higher and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's profit would approximately
decrease by RMBI,884,000 for the years ended 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB2,229,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates

on loans to customers, net.

4.1.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of

the Group's customers, clients or market counterparties fail

to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Group. Credit risk

arises mainly from loan facilitation service.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

@)

Credit risk measurement

The estimation of credit exposure for risk
management purposes is complex and requires the
use of models, as the exposure varies with changes
in market conditions, expected cash flows and the
passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a
portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to
the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated
loss ratios and of default correlations between
counterparties. The Group measures credit risk using
PD, EAD and LGD. This is similar to the approach
used for the purposes of measuring ECL under IFRS

9. Refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) for more details.

ECL measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment
based on changes in credit quality since initial

recognition as summarised below:

. A financial instrument that is not credit-
impaired on initial recognition is classified in
“Stage |" and has its credit risk continuously

monitored by the Group.

. If a SICR since initial recognition is identified,
the financial instrument is moved to “Stage
2" but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired. Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (i) for
a description of how the Group determines

when a SICR has occurred.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHERERE(E)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 41 =SRERBER(E)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 /R (&)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b)y TEHEARBELFE (&)

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the
financial instrument is then moved to “Stage
3". Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (i) for a
description of how the Group defines credit-

impaired and default.

Financial instruments in Stage | have their
ECL measured at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that result from
default events possible within the next 12
months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have
their ECL measured based on ECL on a
lifetime basis. Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b)(iii)
for a description of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques used in measuring the

ECL.

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward-looking information. Note
4.1.2 (b) (iv) includes an explanation of how
the Group has incorporated this in its ECL

models.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

The following diagram summarises the impairment

requirements under IFRS 9:

Stage |
IR B

4

tREREE (Z)

41 TRRAREZ(Z

\

412 1=/HER (&)

b) FEEERBRAE(E)

TESGERBHREERE
9RIA T R EIRE -

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

BIRBEAENERARENE L

Stage 3

FEIMER

(Initial recognition)

(MaHER)

|2-month ECL
1218 AR EA{E ARk

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the
Group in addressing the requirements of the standard

are discussed below:

The financial instrument considered to
have experienced a SICR if the borrower is
more than | day (inclusive) past due on its
contractual payments. No qualitative criteria
is considered by the Group since the Group
monitor the risk of borrowers purely based

overdue period.

The Group has not used the low credit risk
exemption for any financial instruments in the
year ended 3| December 2019.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(®)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

The Group defines a financial instruments
as is in default, which is fully aligned with the
definition of credit impaired if the borrower is
more than | month (inclusive) past due on its
contractual payments. Besides, fraudulent list is
also considered by the Group for definition for

default and credit-impaired assets.

The criteria above have been applied to loan
to customers and financial guarantees held
by the Group and are consistent with the
definition of default used for internal credit risk
management purposes. The default definition
has been applied consistently to model the
PD, EAD and LGD throughout the Group's

expected loss calculations.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHERERE(E)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 41 SmEARER(Z)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 (=R (&)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEEMERIERGTE (&)

The ECL is measured on either a 12-month BREFEARRESEY
(12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether SHERBEZEMA KR
a SICR has occurred since initial recognition or EESEGHEGERERE
whether an asset is considered to be credit- ERARE BHERE
impaired. ECL are the discounted product of KRIEASFERE
the PD, EAD, and LGD, defined as follows: HEHE-HHERAEBEX
;EPD EADKLGD=%
THRENER BB

BT
. The PD represents the likelihood of . BAMERIEERK
a borrower defaulting on its financial AFEARZK 12168 A 3¢
obligation (as per “Definition of default EFHEFESR &
and credit-impaired” above), either over ERITEENERS
the next 12 months (12M PD), or over e gt (IRE £
the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of X[BAOARE#EE
the obligation. ERAREEENE

1)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)  ECL measure

ment (Cont'd)

LGD represents the Group's
expectation of the extent of loss on
a defaulted exposure. LGD varies
by type of counterparty, type and
seniority of claim and availability of
collateral or other credit support. LGD
is expressed as a percentage loss per
unit of exposure at the time of default
(“"EAD"). LGD is calculated on a 12M
or lifetime basis, where |2-month LGD
is the percentage of loss expected to
be made if the default occurs in the
next |2M and Lifetime LGD is the
percentage of loss expected to be made
if the default occurs over the remaining

expected lifetime of the loan.

EAD is based on the amounts the
Group expects to be owed at the time
of default, over the next 12 months
(12M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example,
for a revolving commitment, the Group
includes the current drawn balance plus
any further amount that is expected to
be drawn up to the current contractual
limit by the time of default, should it

occur
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(®)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD,
LGD and EAD for each future month and for
each individual exposure or collective segment.
These three components are multiplied
together and adjusted for the likelihood of
survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or
defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively
calculates an ECL for each future month, which
is then discounted back to the reporting date
and summed. The discount rate used in the
ECL calculation is the original effective interest

rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by looking at
how defaults develop on a portfolio from
the point of initial recognition throughout the
lifetime of the loans. The PD profile is based
on historical observed data and is assumed to
be the same across all assets within a portfolio
and credit grade band. This is supported by

historical analysis.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(®)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

For amortising products, this is based on the
contractual repayments owed by the borrower
over a |12M or lifetime basis. This will also be
adjusted for any expected overpayments made
by a borrower. Early repayment/refinance
assumptions are also incorporated into the

calculation.

The 12M and lifetime LGDs are determined
based on the factors which impact the
recoveries made post default. These vary by

product type.

Forward-looking economic information is also
included in determining the 12M and lifetime
PD, EAD and LGD. These assumptions vary by
product type. Refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (iv) for
an explanation of forward-looking information

and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

There have been no significant changes
in estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year ended 3|
December 2019.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(®)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

The assessment of SICR and the calculation
of ECL both incorporate forward-looking
information. The Group has performed
historical analysis and identified the key
economic variables impacting credit risk and

ECL for each portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated
impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by
financial instrument. The Group applies expert
judgment in the forecast of these economic
variables to obtain the best estimate view of
the economy over the next one year. After one
year, to project the economic variables out for
the full remaining lifetime of each instrument,
a mean reversion approach has been used,
which means that economic variables tend to
be close to a long run average growth rate
(e.g. Producer Price Index, Consumer Price
Index) over a period of two to five years.
The impact of these economic variables on
the PD, EAD and LGD has been determined
by performing Euclidean Distance analysis
to understand the impact changes in these
variables have had historically on default rates

and on the components of LGD and EAD.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHERERE(E)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 41 SRERBEZE(E)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 15/AER (&)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) () FEHERBXH=ZE (&)

In addition to the base economic scenario, the
Group also obtained other possible scenarios
along with scenario weightings from external
experts. The number of other scenarios used
is set based on the analysis of each major
product type to ensure non-linearities are
captured. The number of scenarios and their
attributes are reassessed at each reporting
date. At | January 2019 and 3| December
2019, the Group concluded that three
scenarios appropriately captured non-linearities
among all portfolios. The scenario weightings
are determined by a combination of statistical
analysis and expert credit judgement, taking
account of the range of possible outcomes
each chosen scenario is representative of. The
assessment of SICR is performed using the
Lifetime PD under each of the base, and the
other scenarios, multiplied by the associated
scenario weighting, along with qualitative
and backstop indicators (see Note 4.1.2).
This determines whether the whole financial
instrument is in Stage |, Stage 2, or Stage 3
and hence whether |2-month or lifetime ECL
should be recorded. Following this assessment,
the Group measures ECL as either a
probability weighted |2 month ECL (Stage ),
or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages
2 and 3). These probability-weighted ECLs are
determined by running each scenario through
the relevant ECL model and multiplying it
by the appropriate scenario weighting (as

opposed to weighting the inputs).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(®)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

As with any economic forecasts, the
projections and likelihoods of occurrence
are subject to a high degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual
outcomes may be significantly different to
those projected. The Group considers these
forecasts to represent its best estimate of the
possible outcomes and has analysed the non-
linearities and asymmetries within the Group's
different portfolios to establish that the chosen
scenarios are appropriately representative of

the range of possible scenarios.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHERERE(E)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 41 SmEARER(Z)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 (=R (&)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEEMERIERGTE (&)
FEconomic variable assumptions A] S48 P B 5%
The most significant year-end assumptions used M2019F 12A31H &
for the ECL estimate as at 31 December 2019 2009FF 1 AI1A - BRRH
and | January 2019 are set out below. The AEREABANE
scenarios “base”, “upside” and “downside” STREJH WO T o [HE
were used for all portfolios. El-TEH]IRITT &I
ERERBERERNME
HE -
2020
Producer Price Index Base 100.04
FEEMEERE A
Upside 101.40
%
Downside 98.35
TBE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

236

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(®)

4

EsmEREE (&)

41 SRREREZ(£Z)
412 1=/HER (&)

The most significant assumptions affecting the

ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHERBXIE ()
Economic variable assumptions (Cont'd) A B8 PR AR (4 )
The weightings assigned to each economic M2019F 12A31H &
scenario at 31 December 2019 and | January 2009F 1RIB - DEREE
2019 were as follows: BELEBERRNESEN
T
Base Upside Downside
B t5H T &
All portfolios FreEdE 80% 10% 10%
Sensttivity analysis BURRE ST

TERNERBRER

ECL allowance are as follows: MEEEHRIZLOT:
2019
RMB’000
ARET T
Producer Price Index —1% 34,937
EEEDEEH
No change -
B
+1% (34,198)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

©)

Credit risk exposure

The following table contains an analysis of the credit

risk exposure subject to impairment. The amount of

financial assets and non-financial assets below also

represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit

risk.

As at December 31 2019
R2019%F12A318

4

E MR

EsmEREE (&)

4.1

cREREE (&)
412 1=/HER (&)

(© 1EARRRE

TRYEWEHBRRENSRT
EMEREBRBAOETT D
froTIEeMEENGECRE
= ) 2 B8 7 B S £ B T e O
RiERRERKA -

As at December 2018
0185128318

Gross Gross
carrying Loss Carrying carrying Loss Carrying
Measurement category STEER amount allowance amount amount allowance amount
REAE BRER REE EHAE BRER REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTL AR®TR AR¥Tr ARKTT ARETT AR®Tn
Non-financial asset keREE
Contract assets BRBE 1,173,480 (461,739) 711,741 1,370,529 (215345) [,155,184
Financial assets RBHERATTED
at amortized cost SREE (BK
(IFRS 9) BRREER
ELL)
Cash and cash equivalents RekReZEY 1,283,144 - 1,283,144 1,206,172 = 1,206,172
Trade receivables Z S REWHE 172,023 (75,262) 96,761 149913 (346) 149,567
Prepayments and other BAFEREAM 390,992 - 390,992 330454 = 330454
receivables BRI
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

4 ZEEREE(£)
41 S@EBREE(£)

412 1=/HER (&)

Credit risk exposure (Cont'd) (o (EHERRHO (&)
As at December 31 2019 As at December 2018
R2019F 128318 0185128318
Gross Gross
carrying Loss Carrying carrying Loss Carrying
Measurement category STEER amount allowance amount amount alowance amount
REEE EEEE REE EE#E BERE REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETR ARBTR ARSTR ARETT ARKTR
Loans to customers BPER 302213 (281,474) 20,739 381,072 (195776) 185,296
Stage | ZIR 15,653 (667) 14986 177,340 (1,256) 176,084
Stage 2 VLS 1,238 (413) 825 2023 (807) 1216
Stage 3 E3MRE 285,322 (280,394) 4928 201,709 (193713) 79%
Financial guarantee contracts ~ BIBHERAH)
— Quality assurance fund -EREERES 1,333,252 (766,451) 566,801 1,291,203 (479,125) 812,078
receivable

Stage | ZIBR 545,607 (49,449) 496,158 769,171 (40287) 728,884
Stage 2 R 104,860 (49,749) 55,111 84407 (36927) 47480
Stage 3 XIS 682,785 (667,253) 5,532 437625 (401911 35714
Term deposits EHFER - - - 6,000 = 6,000
4,655,104 (1,584,926) 3,070,178 4735343 (890,592) 3844751
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

() Credit risk exposure (Cont'd)

The following table contains an analysis of the

maximum credit risk exposure from financial

E MR

SERRAKRERE (&)
41 SRREREZ(Z)
412 1=/HER (&)

(o 1ERERKA (&)

TEREINMBERGLD (AVE
NEEREER)NWRAEAA

guarantee contracts (i.e. quality assurance fund S i O 9 A7
payable):
As at 3|1 December
RI12A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFE  ARETR
Financial guarantee contracts — B IEIEREH
quality assurance fund payable -ENEERES 1,559,495 1,524,621
Stage | FIRER 558,586 866,523
Stage 2 FORER 7,043 77436
Stage 3 FE3RER 993,866 580,662

4.1.3  Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
cash reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing
facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial

assets and liabilities.

413 TEEZRER

AEBRBRBEFEHRSHE R
TRERFHEERRE FEER
BARERRERERCEEHE
ERAENEMEREERDES
[V -
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 ZEEREE(£)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 41 =SRERBER(E)
4.1.3 Liguidity risk (Cont'd) 413 mEELEE (&)
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual THREFAREEREHTEER
maturity for its financial liabilities with agreed repayment HRAT/mEBENTE S L E M
periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the R-BEAXRBEDERSBREEBENR
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the WEBESRERAEEERENX
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. NEHNRFEHHER - BEREARIKE
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. BEANEERAERERE WA ER
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the ERFHMNE - RKTREBDER
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at FROMEHRER S K ER B
the end of the year. The contractual maturity is based on the MR ERAEB R ERA A
earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay. xR HEETE-

As at 31 December 2019
M2019F 128318

Less than Between Over
| year | — 5 years 5 years Total
FRIFE | Z54F EIBSEF st

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AR®TR AR®TR AR®BTR

Long-term borrowings RAEIEK 9,257 156,725 5,543 171,525

Payable to trust senior JE 5 7E1B S AR
tranche holders Ba ARE 21,617 = = 21,617
Quality assurance fund payable EREERES 1,559,495 - - 1,559,495
Payable to platform customers ERTFaEFPRIE 707,842 - - 707,842
Short-term borrowings REMER 19,821 - - 19,821
Trade payables B S EMNFIE 27,468 — - 27,468
Other financial liabilities Hitv e @B & 315,408 - - 315,408
2,660,908 156,725 5,543 2,823,176
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e IR MR

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHERERE(E)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 41 =SRERBER(E)
4.1.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 413 mEELEE (&)

As at 3| December 2018
#M2018%F 12A31H

Less than Between Over

| year | — 5 years 5 years Total
SIS I-54F SELA 5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETE ARBTT ARBTT

Long-term borrowings RERER 36,651 453,985 13,857 504,493

Payable to trust senior EREFEEER
tranche holders BB ARE 44,655 205,228 = 249,883
Quality assurance fund payable ERNEERES 1,524,621 = = 1,524,621
Payable to platform customers BN FAaEPHIEA 744,783 = 744,783
Short-term borrowings % HAE K 192,667 = = 192,667
Trade payables H 5 EN IR 30,197 - - 30,197
Other financial liabilities HitvemBE 459,431 = 459,43
3,033,005 659213 13,857 3,706,075
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Fal=y

4

242

Bt 75 R AR B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.3  Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

4

The following table details the Group's expected maturity

for its financial assets. The tables have been drawn up based

on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial

assets including interest that will be earned on those

assets. The inclusion of information on financial assets is

necessary in order to understand the Group's liquidity risk

management as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and

liability basis.

SREREE (&)
41 SRERBREZE(
413 wEE2RRE (&)

=1,

TRAMAEESREENTRFE
MR- ERARRNEREREE
MAFTRENERBRRE 45
ZEEERRBOMNE-HASH
BENENAPRERANEELER
PELRRNER ERRBESR
ERBERABFEEAREEE -

As at 31 December 2019
20195128318

Less than Over
| year 5 years Total
TRIF SELE mat

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTRT AR®TR

Financial assets at FVPL RARBEFABRZE
TREE - 153,318 153,318
Quality assurance fund receivable EWEERES 566,801 = 566,801
Contract assets SHEBE 711,741 = 711,741
Trade receivables 2 5 W IE 96,761 = 96,761
Loans to customers, net BEERFHE 20,739 - 20,739
Restricted cash XRHRE 810,302 - 810,302
Cash and cash equivalents RehBEeEEY 1,283,144 - 1,283,144
Other financial assets HEemEE 370,710 - 370,710
3,860,198 153,318 4,013,516
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e IR MR

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 SHERERE(E)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 41 =SRERBER(E)
4.1.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 413 mEELEE (&)

As at 31 December 2018
720185128318

Less than Over
| year 5 years Total
TRIF SF #ast

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARBTT

Financial assets at FVPL RAABEGABRD

TREE 573221 425,026 998,247
Quality assurance fund receivable FRESRES 812,078 - 812,078
Contract assets EWEE [,155,184 = [,155,184
Trade receivables B 5 W IR 149,567 - 149,567
Loans to customers, net XEEHFRE 185,296 = 185,296
Restricted cash XRHRE 1,056,788 - 1,056,788
Cash and cash equivalents B RIREEED 1,206,172 = 1,206,172
Other financial assets HitemEE 277,720 = 277,720

5416,026 425,026 5,841,052

The amounts included above for variable interest rate MR ENEFERREREFERE
instruments for both financial assets and liabilities is subject THH KRGt EXFAYEBEREENR
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those BEENERTANSREAEEREE-

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting year.
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A MR MR

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4'2

43

244

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’

value in the long-term.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital, capital reserves
and preferred shares on an as-if-converted basis) by regularly
reviewing the capital structure. As a part of this review, the Group
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the
issued share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or repurchase the Company's shares. In the opinion of the

directors of the Company, the Group's capital risk is low.

Fair value estimation

The Group has adopted IFRS 13 in respect of disclosures about
the degree of reliability of fair value measurements. The Group
classifies, for disclosure purposes, fair value measurements using
a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the

following levels:

= Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can

access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level | that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

= Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

43

Fair value estimation (Cont'd)

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value
measurement is categorized in its entirety should be determined
on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance
of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its
entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that
require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that
measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance
of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety
requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or

liability.

The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires
significant judgement by the management. Management consider
observable data to be market data that is readily available, regularly
distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and
provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the

relevant market.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's financial assets and liabilities,
including quality assurance fund receivable, trade receivables,
other receivables, loans to customers, net, trade payables, other
payables and other current liabilities are recognized according to
the amortized cost. Based on the estimate of the management,
the carrying value of these financial assets and liabilities are
approximate to their fair value because most of the financial assets
and financial liabilities are within one year. Financial assets at FVPL

and financial liabilities at FVPL are measured at fair value.

A M AR R

4 SREREE (£)

43

DNABEMF (F)
AREBEEFEEBRBANQILEEER
RENHAAEBENEERMEAERN
WREERBABETE -FLME XA
BABEBNEZUDIREBARBENEE
TEHh - WEBRAABEFERATER
BAABEHABFLEAFBNAEHRE
WAE ZAEBE=-BA2 -ARET
BWABHERBAAEBEFENER LR
FEELHE EEZEEXRENREE
HE-

EEMTEEK [ABE| BAERK F2E
BEELEAHEG -ERERR UEE
BIEBEREAK EMEMALEN AERA
ZE FEAEMEBSEREMZNE
AR RIREE G T 5 BUR o

R19FNA3IB - AEENEREE K
BE PREREEREFS -BHEWK
15 HMEWHIE TP EFEE B
NRIE- -Hth B RIEREMRESEE:
TR BN AR - RN BB E NG
ZEcMEERABRNREABERAEAAE
BEE RAAKITDERMEEREED
HRA—FAN-RAABEMFABZENS
MEEREBRAAEEFABENERAE
DEAREBEZ-
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 THERER(£Z)
4.3  Fair value estimation (Cont'd) 43 DREEME (&)
The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities that TRESNAEER2019F K2018F 12 A3

are measured at fair value as at 3|1 December 2019 and 2018: BERAARBEFENEERARE:

As at 31 December 2019
20195 12A31H

Valuation techniques

and key input Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERMTEREESH F—& B B=& 5t

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®BTRT AR®TR

Assets
BE
Financial assets at FVPL — Discounted cash flow. Future
investments cash flows are estimated
based on key assumptions
including perpetual growth
rate, inflation rate, weighted
average cost of capital and
liquidity discount. - - 138,273 138,273
BRARBEFTABRN IR EMNE - RRRER
TREE-RE EENKEERE BIR
= NETFEHERKAR K
MBI ESE T ZREA
fTflEte

Financial assets at FVPL — trust Discounted cash flow. The
valuation techniques mainly
include risk-free interest
rates, benchmark interest

rates etc. - - 15,045 15,045
BRANEBEBEFAERRN AR SR E - (HERME
CRMEE—E:T ZERIERERRFI=  EXE

ELS
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4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.3  Fair value estimation (Cont'd)

Valuation techniques
and key input
HEETREESH

E MR

4 SREREE (£)

43 PAREEME (F)

As at 31 December 2019
2019 12A318

Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—& Eo& £ et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTRT AR®BTRT AR®BTR

Liabilities

=i

Financial liabilities at FVPL

BRARBEFTABRN
TRIBE

Market stock price.
Mg E -

24,370 = = 24,370
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4
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43

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 ZHEERERE (£)
Fair value estimation (Cont'd) 43 RDREBHEMGE (&)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 asset TREVHZE2I9FK2018F12A31H1E
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: EFEE=-NEETANE
As at 31 December 2018
720185 12831 H
Valuation techniques
and key input Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERMTREEESH g ER BE=/& wEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETT ARKTT
Assets
BE
Financial assets at FVPL — Discounted cash flow. Future
investments cash flows are estimated
based on key assumptions
including perpetual growth
rate, inflation rate, weighted
average cost of capital and
liquidity discount. - 425,026 425,026
BARBESABEN MBBRERE - RKBEER
THMEE-RE BEPKBERE B
T NI B AR A K
mEMTESEIERRE
it
Financial assets at FVPL — Bank quoted expected return.
wealth management products 568,959 - 568,959
RAARBETABEEW RITHR ML TR HA O R
TREE-EMEM
Financial assets at FVPL — Foreign exchange contracts.
derivative financial assets 4,262 - 4,262
BRARBEFABRD HNES 4]

TRMEE-{TESHEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 ZHEERERE (£)
4.3  Fair value estimation (Cont'd) 43  AREEME (A

As at 31 December 2018
#2018 12831 H

Valuation techniques

and key input Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERM R EEZH E— ER BE=/R 5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTRT ARBTT ARETT

Liabilities
&8fE
Financial liabilities at FVPL Market stock price. 70,529 — — 70,529
BAREEFAERZD M5 (E -
TRBE
The following table presents the changes in level 3 asset TREHNHZE2019FK20I18F12A31H1E
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: FEF=HEETIAENE
Year ended 3| December
BZNAIBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
At the beginning of the year RED 425,026 425,093
Addition NE 55,790 30,000
Fair value losses AVIIEIEE=ES (46,487) (16,389)
Disposals k= (281,011) (13,678)
At the end of the year RER 153,318 425,026
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A MR MR

5  CREDIT FACILITATION AND SERVICE FEE 5 FERaRBBE
Year ended 31 December
HEENAIALEE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Upfront credit facilitation service fee AHEERERGE 740,271 [,414,185
Post credit facilitation service fee BEHREERERBEE 432,811 641,346
1,173,082 2,055,531
Note: The unsatisfied performance obligation as at 3/ December 2019 Wtet - 12019912431 B AR ZHIBHI B L H BARK
was approximately RMB37,359,000. Management expects that 137,359,0007C &2 BB A] 7 Bl ZR2019% 124
T A3 BB BI99% IR A A —
99% of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts 3//9*%(7:’ @ﬁ?x BEGIHRIAR S =@
) , . A AR B
as at 31 December 2019 will be recognized as revenue within the
next twelve months.
6 OTHER REVENUE 6 H Uk 5

Year ended 3| December
BZNA3IBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥TTT

Payment service fee X RRT B 267,326 75438
Insurance commission income RS U A 47,700 30,656
Interest income of loans to customers MEFPEZRHFEWMA 27,518 91,107
Overdue charges BMHE R 15,472 45,098
Others Hth 72,888 55,427

430,904 297,726
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company who reviews consolidated results of the
Group when making decisions about resources allocation and assessing
the performance of the Group. The executive directors consider that
the Group operates in one business segment and the measurement of
segment result is based on “Operating (loss)/profit” as presented in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss)/income.

The majority of the Group's activities are carried out in mainland China
during the years presented and the majority of the Group's assets
and liabilities are located in mainland China. Accordingly, no analysis by

geographical basis for the years are presented.

The Group has a large number of customers, no revenue from any
individual customer exceeded 10% or more of the Group's revenue

during the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The Group's non-current assets other than financial instruments were

located in the PRC as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

E MR

2GR
ITRRERRENEERARANRITES
HAEFLHABERD KRR LA GANEER
iﬁh%ﬁﬁﬁ‘*@ﬁ’]m/\ii CHITEERR/AN

BEE—EXBI AR BEAFEDER
,Zv?\/.:\.’i\ﬁ BR) /RERMEINN[&E (E
8) /A ]

REBRFERN AEEOAFLEHRPEA
WHEEKAESENABLOEERABLRHE
A Bt REFFEARE25)RBEE D
B AT

AEBEBBRERZFE REZE2019F %20I18F
RABLFE BERBTAEETL K
B A AN 52 B Wk 2 9 1 0%k BA E o

2019 N2018F12A31H AEEK T T
BIONMIERBEEHIMURFEH -
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A MR MR

8 EXPENSES BY NATURE

BUEE s HRAX

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

252

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTR
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) EEBAFE (M59) 508,756 766,083
Marketing and advertising fees HHREEE 439,754 592,382
Fund transfer charges BE2ERER 327,194 194,040
External technical service fees SNEB I AT AR 7% B 252,902 238,059
Depreciation and amortization e R 94,081 66,433
Referral service expense NEREFE 40,591 48,126
Professional service fees HEERGE 38,012 26,682
Insurance commissions REBRAEFX 30,925 27,339
Office expenses /N3 19,988 26,752
Office rental N 5,422 19,189
Listing expenses EWRAX - 37,275
Others Ht 53,583 74,064
Total origination and servicing expenses, sales and ~ #fIE KRS - HE R & HA T -
marketing expenses, general and administrative — R R AT B 32 % B 8 B S O 42 N
expenses and research and development expenses 1,811,208 2,116,424

Note: Incremental costs to obtain arrangements where the Group is not the
loan originator are generally expensed off when incurred, because the
amortization periods of these incremental costs are one year or less. These

costs are recorded as sales and marketing expenses.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

A M AR R

9 EEEMAX

Year ended 3| December
BENAIBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥ETTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses TIT& #HHa RIEA 283,298 423819
Pension costs — defined contribution plans RIKE KA — R EH—KEE 27,064 34,214
Other social security costs, housing benefits and B MR - EERA &
other employee benefits Hihig BEF 67,841 103,130
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 31) VARG A7 7 L0 60 37 BN B 2 (B 3E31) 130,553 204,920
508,756 766,083
Note: Majority of the Group's contributions to pension plans are related to Hiat: ZNEFay A B 5 Rk 2 (1 50 6 B & 2 5 #H
the local employees in the PRC. All local employees of the subsidiaries in [ o P BB 2 B T B = I S 15 22 B P B A
the PRC participate in employee social security plans established in the EEHEREFE BFRIkS BEEEME
PRC, which cover pension, medical and other welfare benefits. According Fil o 1RIE B FFAE Bl - |3k 7t & 1RIE ST 2] BT 48 F #Y
to the relevant regulations, the portion of premium and welfare benefit FREFHET NG BEAEMREREFIESN  FE
contributions that should be borne by the companies within the Group HIESE B LR E S BH D HET - # 220194 %2018
as required by the above social security plans are principally determined F 12831 HIFFZEA B RAZIREHE 7 HE
based on percentages of the basic salaries of employees. The applicable SR -

percentages used to provide for these social security plans for the years
ended 3/ December 2019 and 2018 are listed below:

Percentage-2019  Percentage-20/8
Bt —2019%F B3 H—20184F

Pension insurance
Medical insurance
Unemployment insurance

Housing fund

RINREE 14.0~20.0% 14.0~20.0%
EEIRE 57-11.7% 52~100%
KERE 05~08% 05~0.8%
FEEZ 12.0% 12.0%
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9  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont'd) 9 EEEANBEX(Z)
(@)  Senior management’s remuneration @ BEREBEAENHE
Senior management includes directors and other senior executives. EREEAEBRREEREMERITH
The aggregate compensation paid/payable to senior management AE -BEERBEMENT BN FESHRE
for employee services excluding the directors, whose details have BAB (TEEFEERMBAMGEIONE
been reflected in Note 10, is as follows: B)NEFIOT

Year ended 3| December
BENAIBLEE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR¥ETTT

Salaries e 2,965 4279
Discretionary bonus B IE4L 482 1,266
Pension costs-defined contribution plan RIKE KA EHFEE 142 257

Other social security costs, housing benefits ~ E A+ R AN « (B & | &
and other employee benefits Hithfg 54& 7 248 416
Share-based compensation expenses LA RR A7) 72 EE B8t 9 357 B 5 =2 32,866 84,509
36,703 90,727
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont'd)

@)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Senior management’s remuneration (Cont'd)

The emoluments of the senior management fell within the

following bands:

A M AR R

9 REEEAMAX(E)

@ SREBAENME (Z)
SRBEEAENTHNFUTEHE :

Number of individuals

A"
2019 2018
HK$nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 702 1,000,00078 7T - =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001,% 7T Z 1,500,000/ 7T - =
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T 22,000,000/ 7T I -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T 22,500,000/ 7T - =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T 23,000,000/ 7T - =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,00 | 7% 7T 2 3,500,000/ 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 3,500,00 | 745 7T 25,000,000/ 7T - =
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7 JT 25,500,000/ 7T I
HK$5,500,001 to HK$7,500,000 5,500,001 7T 27,500,000/ 7T I =
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 7 7T 28,000,000/ 7T -
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 8,000,00 | % 7T 28,500,000/ 7T - =
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,500,001 7 7T 29,000,000/ 7T -
HK$9,000,001 to HK$ 14,000,000 9,000,001 JT 2 1 4,000,0007% 7T I =
HK$14,000,001 to HK$ 14,500,000 14,000,001 % 7T 2 14,500,000/ 7T -
HK$ 14,500,001 to HK$20,000,000 14,500,001 7 7T 220,000,000/ 7T - —
HK$20,000,001 to HK$20,500,000 20,000,001 7% 7T 220,500,000/ 7T -
HK$20,500,001 to HK$24,500,000 20,500,001 7% 7T £ 24,500,000/% 7T I =
HK$24,500,001 to HK$25,000,000 24,500,001 7 7T 225,000,000/ 7T -
HK$25,000,001 to HK$26,000,000 25,000,001 7% 7T £ 26,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$26,000,001 to HK$26,500,000 26,000,001 7% 7T £26,500,0007% 7T -
5 7
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10 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10 ESEM
The remuneration of every director of the Company for the year ended HZEWIVFNAIIBIEFEARNRBEZEEN
31 December 2019 is set out as follows: HEE S AT
Other social
security costs,
Pension housing
costs - benefits Share-
defined and other based
Director’s Discretionary  contribution employee  compensation
fee Salaries bonus plan benefits expenses Total
At
HRAE

RfeHE  HREA NS

-RE Rt RE#EM
 E20k #e  BERA HXGE  BEEN  HEEX At
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARBTL ARBTL ARETI ARETRE ARETI ARETR ARETR

Executive directors HirEs

Sun Hattao (a) BEEQ - 557 203 7 60 52,206 53,053
Yang Yuzhi (b) BEFR () - 448 76 27 60 18,234 18,845
Zhao Ke (b) 8 (b) - 461 04 7 60 2,755 23527
Non-executive director FHTES

Zouunli (b) FEED) - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUKHTES

WongTi (c) IR () 282 - - - - - 282
Wang Zhaocheng (c) TR 108 - - - - - 108
Ye Xiang (c) £A0© 247 = = = = - 247
Yang Dong (d) BR(d) 140 - - - - - 140

71 1,466 503 8l 180 93,195 96,202

256 | 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2019 Annual Report



10

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E MR

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Cont'd) 10 EEFHM(E)

The remuneration of every director of the Company for the year ended HZEWISFNAIBILEFEARNRBEZEER

31 December 2018 is set out as follows: SmE T

Other social
security costs,
Pension housing
costs — benefits Share-
defned  and other based
Director's Discretionary  contribution employee  compensation
fee Salaries bonus plan benefits expenses Total
Htfy
MR
BIERA  EREN N3
-RE REM  BERH
EEka e BRREL  HIEE  EERM  HFMEX @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARBTR

Executive directors HOES

Sun Haitao (a) %BE@ - 545 26 26 56 37,554 38407

Yang Yuzhi (b) BEE(b) - £l 144 % 56 23863 24520

Zhao Ke (b) H#(b) = 545 251 26 56 21,359 2237

Non-executive director FHTES

Zou Yunli (b) BEED) = = = = = = =

Independent non-executive directors BV FHITES

WongTi (0 TR0 128 - - - - - 128

Wang Zhaocheng (c) FE#K() 104 - - - - = 104

Ye Xiang (c) 23 104 - - - - - 104

336 1,521 621 78 168 82,776 85,500

Notes: Bt 5

(@)  Appointed as director of the Company in September 2017; (@) MRWITFIABZERKARES:

(b)  Appointed as director of the Company in November 2017; (b) RW0I7FIIBEZERARANES:

() Appointed as director of the Company in February 2018, and Mr. Wang (0 RWISF2AREZERARAES : REAKELEE
Zhaocheng resigned in June 2019; 201956 A BHE

(d)  Appointed as director of the Company in June 2019; (d) RWIIFABEZERRARES:

(e)  Except for Zou Yunli, no director waived or has agreed to waive any () MRBEBIN BE019F12A3IBLEFE HE
remuneration during the year ended 31 December 2019. No Director EENELXRBRETATEHH - Z=20185F 128
waived or has agreed to waive any remuneration during the year ended 3| SIRESFE BEESEHEXREREETMS
December 2018, i o

® As at 31 December 2019, there were no loans, quasi-loans and other ® R2019F12A31A  MENEE EFHNIIEH

dealing arrangements in favour of the Directors, controlled bodies corporate

by and controlled entities with such Directors.

FERZEHERATEANER EEHRRE
35 %8
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS I EEESHFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for HEWIOFNAIBILFE AEBREESH
each of the year ended 3| December 2019 include 3 (2018: 3) directors AT BIEIBREE (2018F :357)  HF B
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 10. The MR 5 1OFT R Y D 4T - 8 22019F 12 A31 H
emoluments payable to the remaining 2 individuals for the year ended 31 IEFE AT 28 AL (2018F 1 2% ) 8 %
December 2019 (2018:2) are as follows: Ean T -

Year ended 3| December
BZNA3IBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥EFTTT

Salaries e 967 1,269
Discretionary bonus BB IEAL 140 343
Pension costs — defined contribution plan RIRE AR — FE HERRGTHE 67 100
Other social security costs, housing benefits and B MR - EERA K&
other employee benefits Hitb g 8487 91 123
Share-based compensation expenses LA &A% 70 ZE Tt 69 357 B A =2 26,905 41,084
28,170 42919
The emoluments fell within the following bands: HINFIATEE :

Number of individuals

EEA"™

2019 2018
HK$ nil to HK$ 1,000,000 T T2 1,000,000 7T — =
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T 22,500,000/ 7T I =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T 23,000,000 7T - -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,00 | 7% 7T 2 3,500,000/ 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$21,500,000 3,500,001 7% 7T 221,500,000 7T - -
HK$21,500,001 to HK$22,500,000 21,500,001 & 7T 222,500,000/ 7T I =
HK$22,500,001 to HK$24,500,000 22,500,001 7% 7T £ 24,500,000/ 7T - =

HK$24,500,001 to HK$25,000,000 24,500,001 7% 7T 25,000,000 7T -
HK$25,000,001 to HK$25,500,000 25,000,001 7% 7T £ 25,500,000/ 7T - -
HK$25,500,001 to HK$26,000,000 25,500,001 7% 7T £26,000,000/% 7T - -

HK$26,000,001 to HK$26,500,000 26,000,001 7% 7T £26,500,0007% 7T -
2 2
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A M AR R

OTHER LOSSES, NET

12 HAEEF

#

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTR
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL BEANBEFABENEREEN
ARBEEEE (137,303) (3911
Dividend income from an investee REFERE R AR EUWA 16,103 11,083
Fair value (loss)/gain on foreign exchange contracts FMNE& #IMQ R EE (F518) W (2,154) 4262
Quality assurance fund loss, net (Note 23) EERFLEEFE (M3323) (858,457) (345,854)
Government grants (a) BT B (2) 21,113 6,705
Interest expenses to trust senior tranche holders BB ERFEANNERX
(Note 26) (Ht3E26) (8,946) (44,640)
ECL for financial assets other than quality BRIEM ENEERFS AN
assurance fund receivable/payable (b) CRIEENTERERBER(D) (407,008) (258,375)
Impairment loss (c) VEAIEEEEN() (184,652) =
Others Hity 1,823 791
(1,559,481) (629,939)

(@)  Government grants represented various subsidies granted by the

government authorities which are not asset related to the Group.

(b) The composition of ECL provided for the years ended 3l

December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

() BUTHBIIERBHEAR TS HEMER
HEAREEMNEERR-

(b) BE2019F K2018FN2A3IALEFE &
HERBERBEBAXNOT

Year ended 31 December

BZNA3IBLEEE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFTT
Contract assets (Note 24) SHEE (5E24) (246,394) (212,636)
Loans to customers, net (Note 26) BERERFHE (M3H26) (85,698) (45,469)
Trade receivables (Note 25) B 5 WA (B EE25) (74,916) (270)
(407,008) (258,375)
SUSARAERAR F£H2019 | 209



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR MR

12 OTHER LOSSES, NET (Cont'd)

12 HMESERFE (&)

() The composition of impairment loss provided for the years ended () BE2I9F K20I18F12A31BLFE &
31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows: BEEEBEEHEAKRDT :
Year ended 3| December
BZNA3IBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥EFTTT
Goodwill impairment (Note |8) PR E (FEE18) (145,788) =
Impairment on investments accounted for ERAEREARNIRERE (FEE19)
using equity method (Note 19) (38,864) =
(184,652) -
13 FINANCE EXPENSES, NET 13 BB FEE
Year ended 3| December
BZN2A3IBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥EFTT
Finance income BRI
Interest income on bank deposits |RITERFLBIA (35,202) (24,054)
Exchange gains, net M 5 U % 7 2R = (2,842)
Finance income S (35,202) (26,896)
Finance expenses BHBHEE
Interest and finance charges paid/payable for HMIERAABEFABRD
financial liabilities not at FVPL EREBEDHN EANFE
KEIHER 36,626 51270
Exchange losses, net IE X B8 55 3,590 -
Finance expenses 7% 2 40,216 51,270
Finance expenses, net MR %5 5,014 24,374

260
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A M AR R

14 INCOMETAX CREDIT 14 FrEHiiEeE
Year ended 31 December
BENAIBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AR¥ETTT
Current income tax BNERFT 1S H1 10,092 21,185
Deferred income tax BERTISH (186,454) (109,328)
(176,362) (88,143)
The tax on the Group's (loss)/profit before income tax differs from the REERMAEBA (BE) % F 8T E AR R
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate applicable MAAMHER (BER) SHEMERNETER Rt
to (loss)/profit of the consolidated entities as follows: EEELEMNIERESE WX
Year ended 3| December
BZNANALEE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTT
(Loss)/profit before income tax: MATEBLAT (BEB), B8R (1,287,405) 2,080,624
Tax calculated at PRC statutory income tax L BUATE PTAS BT 3 25%
rate of 25% FTEHIE (321,851) 520,156
Tax effects of: AT EBENHRBERE
Preferential income tax rates applicable MEBAREANESRMEHBX
to subsidiaries 140,966 (19,240)
Effects from change of tax rates 1 3 BB ) R (1,612) (4,254)
Effect from fair value change of preferred shares {Eﬁﬂx@ﬁfﬂﬁ AR R 2 = (485,555)
Unrecognized deductible temporary differences AERAHR TR ERE R
and other permanent differences H Mok AEZERE 42,963 (18,672)
Research and development tax credit R NI R (38,332) (40,687)
Reversal/(utilisation) of unrecognized deductible BE (FR)AFERER
temporary differences in prior years AR 1 = 4 1,504 (39,891)
Income tax credit FriSBiiE % (176,362) (88,143)
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INCOME TAX CREDIT (Cont'd)

The Group's main applicable taxes and tax rates are as follows:

Cayman Islands

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the current
tax laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on
income or capital gains. In addition, no withholding tax will be imposed to

dividends distributed by the Company to its shareholders.

BVI
The Group's entities incorporated in BVI are not subject to tax on

income or capital gains.

HK
The Group's entities incorporated in HK are subject to profits tax rate of
16.5%.

Within the PRC

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law"),
the enterprises incorporated within the PRC are generally subject to a
uniform enterprise income tax rate of 25%, except for entities qualified as
“High and New Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE") or “Small Low-profit
Enterprise” for which preferential tax treatments are granted under the
EIT Law.

Yaku Shikong and Shouhui Shidai were qualified as HNTEs in 2014 and
2015; Dingli Technology, Yiniu Network and Kaizhuo Technology were
qualified as HNTEs in 2017; Enniu Network and Zhenniu Information
were qualified as HNTEs in 2019. They were entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% for three years. The HNTE qualification is subject

to renewal every three years.
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INCOME TAX CREDIT (Cont'd)

Within the PRC (Cont'd)

Guangxi Jiahai Technology Co., Ltd. was qualified as Small Low-profit
Enterprise under the EIT Law in 2019 and was entitled to a preferential

income tax rate of 10% for the year ended 31 December 2019.

All other subsidiaries of the Company established within the PRC were

subject to enterprise income tax rate of 25%.

Withholding Tax on Undistributed Profits

According to the EIT Law, distribution of profits earned by the companies
in China since | January 2008 to foreign investors is subject to
withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending on the country of incorporation
of the foreign investor, upon the distribution of profits to overseas-

incorporated immediate holding companies.

The Group does not have any plan to require its subsidiaries in China
to distribute their retained earnings and intends to retain them to
operate and expand its business within the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred
income tax liability on withholding tax for the undistributed profits of the

subsidiaries in China has been accrued.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(@)  Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/
profit of the Group attributable to owners of the Group by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year. The weighted average number of ordinary shares has reflected

the effect of share split as disclosed in Note |.2.

14

A M AR R

FEHER (&)

BREZENMEBERARR09FRECEMS
BOEWBE R/PNBEUIA % - B RNEZ2019
FRAJNALFEZH IS BEMFHRE-

RABRFBIR AR PTE E AN B A RA
BB DR

R TRER B FE B

BIBECEMEHE TRARBITMRINE
BEER D R IR & R R - A ER A & 52008
FIA B RRIRINGE B DR FT B R 78
125%3% 1 0% KTt R BANTEINRL - R T ZIBIMEE
&M AL ATE A o

REBYEFFEZREPEFAME QR DIK
HREAMN BERBETFBEIRAKNBRRRE
HEAZNAETEEARERIRAEER R
it BB R B A E AR R0 RSN ELE
HEMH AR ELEREHRARE:

Bk (B8 B

() BREX(HE) /BIDEARERA
ABEAREEER (BA),5 R AE
RE BT R T 19 Bt E - H AR
MMET BB RBRIH S FOFE (R
1 2508 -

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEEE

2019 2018
(Loss)/earnings attributable to owners of REBEES AEIE (BEB) T
the Group (RMB'000) (AR®BTFT) (1,128,878) 2,162,084
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E@RINGE T2
shares in issue  ('000) (F&) 999,772 563,603
Basic (loss)/earnings per share FREAX (EB) BT
(expressed in RMB) (AAR®BHIR) (1.13) 3.84
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A MR MR

I5 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Cont'd)

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to

assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

For the year ended 3| December 2018, diluted earnings per
share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding by the assumption of the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares arising from
share options and restricted share units (“RSUs") granted by the
Company (collectively forming the denominator for computing

diluted earnings per share). No adjustment is made to earnings

(numerator).

As the Group incurred losses for the year ended 31 December
2019, the potential ordinary shares were not included in the
calculation of dilutive loss per share, as their inclusion would be

antidilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the year ended

31 December 2019 is the same as basic loss per share.

15

sR(BR) B (&)

(b)

BREE (BR) BN DRREBRHME
ABEMEYEN T BRMmBABETEN
BB mEF BT AFE

HE018FNABILLFE ERESR
MIBBHREMEANRRR LA BRERS
PRI AR 0 BB AL ([ PR HIAR (D B8] ) $ iR
REBEESYENT BRMALERITE
ShEBAR INAE 8 (K RBKETE TR
BERBFNSF)NFTRAAE - WEER
M(HF)EHEMMAR-

MAREEREE2019F12831BILEE
EEEE REFESRESHERTE
FAREBEERR RASF REELBR
HAARBEEZE -Ft B E2019F12
B3 BEFEMNSRESHIERGRER
EiEMAR -

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEEE

264

2019 2018

(Loss)/earnings attributable to owners of REBEES AEIS (BEB)

the Group (RMB'000) wA (ARSFT) (1,128,878) 2,162,084
Weighted average number of ordinary BEITE AR MNETHE (FR)

shares in issue ('000) 999,772 563,603
Adjustments for share options and RSUs T BB eI KR HIR G

granted to employees ('000) BAEEFARE (TR) = 92,713
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FA R aT B &R EE (&18)

for calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings 2 8 38 A% N T 15 B

per share ('000) (F5&) 999,772 656,316
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREE (58) &F

(expressed in RMB) (AAR®BIITR) (1.13) 329
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16 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET l6 YERBRERE

Computer Office
and electronic ~ furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment improvements Building vehicles Total
Bk HAKAR
EFRHE R HERE L RE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTLT ARWTR ARETRE ARBTR ARBTR AR%®Tx
Cost A
As at | January 2019 R2019%1 A 18 105,042 21,595 90,712 105,215 1,491 324,055
Addition from purchases BERE 2,179 539 3,281 = khy) 6,321
Disposal RE (4,550) (2518) - - - (7,068)
Assets dlassified as held for sale PERFBELHEZEE (46) (86) (10) - = (142)
As at 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31R 102,625 19,530 93,983 105,215 1,813 323,166
Accumulated depreciation BT E
As at | January 2019 R2019%1 A 18 (45,813) (10,283) (23,696) (7,497) (426) (87,715)
Depreciation charge for the year FANERY (24,749) (9,109) (22,875) (4,997) (361) (62,091)
Disposal BE 4,207 1,532 - - - 5,739
Assets classified as held for sale PEARELECEE 31 55 - - - 86
As at 31 December 2019 R2019F12H31R (66,324) (17,805) (46,571) (12,494) (787) (143,981)
Net book value REFE
As at 3| December 2019 R2019F12A31R 36,301 1,725 47412 92,721 1,026 179,185
SIEA+ERAR £82019 265
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A MR MR

I6 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Cont'd)

l6 MERRBFREE)

Computer Office
and electronic ~ furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment improvements Building vehicles Total
Bk HAKAR
EFRHE R HERE L RE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR ARBTRT AR®TR

Cost AR A

As at | January 2018 201841 A1 H 76,183 20,550 57,862 102,156 1491 258242
Addition from purchases BERE 4909 13,192 32850 3,059 = 92010
Disposal BE (14050) (12,147) = = = (26,197)
As at 31 December 2018 #2018 128318 105,042 21,595 90,712 105215 1491 324,055
Accumulated depreciation Rt &

As at | January 2018 201841 A1 H (21,592) (5022) (7.064) (2:426) 72) (36,176)
Depreciation charge for the year & T &R (28,206) (7,794) (16632) (5,071 (354) (58057)
Disposal RE 3985 2533 = = 6518
As at 31 December 2018 20185 128318 (45813) (10,283) (23,69) (7:497) (426) (87715)
Net book value REFE

As at 31 December 2018 720185128318 59,229 11312 67016 97718 1,065 236340

Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated statement

of comprehensive (loss)/income as follows:

FERXBRUATHAARGEE2E (BE) W
el

Year ended 3| December
BZN2A3IBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥EFTTT

Origination and servicing expenses PHIE R ARG 28,203 22,302
Sales and marketing expenses HERZHERAY 2,727 2,336
General and administrative expenses — MR RATHR X 9,901 9,853
Research and development expenses R 21,260 23,566

62,091 58,057
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17  LEASES

@)

E MR

17 #HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee. AN EIRE AN EFIEAEABANHEERE -
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position @ REBRERABINEHE
The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases: EEABERETNUTEHHAESHENESEE
As at As at
3| December | January
2019 2019
20195 FR20194F
12A31H IAIE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ETF T
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Buildings BT 55718 86,838
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current ok (12,012) (37,949)
Non-current FETRED (35,435) (43,970)
(47,447) 81919)
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2019 financial year RWIVFEHREERNAIENTRHELREAS
were RMBS5,240,000. A B #£5,240,0007T °
Amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive (loss)/ (b) NE2ME (BE) KWERABINSE
income
Year ended 3| December,
BENAIBLFE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ERAEEENERX
Buildings BF 30,150 N/AT i A
Depreciation charge that will be net off A ERE MU AR 2 T ER
as other income (8,855) N/A 3 A
Depreciation charge EMRX (21,295) N/A i A
Interest expense (included in finance expense) A B F = (FT A ) 2,742 N/A i A
Expense relating to short-term leases HEMEEEENRYS
(included in operating expenses) (FEAKERX) 504 N/AZR i A

The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was approximately

RMB25,126,000.

R200F HEMNRESAHBEHNAEAR
#25,126,0007T
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 EEEE
Goodwill Software Platform  Applications Licenses  Trademark Total
BE Bt ¥& 35 R (5L @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR#MTR ARBTRT ARBTR AR¥TR ARBTRT AR%TR
(Note a) (Note b)
(Bata) (H5ED)
Cost BA
As at | January 2019 R2019%1 A 18 491,303 20,473 9,810 3,260 517,200 2,358 1,044,404
Addition from purchases BERE - 4203 - - - 2914 7,117
Assets classified as held for sale A EAFEHENEE (8,926) = = = (18,200 - (27,126)
As at 31 December 2019 2019124318 482,377 24,676 9,810 3,260 499,000 5272 1,024,395
Accumulated amortization RtEH
As at | January 2019 R2019%1 A 18 = (8213) (5,722) (951) - (176) (15,062)
Amortization charge for the year  FR#$5F %
(Note ¢) (KtzEc) - (7,492) (1,962) (326) - (915) (10,695)
As at 31 December 2019 2019124318 = (15,705) (7,684) (1,277) = (1,091) (25,757)
Impairment losses HERX
Asat | January 2019 R2019FI AR - - - - - - -
Addition RE (145,788) - - - - - (145,788)
As at 31 December 2019 M2019F 124318 (145,788) - - - - - (145788)
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2019 R2019F 128318 336,589 8,971 2,126 1,983 499,000 4,181 852,850
Cost A
As at | January 2018 R2018 1 A 1B 491,303 11,884 9810 3260 517,200 = 1,033,457
Addition from purchases BERE - 9,489 - - - 2358 |'1.847
Disposal RE = (900) = = = - (900)
As at 31 December 2018 2018124318 491,303 20473 9810 3260 517,200 2358 1,044,404
Accumulated amortization EEg £
As at | January 2018 R2018 1 A 18 = (2,300) (3761) (625) = = (6,686)
Amortization charge for the year ~ F RE 5
(Note ¢) (WtzEc) = (5913) (1,961) (326) = (176) (8376)
As at 31 December 2018 2018124318 = (8213) (5722) (951) = (176) (15,062)
Net book value REFE
As at 3| December 2018 R2018F 128318 491,303 12,260 4,088 2309 517,200 2,182 1,029,342
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

@)

Impairment tests for goodwill

As at 3| December 2019, goodwill of RMB42,707,000,
RMB132,454,000, RMB307,161,000 and RMB55,000 were
recognized as the results of the acquisition of Dingli Technology
in 2016, China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (“Netcom”),
Kaizhuo Technology and Shanghai Qiandian Information Technology
Co, Ltd. in 2017 by the Group, respectively. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level by the management. The
management assessed Netcom as one separate operating segment
(“Netcom Unit") and the Group excluding Netcom as the other

operating segment (“Core Unit").

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, goodwill is allocated to the

Group's cash-generating units identified as follows:

A M AR R

18 |EE (&)

@

R R E R

20195 12A31 8 - AAREE 5 572016
FUBRENBEERER2007FRES Y
MEBERERLA ([RE@EE])
EREREBAEESRFRERAR
MR EE AR42707,00070 * AR
132,454,0007¢C * A & #307,161,0007T & A
RE55000m - BEEEREE DI EEE
REE -EEENMRRABAEELE
AHB(HEEBEM])RAEE (TH
BHRYRAB) REMEEDHB([ZLE
fiz]) -~

R2019F K2018FE12A31H BHEDER
AEECHANBSEESEMDT

As at 31 December

®WI12A318
2019 2018
Core Unit (i) %0 BB () 349,923 358,849
Netcom Unit (ii) Fp % 48 38 B8 (i) 132,454 132,454
482,377 491,303

Impairment review on the goodwill of the Group has been
conducted by the management as at 3| December 2019 and
2018 according to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets". For the purpose
of impairment review, the recoverable amount of goodwill is
determined based on the higher amount of the FVLCD and value

in use calculations.

R2019F K2018F 12831 H EEERE
B2 st ERE365 [EERE] HAE
B BETREETHN RRESEHM
T AENTRESEDNERAAEBAER
HEKARFERABEFENRS ©EE

E °
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

@)

Impairment tests for goodwill (Cont'd)

)

Core Unit

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the recoverable
amount of goodwill of Core Unit was determined based on
value in use calculations. The value in use calculations uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five year period. Key assumptions
for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation
of cash flows which include expected annual growth rate
and operating profit margin, such estimation based on
each operating unit's past performance and management's
expectations for the market development. The pre-tax
discount rates used reflect specific risks relating to each
relevant operating unit. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
key assumptions and parameter for goodwill of Core Unit

used for value in use calculations are set as below:

18

BILEE (&)
@) BERENR A

)

‘O E

72019 KX2018F 128318  #%
BumBer ko e i ERER
BEEET TREBEHERAR
SREER LEREMERER
FHMMBBEE AELE BREA
BESENIERREREREM
S (EERHFEREREENE
)G AEAADERSKES
UHBERBARBEEHMISE
RETEHAME o FTARTAIRLER & R
BB R AL S BB A ER
% o FA20194F K2018F 12 831H - A
EEABEFAENZOBAEEE
ERJLBEHHINOT

As at 31 December

®WI2A31H

2019 2018

Annual growth rates FHERX
Operating profit margin EEMBX
Pre-tax discount rate B 750 A AL 3R =X

(35.6%) — 35.6%
(74.1%) — 28.7%
16.2%

(15.2%) — 34.8%
28.9% — 36.5%
18.0%

Based on the impairment assessment review, the
recoverable amount of goodwill of Core Unit was lower
than the carrying amount, resulting in an impairment loss
of RMB62,287,000 recognized against the goodwill of Core
Unit during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

@)

(b)

Impairment tests for goodwill (Cont'd)

) Netcom Unit

As at 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount of
goodwill of Netcom Unit was determined based on FVLCD,
which was estimated by management with reference to
the transaction price of Netcom's listed shares on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Management considered the recoverable
amount of goodwill of Netcom Unit was lower than its

carrying amount as at 31 December 2019.

Based on the result of the above impairment testing, the
estimated recoverable amount was lower than its carrying
amount, resulting in an impairment loss of RMB83,501,000
recognized against the goodwill of Netcom Unit during the

year ended 3| December 2019.

Impairment tests for license

The Group tests whether the payment license with indefinite useful
life has suffered any impairment on an annual basis. The Group
compares the carrying amounts of the payment license against
their recoverable amounts (the higher amount of FVLCD and value

in use) to assessing the impairment.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of license was
RMB499,000,000. The recoverable amount of the payment license
was determined based on FVLCD, which was estimated by
management with reference to the comparable transaction cases
within one year. As the disposal consideration of which exceed the
attributable carrying amounts of the license, the Directors were of
the opinion that there was no impairment of the license as at 31
December 2019.

E MR

18 |EE (&)

@

(b)

BERERNR (&)
i) HPRAEEN

2019 128318 R EBBEN
BENATRESEIERRAAEE
BMEERABT AEEERLLE
FPEBRLETRONESHIME
RAR ([BAFT]) GEMBIRZ S5 ETE
Bl 7A2019F 12A831H BIEERA
RPEBRBEMEENTTKESEER
REREE -

R R B R B 4 R TEHA AT IR
Bl BEAREEE ZWEZE20I9
FRANBILEFERPEABRAEN
B RRE R KL A KES83,501,000
-

JE BB (B R
AEBESFAARRARNERFRANA
EREDESEAIRE  NEE KT RE
BHEmEARSTAOSE (A LER
MO ERAREREENRSE)ETH
AT RME ©

M09 12A31 R RRNEAER AR
#499,000,0007T ° 3 3 b FR &) AT Uy [B] & B
DERAABERLERANET  HERE
BEB2EZ-FRNAELBRRISEGITAA -
HREERERRIEREGREE AT
2019 128318 - EER A MBI R
(RS
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

(c)  Amortization of intangible assets

Amortization charges of intangible assets were expensed

in the following categories in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive (loss)/income:

18 \ELEE (&)
(0 B|REEERH
ERAENBRERARGAZE (BB)
/WS R AR AR A T AR B AR S8

Year ended 3| December

BZNAIBLEE

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETFTT

Origination and servicing expenses PRI R AR5 5 2 4,528 4,101
General and administrative expenses — R EITHRX 3,551 3,175
Research and development expenses R 2,616 [,100
10,695 8,376

19 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY

19 FHAEZEARAKRE

METHOD
As at 31 December
RI2A318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREF T
Associates iR /NE 117,711 144,430

The movement of the Group's interests in associates is as follows:

bl
i
)
,E
I
P

AHH BB :

B

As at 31 December

RI2A318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥EFTT
At the beginning of the year F14 144,430 145,732
Addition RNE 15,400 =
Disposal & - -
Share of losses DB E (3,255) (1,302)
Impairment loss VERIEE=EPS (38,864) =
At the end of the year FR 117,711 144,430
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY

METHOD (Cont'd)

The investments in associates as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as

follows:

A M AR R

19 EARSEEARNRKRE (&)

Percentage of

attributable

equity interest

R2019F K20184F 12 A3 BB & QA Al MR E
R

EREBS
Date of Place of
Name of Entity incorporation incorporation 2019 2018  Principal activities
EEsE =Rz B 2 =t B 3 4tk Bh TEES
Beijing Caizhiyun Investment 29 October 2014 PRC 10.00% 10.00%  Development and
Management Co,, Ltd* (a) operation of apps
IR EEREEEBRAF() 20149 10A29R A Fi 2 8 2 e A
Zhejiang Anniu Technology Co, Ltd 9 October 2016 PRC 27.25% 27.25%  Development and
(“Anniu Technology”) * (b) operation of apps
LR FREBRAF 201610898  E B MEZEM
(TZ4R#) *(b)
Hangzhou Shanniu Catering 29 August 2017 PRC 30.00% 30.00%  Catering services
Management Co,, Ltd. *
MMNEFEREERRAR 201748 A29H R BERRES
Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology 29 December 2006 PRC 49.61% 49.61%  Development and
Co, Ltd* (¢) operation of apps
IERAREHBEERRF() 20065128298 H 2% N & FE A
Hangzhou Xinyada Fantai Technology 26 May 2016 PRC 13.76% 13.76%  Technology services
Co,, Ltd* (d)
MINE HEEZ R AR A () 201645 26 H A B 1l AR 75
Shanghai Pengshu Information Technology 6 February 2016 PRC 15.42% 8.42%  Loan collection
Co, Ltd* (e) services
EEBRBESMEAERRE () 2016F2H6H B Y @l & SRR %

SIEAFBRAR #2019
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274

Bt 75 R AR B

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

@

(®)

©

On 30 October 2015, the Group acquired 10.00% equity interests
in Beijing Caizhiyun Investment Management Co, Ltd. (3£ Ef
EEREEEBMR AT, “Caizhiyun”). According to Caizhiyun's
Article of Association, the Group is entitled to appoint one director
in the Board of Directors of Caizhiyun (3 board seats in total),
and the Group's management considers that the Group has the
power to exercise significant influence in Caizhiyun through the
participation in operational and financial policy-making process.
Consequently, Caizhiyun has been accounted for the investment
using equity method. The impairment provision for this investment
has been accrued in full amount for the year ended 3| December
2019 as there is significant doubt as to Caizhiyun's ability to

continue as a going concern.

On 17 November 2016, the Group acquired 40.97% equity
interests in Anniu Technology. In July 2017, the Group disposed
10.00% equity interests at carrying amount of RMB990,000 for a
cash consideration of RMB1,250,000. In January 2018, the Group's
interests in Anniu Technology was further diluted from 30.97%
to 27.25% with the additional capital contributed by other two
shareholders. The impairment provision for this investment has
been accrued in full amount for the year ended 31 December
2019 as there is significant doubt as to Anniu Technology's ability to

continue as a going concern.

On 26 December 2017, the Group acquired 49.61% equity
interests in Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology Co., Ltd. (dE3%
IREEHRBR AT

of Association, the Group is entitled to appoint one director in

, “Juece”). According to Juece's Article

the Board of Directors of Juece (3 board seats in total), and the
Group's management considers that the Group has the power to
exercise significant influence in Juece through the participation in
operational and financial policy-making process. Consequently, Juece

has been accounted for the investment using equity method.
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19 EARSEEARNRKRE (&)

@)

(b)

20155 10A30R - A& E UKL BT &8
EREEEARAA (THMEE])10.00%
B - REVTEENEBERMAR KE
AR EENEZSZT—RES
(BEF=FAESEFEMN)  EAEENER
EBRABAEEEENBRZHLE R
HERG T BIRHMEETEERTEN -
FHit BEENREFREREAR B
Z0I9FNASIRILEE AEEEMZ
REZHEGARAERE RARGFEME
ERELERNBAENERES -

R2016F 11178 AEBEKBLFRE
40.97% X HE - FA2017F7H  AEBIZEM
B A R #990,0007T H % 10.00% % # - I}
& RE A ARI,250,0007T ° 20184 |
A BHEMMBREEMEE AEER
THERE RS A3097%E — ST B ESR
27.25% - B E20196F 12A31 B EFE K
SEERZREDBENIRRAERE  RE
EFELFRBFELLRENBENER

R20175F 128268 » N & B W 4L 7ok
FEABRBER AR (DRE]) 49.61%%
B RBARNABERMA AEFEE
ERRENEESGZT—RESE (BHF
“EEEFEM) BAEENEREERE
AEBEGRENBEB2EEE R EBUERH
FIBREHARTEEAZE N -FElL R
KHRECAEREARK.
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19 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

©)

(©

On 23 October 2017, the Group acquired |3.76% equity interests
in Hangzhou Xinyada Fantai Technology Co., Ltd. (#T/I15 HEE )z
ZRHFE AR A F], “Xinyada"). According to Xinyada's Article of
Association, the Group is entitled to appoint one director in the
Board of Directors of Xinyada (5 board seats in total), and the
Group's management considers that the Group has the power to
exercise significant influence in Xinyada through the participation
in operational and financial policy-making process. Consequently,
Xinyada has been accounted for the investment using equity

method.

On 31 December 2019, the Group held 15.42% equity interests
in Shanghai Pengshu Information Technology Co., Ltd. ( /& A7 %
= BB BRAF], “Pengshu”). According to Pengshu's Article
of Association, the Group is entitled to appoint one director in the
Board of Directors of Pengshu (5 board seats in total), and the
Group's management considers that the Group has the power to
exercise significant influence in Pengshu through the participation
in operational and financial policy-making process. Consequently,
Pengshu has been accounted for the investment using equity
method. The impairment provision for this investment has been
accrued in full amount for the year ended 31 December 2019 as
there is significant doubt as to Pengshu's ability to continue as a

going concern.

E MR

19 EARSEEARNRKRE (&)

(d)

(®)

20175 104238 - AR & B U B AN 15 7
EZEMEAERAT (MEHE]) 13.76%
BiE-REBEEHRENABEREZMA A%
EERANEHENESSEZHE—RES
(BEFRAESEMN)  EAEENER
EBRABAEEEENBRZHLE R
BORHIFT B S ETEEATE N -
it EHRENREFTAEREAR.

MR2019F 128318 A&EBFE LEH
HFEEREER AR ([FAS]) 1542%
EoRBERENERMERMA AEEA
RSN EEFSERT—REF (BHE
hEEEEMN)  EAEENETEEERE
RNEBBRENF B EEKE RV BRI
FIBREHRAHMTEEATE N At A
HRIREFAEREAR - HZE2019F12
A3RIEFE AEEERZIEE D
RAEERE REARTFERBFEL LR
TIHERAR E N EE -
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19 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY 19 FRESREARNKRE (&)
METHOD (Cont'd)
Set out below is the summarized financial information of the Group's TXEINFEARDEARNASBEZEREQ
major associate, Juece, which is accounted for using equity method. FORFEHB BRI E
Juece
RE
3| December
12A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Current assets mBEE 34,026 44,012
Non-current assets EREBEE 244 747
Current liabilities mEAE 3210 10,100
Non-current liabilities FERBAE = =
Revenue W z= 35,146 80,507
(Loss)/profit for the year FN(EER), S5 F (3,599) 2,296
Set out below is the reconciliation of summarised financial information of TXEINNANANBOEEBENGDRENITEE
the Group's major associate, Juece, presented to the carrying amount of A EHEEREE RN RNESABREEMNEER-

its interest in the associated.

Juece

RE

3| December
12A318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®ETTT

Net assets at the beginning of the year FNEESE 34,659 32,363
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(EE)EF (3,599) 2,296
Net assets at the end of the year FREEFE 31,060 34,659
Interest in associates NN o = 49.61% 49.61%
Goodwill e 69,780 69,780
Carrying value BRmEE 85,189 86,974
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E MR

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 20 BAAREBEFTABENERMEE

As at 31 December

MI12B31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AR®ETT

Included in non-current assets STARBEE
— Investment in ordinary shares with preferential —RIFFHELEFEEN L BRD
liquidation rights (a) # & () 97,634 335,152
— Investments in investment funds (b) —RIREESHEE b) 40,407 78,353
— Investments in trust —REFEIIRE 15,045 -
— Investment in equity host securities —RERBHFNIEE 232 11,521
153,318 425,026
Included in current assets FARBEE
— Wealth management products — B Em = 568,959
— Derivative financial assets —TEERMEE - 4,262
= 573,221
153,318 998,247
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Bt 75 R AR B

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (Cont'd)

(@)

The Group made investments in ordinary shares with liquidation
preference rights of certain companies that are engaged in
providing internet information and technology services. These
investments contain embedded derivatives that are not closely
related to the host contract. After considering the Group's
investment objectives and intentions, the Group does not

bifurcate the embedded derivatives from the host instruments and

recognizes the entire hybrid contracts as financial assets at FVPL,

with the changes in the fair value recorded in “Other losses, net”
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss)/income. The
Company determines the respective fair values as at the year end
based on the expected discounted cash flow and market multiple

of comparable companies.

20 ERD

REEFABENEREE (&)

AEBRENERHG LED RBEMRE
METRARANMERLEEENEBK-
E%%&éfAﬁEﬁiI & H)30 Ik & Y1 AR B AV R

ARTET A -RERAEENRERF
RE M- $Eliiﬁﬂﬁm7\_§m$lﬁ
HErTASH MEEBREEAELHER
REARDBEFABRNEHEE ’A/‘D

BEZNGa2mE (BE) hax
A [ B A 1855 °$’AET1I\ETJ§?EEHES
RASRERAIE LB QRN TS G HE
ERFERNBBEASLEE-

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
At the beginning of the year F4 335,152 353,060
Additions NE 15,167 10,000
Fair value losses of investment in ordinary shares BB 5C/5 B L BIREE R
with preferential liquidation rights N EEEE (3,586) (27,908)
Disposal Sk (249,099)
At the end of the year ExR 97,634 335,152
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(®)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

E MR

20 BARBEFABENERMEE (£)
In April 2019, the Group made investments of RMB5,000,000 in (b)

certain funds to invest in industry value chain. The Group managed

and evaluated these investments on a fair value basis. These

investments were recognized as financial assets at FVPL upon initial

recognition.

R2019F47 - AEBRETESREAR
#5,000,0000T AR EEXEEBEH A&
ERANBEEEEELTFHZSRE -
ZERERVN T BREWRERBIEAE
B ABENEREE-

As at 31 December

RWI2A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

At the beginning of the year F14 78,353 59,801
Additions NE 5,000 20,000
Fair value (loss)/gain of investments in RIREESRENDREE

investment funds (E18) s (42,946) 12,230
Disposal & — (13,678)
At the end of the year FR 40,407 78,353
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280

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The amount of offsetting deferred income tax assets and liabilities is
approximately RMB13,225,000 as at 31 December 2019 (31 December

2018: RMB54,195,000).

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

21 EEEFRBH

B : AR #54,1950007T) °

RO19F1N2A3IBEBELEMSHEERARE
M &% A4 ANR13,2250007T (20184 12 A3

HELEHRBREEREEHARBENDTWT

As at 31 December

RI2A318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETF T
Deferred income tax assets: RIEFTSHEE
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — #1218 A & Uk E 299,509 276,495
— to be recovered within |2 months — B 1218 B Rk E 104,610 -
404,119 276,495
Amount offset deferred tax assets HIHELERIBEEN (13,225) (54,195)
Total deferred tax assets FEETRIBEEET 390,894 222,300
Deferred income tax liabilities: RIEFBHAE:
— 1o be recovered after more than 12 months — R 1218 B & Y Bl (137,135) (157,189)
— 1o be recovered within 12 months — R 1218 B A Y [E] (8,264) (47,258)
(145,399) (204,447)
Amount offset deferred tax liabilities HHRER AR ENESE 13,225 54,195
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified HOBARKIELEZEE
as held for sale BERHEBENEE 4,550 =
Total deferred tax liabilities REHIEBERR (127,624) (150,252)
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21  DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont'd) 21 EFEFREBHR (&)
The gross movements of deferred income tax assets were as follows: BEFRSHREENES T :
Net impact
of revenue
and risk Other
reserve fund Advertising temporary
recognition expenses Tax losses differences Total
L6953
ERG#E
HEmRR Hity
HELE BEERX BEER ORER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARBTT ARETT AR®TZ
As at 31 December 2017 R2017F12A31R 72514 18,812 430 12,800 104,556
Changes due to the adoption of IFRS 9 R AN B BR B 7 3R 25 2E R 55957
EEMEY 2916 - - - 2916
Restated balance as at | January 2018 R20I8FEI A I AR EF ek 95,430 18812 430 12,800 127,472
As at | January 2018 R20I18FIAIR 95,430 18,812 430 12,800 127,472
Recognized in the profit or loss REBHER (95,430) (18,102) 91,619 170,936 149,023
As at 3| December 2018 R2018F12A31R 710 92,049 183,736 276,495
Changes due to the adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 2.2) RME RIS RE LR E 65
EERES (ME22) - - - 218 218
Restated balance as at | January 2019 201951 BB WGBSR - 710 92,049 183,954 276,713
As at | January 2019 20191 A1H = 710 92,049 183,954 276,713
Recognized in the profit or loss RIBEER 104,610 (678) (64,638) 88,112 127,406
As at 3| December 2019 20195128318 104,610 32 27411 272,066 404,119
The gross movements of deferred income tax liabilities were as follows: BREFRGHABENESHOT
Net impact Intangible
of revenue Unrealised assets
and risk profits from Unrealised acquired
reserve fund consolidated investment in business
recognition  trust schemes gains combination Total
L6954
B EE REZSE REH
Ee®R GREFEN RER  AHPRE
NEXE  RRRER REWE WEKEE £
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETE AREKTRT AR%TR
As at 3| December 2017 20175128318 (16,896) (26,825) (133,165) (176,886)
Changes due to the adoption of IFRS 9 R 40 BUBR Bt 75 4R 25 22 R 5957
EENE 12,134 - - 12,134
Restated balance as at | January 2018 R2018F I AIBHE BT R (4.762) (26,825) (133,165) (164,752)
As at | January 2018 A2018F 1 A1H (4762) (26,825) (133,165) (164,752)
Recognized in the profit or loss RIB R (36,636) (5,860) 2,458 343 (39,695)
As at 3| December 2018 M20I18F 128318 (36,636) (10,622) (24,367) (132,822) (204,447)
As at | January 2019 20191 A 1B (36,636) (10,622) (24,367) (132,822) (204,447)
Recognized in the profit or loss RIBHER 36,636 2,358 19,711 343 59,048
As at 31 December 2019 R2019E 128318 - (8,264) (4,656) (132,479) (145,399)
SIHEAFAERAR g0 281



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR MR

22

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

22 FEAFEREMEVRIRE

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTR
Included in non-current assets: STAERBEE:
Rental deposits Heke 4,464 7,531
Included in current assets: FTARBEE -
Deposits bi7&n 228,811 112,775
Receivables from investees FEWIZ & & R IA 44,150 =
Withholding tax paid on behalf of grantees under KK E B BE T SRR A
employee incentive schemes Y ATEIFEIF 31,040 42,508
Prepaid expense TERT R 20,282 45,023
Receivable on behalf of customers for REREF B AR FE YR 1E
payment service - 49,203
Receivable from disposal of bad debts e B 15 AR 9 FE WA = 23,100
Others Hit 62,245 50,314
390,992 330,454
23 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 23 ENREWREERES

TREHNEZE219F M20I8F 2831 HIEFE
AEERNEERZLHNED:

The following table sets forth the Group's quality assurance fund payable

movements for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

As at 31 December

RI2B318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥EFTT
Opening balance B EER 1,524,621 1,767,210
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 1R & FA R B 75 e 5 ZE
FEIREHEE) N/A 7 iE H (10,828)
Fair value of newly written quality assurance obligation ¥Ts] 2R EFETHWAREE 2,838,588 2,393,887
ECL for quality assurance fund (Note 12) EERIBeMBEHMERESX
(Ht3E12) 810,466 423,489
Release of the margin (Note 12) R RE S (MFE12) (239,335) (178,537)
Payouts during the year, net F N FFE (3,374,845) (2,870,600)
Ending balance HR A8k 1,559,495 1,524,621
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QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 23

(Cont'd)

The following table sets forth the Group's quality assurance fund

receivable movements for the years ended 3| December 2019 and 2018:

A M AR R

EAREKEERES (&)

TR EZE2019F K20I18F 12831 B ILEE
AEERKEERZFSHESD:

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR
Opening balance RIS 812,078 1,407,981
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 IR 7 R B R B 75 e 45 22 A
FIFEMEE) N/A & F (46,960)
Fair value of newly written quality assurance obligation ¥zl ZE ERFEEEM A LEE 2,838,588 2,393,887
ECL for quality assurance fund (Note 12) BERFEWBHERBLX
(Ht3E12) (287,326) (100,902)
Contribution received from borrowers EFALE (2,796,539) (2,841,928)
Ending balance BAR &gk 566,801 812,078
As at
31 December
2018 As at 3| December 2019
R2018%F
12A31H R2019%12A318
ECL staging
RHERBARR
Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F-KR E-RR  E=ER @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARWMTR AR¥TR ARBTRT AR®TR
Quality assurance fund receivable WL ERES 1,291,203 104,860 682,785 1,333,252
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (a) AR B R B 7 e o 2
FW TS M TR
EREXERQ (479,125) (49749)  (667,253)  (766451)
Quality assurance fund EhEERELFHE
receivable, net 812,078 55,111 15,532 566,801
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23 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 23 ERAREKWEERFES (£)

(Cont'd)

(@)  The following table explains the changes in the ECL allowance of (@) TROPEERHFBEZE219FK20185F 124
quality assurance fund receivable by stage for the year ended 3l IR FEEREKEERZESTEREZAHE
December 2019 and 2018: LB ENEE

Year ended 3| December 2019
BZ2019512831ALEE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
L E-RA FRR
I12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL Total
1218 A FEE FEN
BHERBL BHERAL AHEHREX @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR%®Tn AR%®TRn AR%®TxR
Opening balance & 40,287 36927 401911 479,125
Provisions s 46,193 21411 256,835 324439
Reversal # (29,255) (4,399) (3:459) (7.113)
Transfer [=¥74
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2 F-HEEBREE_RBER (1,036) 1,036 = =
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 E-RBREBREE=ER (6,973) = 6,973 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | F_RBREREE KR 233 (233) - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 B_RREBEE=ER - (4993) 4993 -
Ending balance RS 49,449 49,749 667,253 766,451
Year ended 3| December 2018
HEWISFNAIBLFE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
F—REE FREE 2
|2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
1218 A TFEEH 7485
HEEREL BHERIEX BHEREX et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Opening balance B 139948 47810 190,465 378223
Provisions BB 34375 6,451 250,622 291,448
Reversal 24 e (107,038) (7,136) (76,372) (190,546)
Transfer E%
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2 FRBREBBREFE R (5,158) 5,158 = =
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 E-HREEEE=ER (22,333) - 22333 =
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | F_RREBEE —BR 493 (493) - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 E_RREBEE=ER = (14,898) 14,898 =
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 EoMBEREE R = 35 (35) -
Ending balance RS 40287 36,927 401911 479,125
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A M AR R

CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 24 BREE/(ARE)

As at 31 December

MI128318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AR®ETT

Contract assets BHEE 1,173,480 1,370,529
Less: ECL allowance B TEEAE B KB (461,739) (215,345)
Contract assets, net BHNEEFE 711,741 1,155,184
Contract liabilities aHEaE (108,250) (47,514)
The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 31 December HE2019F K2018FI12A3IH IFFEE - JBEH =
2019 and 2018 consisted of the following; Rk BEEEEHBRETIKHE:
As at 3|1 December
RI12A31RH
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFTT
Opening balance AR (215,345) (1933)
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 1R & FA B R B 765 e 5 ZE
ELLis: 0k N/A FiE F (776)
Provision of ECL for the year FRERERBREE (246,394) (212,636)
Ending balance R ER (461,739) (215,345)
Note: The Group receives payments from borrowers over the tenures of the Hiat : REBFEEZEHIRAKEIETANTH - EAIEE

loans. Contract assets represent the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has provided. A substantial majority
of the Group's contract assets as at 31 December 2019 would be realized
within the next twelve months as the weighted average term of the
arrangements where the Group is not the loan originator was less than
twelve months. The Group determined that there is no significant financing

component for its arrangements where the Group is not the loan originator:

75 7N 55 3] B FE I B LA B 7K 55 [B] BT 12 (R AR T 9
1B o d1 RN B0 FE B B LA I
HEHIR LR A8 A - K EER2019F 12431 H
HIFBA B0 7 & #IE B # R K= 18 A R &2 5
KEER 7 G EE W HELELE LB
FUWEEBAGMEKS
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25 TRADE RECEIVABLES 25 EBESEWRIE

As at 31 December

MI128318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Referral and credit card technology service receivables 148 & {5 Fi £ 3% IR 75 F& Ug 5108 167,118 142,053
Others Hh 4,905 7,860
172,023 149913
ECL allowance TEEE B AR E (75,262) (346)
Trade receivables, net B REWRIEEE 96,761 149,567
The activity in the total ECL allowance for trade receivables as at 3| 20194 KX20184F 12 A31H - & 5 B RIE D
December 2019 and 2018 consisted of the following: FEHERBAREAESESHE I SE:

As at 31 December

RI2A318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETT

Opening balance B R (346) -
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 IR e FA BB B 765 e 5 R

B 95E B ) N/A 7 iE H (76)
Provision of ECL for the year FREMEABREE (74.916) (270)
Ending balance R AR (75,262) (346)
Aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows: B o RIEEN R EQENER ST

As at 31 December

MRI12831H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTR ARKETT

Within 30 days 30K 35,000 110,784
More than 30 days B E30K 61,761 38,783
96,761 149,567
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26 LOANSTO CUSTOMERS, NET 26 EBEFERFEH
3| December 2018 31 December 2019
2018512831 H 201912831 H
ECL staging
BHERBABE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E-EER ERE E=EER Mt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR AR®BTR AR®T:R

Loans ER 381,072 15,653 1,238 285,322 302213
Less: ECL allowance under R BB B 7 3 2 R
IFRS 9 (b) 2895 TR TEH
=B REE®b) (195,776) (667) (413) (280,394) (281,474)
Loans to customers, net BEFERFE 185,296 14,986 825 4,928 20,739
(@)  The following table explains the aging of loans to customers past (a) TRHFBEEZ2019F &2018F 128318 1E
due for the past year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018: FEAHTFERNKRAR:

Overdue days

B AR
Less than 30 days to 90 days to Over
30 days 90 days 180 days 180 days
DHA30KX  30KEIOXR 90KEI80K 180K I £
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREBETT ARBTT ARBTRT

As at 3| December 2019 2019512831 H

Loans to customers past due EaHNEFER 1,238 3,263 6,958 275,101
As at 31 December 2018 7201812831 H

Loans to customers past due BEafNEFPER 2,023 4,854 11,219 185,636
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26 LOANSTO CUSTOMERS, NET (Cont'd)

(b)  The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 3| (b)

December 2019 and 2018 consisted of the following:

26 BFERFHE(E)

HE2019F K20I8FI12A3IBILFE &
HEREXBEERBEESEIETYSE:

Year ended 3| December 2019
HZE2019F 12831 BILEE

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
F-ER F-ER F=ER
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
1218 A FEH FHEEN
BAFEREX BRHEGERAX BAHFARX st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARMFR ARBFR AREFx
Opening balance e 1,256 807 193,713 195,776
Provisions B 667 407 88,277 89,351
Reversal A&E (1,198) (509) (1,946) (3,653)
Transfer BY
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 FEBRBEEE=ER (58) - 58 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 FEBRBEEE=RER - (292) 292 -
Ending balance RS 667 413 280,394 281,474
Year ended 3| December 2018
BEW0IFNAIBLEFE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
—FER R F=BEER
[2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
1218 A & FEH
EHERELX BHEMREX EBEHERBAX st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTRT AR&ETR
Opening balance iRk 2 31,244 9202 61326 101,772
Change of IFRS 9 B PR B 75 3 5 S0 R R Y
g 14901 4,388 29,246 48535
Provisions B 1216 492 87,100 88,808
Reversal A&E (32,204) (1,050) (10,085) (43339)
Transfer 8y
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2 FERBEEE_ER 910) 910 - -
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 FERBEEE=ER (13,028) - 13,028 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | F_ERBEEE KR 37 (37) - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 F_ERBEEE=RER - (13,136) 13,136 -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 FoERBEEE_ER - 38 (38) -
Ending balance HREE 1,256 807 193713 195,776
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A M AR R

26 LOANSTO CUSTOMERS, NET (Cont'd) 26 BEFEFRBHE(E)
(b)  (Cont'd) (b) (#&)

As at 3| December 2019 and 2018, these loans are primarily
personal loans made to individual borrowers through the
consolidated trusts and a subsidiary of the Group. The interest
rates of these loans ranged between 6.96% to 35.40% for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 17.04% to 32.99%).

Set out below are the summarized financial information for
the consolidated trusts included in the consolidated financial

R2019F K2018F 128318 ZEE X
FEABBRAEERAEENNE R
AMEAERABBRONBAAER -BEE
2019F 12A3IRLEFE ZEEXHF
RN TF6.96%E35.40% (20184 1 17.04% %
32.99%) °

TXEIIFTARAMBRROGEEEFED
MIEERBE -

statements.
Year ended 3| December
BZNA3ALEE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
Interest income of loans to customers MR P &R S M A 27,448 88,375
Interest expenses to trust senior tranche holders EREEEFEANNERX (8,946) (44,640)
ECL TREfEAEL (19,388) (51,650)
As at 31 December
RI2B318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBFIT
Cash and cash equivalents HeEMkReEED 31,403 76,923
Loans to customers, net BREERFE 20,518 183,341
Payable to trust senior tranche holders B EEELREE ATIE 20,100 209,500
27 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 27 Iﬁ,ﬁ&ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
(@)  Cash and cash equivalents @ RERREEEY
As at 31 December
RI2B318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR¥ETFTT
Cash at bank (i) RITIR () 1,283,144 1,206,172

Cash in bank includes cash in trust schemes of approximately
RMB31,403,000 and RMB76,923,000 as at 31 December 2019 and
2018, respectively.

RITHE S BEMN20194F %2085 12 A3
BiERTEFTMERES 2AANARKE
31,403,0007T & A R #76,923,0007T °

SUEAFERAT #8209 | 289



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR MR

27 CASHAND BANK BALANCES (Cont'd) 27

(b)  Restricted cash

RERBITHEER (F)
ERHRS

(b)

As at 31 December

®I28318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT

Cash held on behalf of investors AATARREERENRR()
through platform (i) 736,301 779,097
Cash in quality assurance fund (i) BERFE&P RS (i) = 274,691
Deposit of foreign exchange contracts INERHIRE S - 3,000
Deposit of secured transactions EERXHSRER 74,001 -
810,302 1,056,788

() Cash held on behalf of investors through platform as at 3| () M20I9F12A3IH - BRBFAEREK
December 2019 mainly represented the cash in custody BEHENBESIEADPEAER
account with CITIC aiBank to hold user's fund (2018: Bank THAEEEFPFAEEAENBEEESHIR
of Beijing). @ (20185 : 3L ERTT) ©

(i)  Cash in quality assurance fund is cash managed by the (i BERZESTOHESRAEERE
Group for the default payouts. There is no other use of HNEeEENRE KRUXEERE
these funds except for making payments to investors for SRENEHERMTEE L
default loans that are subject to quality assurance fund. PN ZEEeMEEMBR-

()  Term deposits (0 TEHFEXK
As at 31 December
RI12A31R
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFTT
Term deposits with initial term 125 BRBR B 38 = 18 A 19 7E Bi1F X

over three months

= 6,000
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED
AS HELD FOR SALE

Due to the change of the operating business plan, the Group has entered
into a share transfer agreement and supplemental agreement dated on
31 December 2019 with a third-party company to dispose of the assets
and liabilities of its subsidiary company Shenzhen Zhongrong Insurance
Brokers Co., Ltd. (the “Disposal Group”) for a cash consideration of

RMB73,500,000.

On 13 December 2019, the terms of the share transfer agreement were
approved by the shareholders in an extraordinary general meeting of the

Group. The transaction is expected to be completed in 2020.

Assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group were classified as “Assets
classified as held for sale’” and “Liabilities directly associated with assets
classified as held for sale” respectively in accordance with IFRS 5 as at 31

December 2019, and the transaction with the Group was excluded.

As at 3| December 2019, the cumulative gains recognized in other

comprehensive loss relating to the Disposal Group were RMB10,027,000.

28

A M AR R

TERBFELHECHESEEEERER

ARBEXBEEE AKRERBUE=
RAEFTZ— D BER2019F 12 A3 B i
ol S A TR R 0 DA LB B & AR Y|
BRBREEARAR (HEEE]) 2EERA
& ReERERARE73,5000007T

2019 12 A 138 - RIEERE G Z 2 IGRA AR E
ERREERIAS FERE - ZX S TEER
20205 FEAK ©

M2019F 128318 HEEBEERBBRE
BB RE LR BSHED RN E D EEREE
HEBEIRIEIBARKELEESEREEH
WERE] HEERNEEZRZHBKRIN

2019 124318 » Rz A R #10,027,000
TREBLESECEME2HEBEANER -

31 December

2019
20195 12H31H
RMB’000
AR¥TR
Assets held for sale RIELERE
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE 73,437
Trade receivables 2 5 IR 2,063
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE K H b FE WK IR 2,314
Term deposits FHER 5,000
Intangible assets (Note |8) mpEE (Mistis) 27,126
Right-of-use assets EREEE 274
Property and equipment, net (Note |6) M KR EFRE (FsTi6) 56
Total assets of the Disposal Group held for sale RIELEZHESBEEAR 110,270
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held forsale BN A ARBIELEEEEZEENAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERMNFRIE 1,855
Lease liabilities HEAR 289
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMSH AR 4,550
Total liabilities of the Disposal Group directly associated with B ARELNE HESEREE
assets classified as held for sale BEERABENEERSE 6,694
SIEAFAERAR Fg209 291
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29 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND SHARES HELD FOR 29 BRZA& - RO EERMIEERETEFE
EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES 7Y 3% 10
Shares held
for employee
Number of Share incentive
shares Share capital premium schemes
KRR
REEE
REE L R 7B H R 1D
US$'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EnTr ARETR ARBTR AR®TR
As at | January 2018 M20I18F 1818 297,819,000 3 20 33,134 9)
Issuance of ordinary shares upon R ERAREE Kk
IPO and partial exercise of over- BB 1T FERE AL ARAE
allotment option, net of issuance BEITLAER
costs (a) MR BEITHAE () 126,102,000 [ 8 893986 =
Conversion of preferred shares to B REEM B E @R (2)
ordinary shares (a) 683,548,000 7 46 4951374 —
Issuance of shares held for employee #7735 1E(E 8 £2E) 5T &I
incentive schemes (b) B AR 17 (b) 86,956,522 I 5 - (5)
As at 3| December 2018 M2018F 124318 [,194,425,522 12 79 5,878,494 (14)
As at | January 2019 20191818 1,194,425,522 12 79 5,878,494 (14)
Share incentive exercised (c) BT 2B (o) = = = 89,542 2
Share repurchase (d) B £ B 121 (d) (2,772,000) (0.03) (0.20) (7.941) =
As at 3| December 2019 R2019F 128318 1,191,653,522 12 79 5,960,095 (12)
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SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND SHARES HELD FOR
EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES (Cont'd)

@

(©

The Company issued 126,102,000 ordinary shares at par value
of US$0.00001 upon its completion of IPO on I3 July 2018 and
partial exercise of the over-allotment option on 10 August 2018. In
the meantime, 654,913,000 preferred shares and 28,635,000 Class

B ordinary shares have been converted to ordinary shares.

The Company issued 86,956,522 ordinary shares to 5| Award
Limited and 51 Stock Limited which are established for the
purpose of administering and holding the Company’s shares for

employee incentive schemes.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the subscription rights
attaching to 19,912,394 share options were exercised at the
average subscription prices of approximately RMB0.34 per share,
for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of RMB6,746,000.
An amount of RMB82,798,000 was transferred from the share-
based payment reserve to share premium upon the exercise of the
share options. The weighted average market price at the date of
exercise of options exercised during the year ended 31 December

2019 was approximately RMB2.43 (2018: not applicable).

During the year ended 3| December 2019, the Company
repurchased a total of 2,772,000 shares of the Company from the
Stock Exchange, with the aggregate consideration paid (before
expenses) amounting to approximately HK$8,799,000. All the

shares repurchased were subsequently cancelled.

A M AR R

29 BAE -BROSRERNESRBTEEHE
KRt (&)

@)

(b)

(d)

AR FR2018F7 A 138 5Tk & X AR
B RMR2018F8H 108 HH1TEHEEEAR
# 1% ¥2 E 180.0000 | £ 7T 8 17126,102,000
A% & 5B A% o R85 » 654,913,0000% 8 % % &
28,635,000AX B AR B I A L AR

AN AAS] Award Limited %51 Stock
Limited (A REERIFAEARRQRINE S 42
BhEt SRR A2 ) 361786,956,522/8 &
AR -

HZE2019F12A31HILEFE 19,912,394
MIEREMMNS 2 RBEE R TIIRER
HER/RAREI4TESTE KR FH Al
HeNRELBERARYES746,0007T © 85 1%
HEEITE% - AREES2,798,0007TE B AR
MAEERNSINEEERERODHE B
EI9FNA3IBLEFE REBREET
Ez B MEFETELORARKE2437T
(20185 : NEM) o

EHE2009F12A3IBLEFE  ARAER
Btk 22 P B 01 AN 12 8] 48 +£2,772, 0008% B 17
BT &K E (F0BRF AT 4 78,799,000
It FTABER ARG BER -
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294

RESERVES 30 fRfE
Share-based
Other  compensation Translation
reserve reserve reserve Total
KRG RER
Hitvf#fe HFEHEE BERE st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®TR AR®TRT AR®TR
As at | January 2018 201851818 (289/432) 142,406 (67,407) (214/433)
Conversion of convertible bonds transferred — % F /A &) K A iR & %
to shares of a subsidiary HEZERM 30,893 = = 30,893
Change in fair value attributable to BARBE ABEH
change in the credit risk of other HpemaErsRRRE
financial liabilities at FVPL BRNAAEELZY - = (517) (517)
Change in fair value attributable to change in 18 5t i {Z F 2l F 2 B B 5k A
the credit risk of preferred share AREEED - = (16990) (16990)
Share incentive awarded under employee & B #2E)FT &7 N5 11 /Y
incentive schemes W& 1 B2 B - 204,920 - 204,920
Currency translation differences EEmE = = = (61,323) (61,323)
As at 3| December 2018 20185 12A31H (258,539) 347,326 (146,237) (57,450)
As at | January 2019 M20I19F IR A (258,539) 347,326 (146,237) (57,450)
Share incentive exercised BT 2 E - (82,798) - (82,798)
Acquisition of additional equity interest W —RF AR IR E
in a subsidiary (24) - - (24)
Share incentive awarded under share & B2 ED =T 2118 T X H A
incentive plan R 15 228D - 130,553 - 130,553
Profit appropriations to statutory reserves 5% 2= X FE 7 & 80 1) 211 - - 211
Currency translation differences BB EEE = = (6,091) (6,091)
As at 3| December 2019 R2019F 124318 (258,352) 395,081 (152,328) (15,599)
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has adopted 51 Award Scheme and 51 Stock Scheme
(“Employee Incentive Schemes”) to provide options and RSUs to
employees and senior management as an additional incentives for the
purposes of attracting and retaining the best available personnel. The
majority of the options and RSUs vest 50% at the second service year

end and 25% at the third and fourth service year end.

The Company has set up two structured entities, namely 5| Award
Limited and 51 Stock Limited, which are solely for the purpose of
administering and holding the Company’s shares for the Employee
Incentive Schemes. As at 31 December 2019, the Company issued
186,398,642 ordinary shares to 51 Award Limited and 51 Stock Limited
at a par value of US$0.00001 each, being the ordinary shares underlying
the Company's Employee Incentive Schemes. In addition, the Company
entered into a trust deed with an independent trustee (the “Trustee)
in November 2017, pursuant to which the Trustee shall act as the

administrator of the Company's Employee Incentive Schemes.

The Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of 51 Stock
Limited and 51 Award Limited and it has the ability to use its power
over the trusts to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets
and liabilities of 51 Award Limited and 51 Stock Limited are included
in the Group's consolidated statement of financial position and the
ordinary shares held for the Company's Employee Incentive Schemes
were regarded as issued but not outstanding shares and presented as a

deduction in equity as “Shares held for employee incentive schemes'.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to repurchase or settle

the options in cash.
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A M AR R

R G RER K

AN EHMN51 Award Scheme&51 Stock
Scheme ([EEMBEIGHEI]) - AREERSRE
I I 1R 1 R AR T PR 6 R 1) BB L /R R A1 R
B ARSI RIBEEBEAT - REHBRERX
BER il A% 1) B8 o2 70 88 — & PR 7%5 & /= F R 25 B 50%
RS = T 55 VO {E PR 75 £F 5 4F R B B 25% ©

ARFERLMELEEETE  BISI Award
Limited 251 Stock Limited' £ AE B RFHEAR
Al & B BT S P78 AR 1D - R20195F 12 A3
H - ARA&HZEESAR0.00001EITTAS] Award
Limited 51 Stock Limited3$77186,398,642/% %
AR BIARA AR BB R 8180 48 B A AR &L
Bothdh RRABR2017F 11 FR—BBI T
A(TZFEAD IV ERARZE BT TEAGE
EARRBIEE MBI ENERA-

NN A B RS| Stock Limited %51 Award
Limited M ABRIZER - BE B NEREEETN
N EERBIFRER - EHt - 51 Award Limited
K51 Stock Limited®BEE R BB AREEH
FEMBMRAE  BRADRE S BB B
BRETRBREREC TR IERITEINDR
DI 25 % [ 1ERE BREN T 2 M AR (D ] a0
VR

AREBIWE AR IE O K AEE R REREER
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'd)

3 MRGAEROIZN (F)

Movements in the number of stock options outstanding and their (a) MARITERERESE KA INEFHIT
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: FENEEHW T :

2019 2019 2018 2018
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number  price in RMB Number  price in RMB
AR¥IE ARk
%A FHE A FHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR%TR ARETT ARETT
Outstanding at | January RIAIB®RITR 139,552,055 240 83,904,938 08l
Granted during the year FABKE = = 65819,732 452
Exercised during the year FRNETHE (19,912,394) 0.34 - -
Forfeited and expired during the year RN E R Y & &7 (30,873,615) 239 (10,172615) 201
Outstanding at 31 December RI2A31 B M ARTE 88,766,046 288 139,552,055 240
Vested at 3| December RI2A3IBERE 61,647,343 0.68 36,260,466 069

Based on the fair value of the underlying ordinary share, the
Company has used Binomial option-pricing model to determine
the fair values of the share options as at the grant dates. Key

assumptions used for the valuation are set as below:

ERNBERATBRNOAREBE  ARFER
R-BEABREEERABEREBENE
HEABNRAEE HEEBNEERR

AT

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018
Risk-free interest rate [ By 1) 2 0.00% 2.19%
Volatility ] 0.00% 38.60%
Dividend yield B& B g 75 & _ ~

The Company estimated the risk-free interest rate based on
the yield of US Treasury bond and China Government bond
with a maturity life equal to the option life of the share option.
Volatility was estimated at grant date based on average of
historical volatilities of the comparable companies with length
commensurable to the time to maturity of the share option.
Dividend vyield is based on management estimation at the grant

date.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'd) 3 URHBAERNIMS ()
(b)  Movements in the number of RSUs during the years ended 3| (b) EZE2018FX2019F2A3IHIEFENR
December 2018 and 2019 are as follows: REIRMDECEBOESHIAT :

Number of RSUs

PR & iR 17
BNEE
Outstanding balance as at | January 2018 R20I8F I AI B RITELLRR 22,739,327
Vested BB (3,024,515)
Forfeited 281 (9,739,250)
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2018 M20185F 12A31 B IRITREAER 9,975,562
Granted [REsdas 26,415,400
Vested =) (5,690,858)
Forfeited B8 (5,072,380)
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2019 2019 12831 HWKRITELER 25,627,724
The fair value of each RSUs at the grant dates were determined NIEHBEHEZREENECMHADEE
by reference to the market price of the ordinary share of the TIRBERNBEBEROTEET

Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR  ARETR
At amortized cost RS E
Short-term borrowings: REEER
Bank borrowings (a) — secured RITER (@) —BER 6,205 189,900
Other borrowings (b)— unsecured ﬁﬁﬂ%?ﬁ(b)—ﬁ%% 13,616 -
19,821 189,900
Long-term borrowings: REAMER:
Bank borrowings (a) — secured RITER @) —BER 34,046 56,116
Other borrowings (c) — secured and unsecured HfE R (C)—ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ 115,000 356,986
149,046 413,102
Borrowing by repayment schedule: RENETEE S
Within | year —FR 19,821 189,900
| year to 2 years —FE_F 121,563 34,056
2 years to 5 years —FEREF 22,056 365,850
5 years to 8 years AFEENF 5,427 13,196
168,867 603,002
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32 BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

(@)

©

In August 2017, the Group borrowed a loan of RMB53,000,000
from Bank of Hangzhou. The loan bears interest at the annual rate
of 115% of the five-year loan benchmark rate of the People’s Bank
of China. The loan is repayable in eight years from the borrowing
date and is guaranteed by Sun Haitao and pledged by the building
of Enniu Network. The amount of RMB6,205,000 will be repaid

within one year and was classified in short-term borrowing.

The borrowing amount of approximately RMBI 1,986,000 was
assumed by the Group through the acquisition of Netcom in July
2017.This borrowing is the financial liability component bifurcated
from the convertible bond issued by Netcom and is accounted
using annual effective interest rate of 14.61% with a ten-year
payment term from August 2010. In January 2018, the convertible
bond at par value of HK$50,000,000 was converted to the

ordinary shares of Netcom.

In May 2017, Enniu Network, together with Shenzhen Tiantu
Xingneng Investments (Limited Partnership) (“Tiantu Xingneng")
and China Merchants Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(“CMS AM"), set up Hangzhou Shangniu Investment Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership). In November and December
2017, Enniu Network entered into the repurchase agreements
with Tiantu Xingneng and CMS AM respectively that Enniu
Network would repurchase all the shares contributed by Tiantu
Xingneng and CMS AM in four years with fixed interest rate
of 8% and 8.035% per annum respectively. In November 2019,
Hangzhou Shangniu Investment Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) returned partnership funds of RMB230,000,000 to
CMS AM.

The partnership funds of RMB25,000,000 and RMB90,000,000
contributed by Tiantu Xingneng and CMS AM respectively are
deemed as borrowing of the Group. The borrowings were pledged
by the ordinary shares of Kaizhuo Technology held by the Group.
The amount of RMB90,000,000 contributed by CMS AM was also

guaranteed by Sun Haitao.

A M AR R

32 B (E)

(@)

(b)

201768 A - AEBMAMMBRITEE A
E%Bmmem% XA BEPE AR
RITAFHEREEFTEH 5% F F
R E ZEREREBRBBENFAE
B BHEGEERIARGBEENETIE
ﬁﬁoAEMmmowﬁﬁmfimﬁﬁ
WESEAEHABR

B RFIBH AR BE1,986,0007T 5 /AN
EEBR2017F7RRER R EEAE-

ZERARBPRS Ez_%’éﬁmﬂﬁﬂx1,ﬁ¢
SEHLERNESREET D  FREBRFAH
1461 AR NFHEABE2010F8 AR+
& - R2018% | A A & A50,000,0007% 7T
WABRRESFHERARYRERN T B

i

R2017%5F - B4 @4 Z R Shenzhen
Tiantu Xingneng Investments (Limited
Partnership) ([Tiantu Xingneng J) & R
EREEEEBERAR ([BEEE])X
YMMEFREEEGREE(BERA
%) R2017FIARNA BERBED
BB Tiantu Xingneng R BEE B EI L BT
Wk - B ARG D RIR [E T M 8% K
8.035% AP0 FF A i [l Tiantu Xingneng & 14
EEEHENZ BN, - RN2019F117 -
MMNEFHREEEABREE(BRER)
& B E S AR230,000,0007T & T 7
BE

knﬁﬁ

nu}*

rﬁ/\

Tiantu Xingneng & 18 & Bl H & #
ABESL ARK250000007T K ARE
90,000,000 T # R A AL E 2 55K o B K
ANEE PSR R A B AR VE I 4 o B
BELEELENEEARE0,0000007T
RS EER-
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33

300

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

33 ESRHEHMEMNSRKE

As at 31 December

MI12B31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AR®ETT

Payables for equity investments (a) IR B e FRIA (2) 214,825 218,329
Payroll and welfare payable BN T KRB 49,699 115519
Trade payables (b) B 5 N T () 27,468 30,197
Payable to settlement banks BT UL BEIRTT AR 24,920 74,847
Online promotion marketing expenses payable A E A RN R IE 19,909 80,863
Other tax payable Bt e B 1A 11,457 19,460
Payable on behalf of credit card users REREA AP ENMNKIE 3,539 8,670
Deposit payables (c) FERT1E % (c) 3,287 1,965
Payable to related parties JE 1<) B Bk 05 1B 1,513 3951
Listing fee payables e ETER — 3431
Others Hitp 47,415 67376

404,032 624,608
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33 TRADEAND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd)
(@) Payables for equity investments primarily represent the cash
consideration due to the counterparties of equity transactions in

connection with the acquisition of Kaizhuo Technology.

(b)  Trade payables represent payables of fund transfer charges and

collection service charges.

The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

below:

A M AR R

33 EBEFSRHMENTKIE(Z)
() BRIEREREMNZBETEHERWERERE
ERRESSHFINBESRE-

(b)y EBZRNFABESERERNDKRY
W B B FE 5 SRR o

EREZHHNE ZEMNFIERR D TE
FIan T

As at 31 December

RI2A318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Within 30 days 30K A 13,304 22,831
30 to 90 days 30K E90K 11,266 7,298
90 to 180 days 90K ZE 180K 2,323 43
180 to 360 days 180K 360K 575 25
27,468 30,197

(c) Deposit payables primarily represent credit facilitation deposit
received from other lending platforms when the Group introduced

investors to other lending platforms.

34 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVPL

NI B2REAEEAREMIERTYS
SIMREER  AEMERT & WENE
Emake-

—~
N
N

34 BAARBEFABENERAE

As at 31 December

®I128318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREF T
Financial liabilities at FVPL BEAnBEAFABENEHEE 24,370 70,529

In December 2017, the Group acquired 100% shares of Kaizhuo
Technology from independent third parties for cash consideration and
issuance of certain shares of the Company. As at 3| December 2019, the

issuance of shares has not been completed.

R2017F 128 AEBURSREREITETA
RNARG AIE L E = 5 WEFR R B A 100%8
3o 1R2019F 12831 B D317 M AR °
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35

302

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or
indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence over the
other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members
of key management and their close family member of the Group are also

considered as related parties.

Relationship and details of transactions between the Group and other

related parties are disclosed below:

Name of the major related parties

35

BB L RS

W — T BRE B EEEN S - TS —
TR REERRITEEAZEN  GRER
BARE 77 o i (R AR RS - IRARAR SRR T o
AEBT2EREKRKE RFEFILRITBRIERM
Bt 73 o

NG E B E A B T R R 5 R IE B ER 40
T

Relationship with the Group

TERBL AR EAREEE R

Sun Haitao CEO, Director of the Company
®EE ARBITREH EF
Zou Yunli Director of the Company
BERE RARESE

Yang Yuzhi Director of the Company
BFE KRRBEE

Zhao Ke Director of the Company
e ARAES

Wang Zhaocheng
EK

Wong Ti
ERR

Ye Xiang
2321

Yang Dong
BR

Wang YongJun
EHEE
Yang Jun
BE

Zhu Jianfei
RRIFR

Zhang Xi
£
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Director of the Company
KRAREE

Director of the Company

RRAFEE

Director of the Company

KRRBEE

Director of the Company

ARAES

key management personnel of the entity

ERZTEEEASR

key management personnel of the entity

ERZTEEEAR

key management personnel of the entity
ERZETEEEAR

key management personnel of the entity

BERZIEEEAER
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A M AR R

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

35, BMAXRE (&)

Relationship with the Group

TERBLEE A KB E

Guo Wei key management personnel of the entity
B ERZETEEEAR

Zhu Yangzhi key management personnel of the entity
KBS BERZIEEEAER

Wei Jianpeng key management personnel of the entity
nEm ERZIEEBAS

Zhang Chuanbo
R

Zhejiang Anniu Technology Co., Ltd.
WL R AR BR AR

Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology Co., Ltd.
EFRREHRRRERAF

Hangzhou Shanniu Restaurant Management Co,, Ltd.

MMETERERFR QA

Shanghai Pengshu Information Technology Co,, Ltd.
LERBEERXBRAR

Beijing Caizhiyun Investment Management Co.,, Ltd

ERPEEREEEFRAA

Hangzhou Sunyard Fantai Technology Co., Ltd.
MMEHEEZ RRHRBR DA

Zhuhai Yunyoudao Technology Co., Ltd.
KEEBEMRAREEIAA

Zhejiang Zhongma Technology Co,, Ltd.
HTRERHXBR AR

key management personnel of the entity

ERZTEEEAR

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

EAEEERZENRIRE QA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERZENPRE QA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAKBERZENPREAR

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAGBERTENERERAA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

EAEEERZENRIRE QA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENPRE QA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAKBERZENPREAA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAKBERTENPERERQA
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35

304

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

TERBLEE

35, BMAXRE (&)

Relationship with the Group

A KB E

Shark Kuaiyou Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

ERRERKEM (LR BB A

Hangzhou Pinpianyi Network Technology Co., Ltd.
MMNBHEEBE AR QA

Hangzhou Zaodao Technology Co., Ltd.
MM PRER AR QA

Hangzhou Ren Junxing Technology Co,, Ltd.
MMEBITRIAR A7

TOWERING GROUP INC.
TOWERING GROUP INC.

Hangzhou Lvji Network Technology Co., Ltd.
NIRRT B R A

Henan Amumu Network Technology Co., Ltd.
ARAAKREERRBRAF]

Pingxiang Chuangniu Asset Management Co.,, Ltd.
SEHMRITEETEBRAR

Pingxiang Shiniu Asset Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
FHETEEEREABLE (BRAB)

Pingxiang Jiniu Asset Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
BT EEEEABEE (ARAR)

Shanghai Haobin Financial Information Services Co., Ltd.

EEEEESRESRBERAR

51 Xinhu LP
51 Xinhu LR

Rising Sun Limited
Rising Sun Limited
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Investee over which the Group has significant influence

EAEEERZENRIRE QA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBERTZENPRE QA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAKBERZENPREAT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAKBERTENPERERQA

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

EAEEERZENRIRE QA

Controlled by key management
EXEEEASE

Controlled by key management

XEEEEAS

Controlled by key management

ZXEERASES
Controlled by key management
EErEEEASE
Controlled by key management
XIZERASES

Controlled by key management

T EEEAS

Controlled by key management
XEXBERASES

Controlled by key management
EErEEEASE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

The following transactions were carried out between the Group and its
related parties during the year ended 31 December 2019. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the related party transactions were
carried out in the ordinary course of business and at terms negotiated

between the Group and the respective related parties.

Save as disclosed in elsewhere of these financial statements, the Group
entered into the following related party transactions during the Reporting

Period:

(@) Loan referral service income, credit card technology service
income and other income-recognized in revenue (before net of

sales tax and related surcharges)

35

E MR

BB ERS (&)

TIN5 Ty A E EE BT R A E20196F
RABIBLFRET REARFAEEER H
BMORZTIN—REBBEPRAKEREZ S
R B 7 15 P RO IR B AT

BAMBHRREMBOBREEIN ARERE
EHMAL TR TR S :

@ RUSERINEENBBRBEVA EAFH
FRBWARE A (HBRHEEHIHE K8
A HS ANt AT )

Year ended 3| December
BZENA3IBLEFEE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT

Investees over which the Group has RAEEERTE

significant influence

Gk e S =o/NG|

8,358 14,304
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A MR MR

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 35 BEEEAERS (£Z)
(b)  Origination and servicing expenses (b) MEREKHEX

Year ended 3| December
BENAIBLFEE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

Investees over which the Group has RAEBERFENRIRE AT
significant influence 5018 94
(c)  Sales and marketing expenses (0 HEREHMAX
Year ended 31 December
BENAIBLFEE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFTT
Investees over which the Group has RAEEERTENFKRENR
significant influence 15,078 12,213
(d) Loans guaranteed by related parties (d BEBEIERAEN
As at 3|1 December
RI12A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFTT
The CEO TTIRABEL 130,251 566,017
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(¢)

Balances with related parties

A M AR R

35, BMAXRES (#)

(©)

SRR 5 HY RS B

As at 31 December

RI12A318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARFTTT
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
Investees over which the Group has RAEEERTENFKIRE QA
significant influence 2,581 4,387
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ~ JE{TFKIE - 2 & Kk H f FE U FX1E
Directors of the Company AARIES 57 =
Controlled by key management XEEEEREES 300 -
Investees over which the Group has RAEBERTENFIREAQR]
significant influence 6,217 200
6,574 200
Trade and other payables B RAEMEMNRIE
Investees over which the Group has RAEBERAFENRIRE AT
significant influence 1,513 3951
1,513 3951
Key management personnel compensations ) FTEEEEASHM

Key management includes executive directors and senior

management. The compensations paid or payable to key

management for employee services are shown below:

TEEREERRRNTEERSRERE-
FEEERBENIENIEERENH
2R

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ETT ARBTTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses I8 #Hae hiEa 5416 7,687

Pension costs-defined contribution plan RIKE KA — R EHRGE 223 335
Other social security costs, housing benefits and H AR A - FERHA R H A {E S

other employee benefits =l 428 584

Share-based compensation expenses VAR 19 73 B 1t & 5 B 7 =2 126,06 167,285

132,128 175,891
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A MR MR

36

308

NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 36

@)

Reconciliation from (loss)/profit before income tax to cash ()

generated from operating activities:

mERERBRMEE
SSBRATISBLAT (B5R) A

BELNAS:

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR  ARETE
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE) SRR (1,111,043) 2,168,767
Adjustments for: AT FIEETTHE
Depreciation and amortization T8 K 8 94,081 66,433
Fair value losses on financial assets at FVPL BARBEAAEREREEN
RRAEEER 46,487 3911
Fair value gain on financial liabilities at FVPL RARBEAAERSREEDN
NRBEEW (46,160) (98,448)
Fair value loss/(gain) on foreign exchange SNERKHMAREEEE,
contracts (Yea) 2,154 (4,262)
Gain on wealth management products IR0 i (12,392) -
Gain on trust (A (333) -
Interest expenses charged by trust EREEAREE ARBMOF SR
senior tranche holders 8,946 44 640
Share of net losses of associates accounted & AR A A BRBE: 2 A R E(L
for using equity method BB 3,255 1,302
Loss on disposal of ordinary share of investees H & ##% & A &) & f@AX 518 8,536 =
Loss on disposal of investments in ordinary HEAEBEEFRENT AR
shares with preferential liquidation rights iR EEE 95,005 —
Share based compensation expenses ARG 3 T B0 B B 7 2 130,553 204,920
Gain on disposal of property and equipment HE YRR ERE (944) -
ECL and quality assurance fund loss BHEABLAREERESER 1,265,465 604,307
Impairment loss TR E 1 184,652 -
Fair value gain of preferred shares BEBRAALEBEKZ - (1,942,221)
Dividend income from an investee REAWRE QR B EWA (16,103) (11,083)
Finance expenses B R 30,084 16,088
1,793,286 (1,114,413)
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36 NOTETO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 36

(Cont'd)

(@) Reconciliation from (loss)/profit before income tax to cash ()

generated from operating activities: (Cont'd)

E MR

REREREBRME (&)

HERFIEEAT (BR) RBRAGRKEE
BELANRE: (&)

Year ended 3| December

BZNA3IBLEE

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTR
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: KEEERBES
Increase in restricted cash IR I ER & 15 hn (377,615) -
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets and trade & #)& &= & B 2 B FIER L/
receivables () 172,876 (1,435936)
Decrease in loans to customers BEPERRD 78,859 669,687
Increase in prepayments and other receivables T8 1< 5k I8 Fo H th & UK IE 38 1N (70,196) (11,200)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 I E A FE A FRIBR (160,208) (51,331)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHRaEEMm CRd) 60,736 (2,200)
Decrease in taxes payables JE {5F 56 JEDRY > (186,239) (134,199)
(481,787) (965,179)
Cash generated from operating activities KEFBEANRS 200,456 89,175
(b)  Non-cash investing and financing activities (b) FRERERMETH
As at 3| December
RI2A31H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFLE  ARETR
Payable for acquisition of a subsidiary Ut B B 88 1 B e SR IE (214,825) (228,736)
Acquisition of right-of-use assets WHEEREEE 5,240 -
Financial liabilities to be issued for HBBEBRBRARETFETLRAE
acquisition of a subsidiary - 70,529
sEAFARAA #8209 809
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36 NOTETO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 36 BMEWRESHRERKTE(£E)

(Cont'd)
()  Net Debt Reconciliation () FEKHRK
An analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for the HZE2019F K2018F 12 A3 HILFEFE
years ended 3| December 2019 and 2018 are presented as R FEBESODT 2RO T
follows:
Net Debt SRR
As at 3| December
RI12A31R
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR  ARETR
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEZED 1,283,144 1,206,172
Liquid investments RHEIREAE - 568,959
Borrowings — repayable within one year ER—BAR—FRNEE (19,821) (189,900)
Borrowings — repayable after one year BR—AR—FEER (149,046) (413,102)
Payable to trust senior tranche holders within ~ ZER —F N E{T{E5EE TR
one year /B ARIE (20,100) -
Payable to trust senior tranche holders AR —FREMNE
after one year BERIFE AFIA - (181,500)
Lease liabilities HEAE (47,447) -
Net debt FEH 1,046,730 990,629
Cash and liquid investments ReREHKRE 1,283,144 1,775,131
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BES—EEN=E (188,967) (784,502)
Gross debt — variable interest rates BIERE —ZEFIE (47,447) =
Net debt FETS 1,046,730 990,629
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37

(Cont'd)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR MR

NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 36 MABERERME (&)
()  Net Debt Reconciliation (Cont'd) (0 HEKHRK(E)
Payable

to trust Payable to

Payable to senior preferred

trust senior tranche shareholders

Cash and tranche holders repayable

cash Liquid ~ Borrowings  Borrowings holders within after after
equivalents  investments  (non-current) (current) one year one year Leases one year Total

AR-%FR AR AR

ERRR -FREN —F#%

RER (EE BER ERELR EHELR
RESEY  EBRE  GGUH) GR(DH) BEARE KAARE HE RR%E &zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARET:R
Asat | January 2018 #0I8E1A1R 1,258 446 245284 (437911) (257,057) - (790,000) (6815260)  (6796498)
Foreign exchange adjustments SNEHE 14019 - - - - - - - 14019
Cash flows Befig (66293) 323675 24809 67157 - 608,500 - 957,848
Other non-cash movements EfpsEReR - - - - - 6815260 6815260
As at 31 December 2018 0185128318 1,206,172 568,959 (413,102) (189,900) - (181,500) - 990629

Recognized on adoption of RAEHERABRE
IFRS 16 EAIZ 165 - = = - - - (81,919 - (81919)
Asat | January 2019 B019F1A18 1,206,172 568,959 (413,102) (189,900) - (181,500) (81919) - 908,710
Foreign exchange adjustments SNEDE 3,965 = = = = = = - 3,965
Acquisition-leases WE-HE - - - - - - 5,240 - 5,240
Cash flows Reng 73,007 (568,959) 264,056 170,079 (20,100) 181,500 (25,126) - 74451
Other non-cash movements Hib kR e 88 - = = = = = 54358 - 54,358
As at 31 December 2019 #019E 128318 1,283,144 - (149,046) (19.821) (20,100) - (47.447) - 1,046,730
37 RE

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year
ended 3| December 2019 (2018: nil).

HZE219F 12831 HIEFE - A RFIW AR sk
EIREAALE (20185 : &) ©

SIEAFBRAR #2019
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38 FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 38 ERATRMBMRRAKRFEEES

312

COMPANY
(@)  Financial position of the Company @ AARBEMRR
As at 31 December
®WI12A318
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ;Fﬁg EE
Investments in subsidiaries NN R = 1,002,348 1,076,838
Receivables from subsidiaries & Wt B /B8 X R FKIE 5,034,809 4812,155
Total non-current assets FREBEELRE 6,037,157 5,888,993
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekREZFED 63,848 96,925
Total current assets MEBEEHAE 63,848 96,925
Total assets EEHAE 6,101,005 5985918
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EERkAE
Equity =
Share capital [N 79 79
Share premium &1 4 B 5,960,095 5,878,494
Share held for employee incentive schemes 15 1E1& B 82 Eh 51 8| 89 X (5 (12) (14)
Reserves (Note 38 (b)) &4 (B EE38(b) ) 189,843 146,231
Accumulated loss (Note 38 (b)) ZEEE (H338(0b)) (49,000) (38,872)
Total equity MR 6,101,005 5,985,918
Total liabilities BEHAE = =
Total equity and liabilities EEREEEEHE 6,101,005 5,985,918

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved

by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2020 and was signed on its

behalf.

Sun Haitao
FEE
Director

BF
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FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A M AR R

COMPANY (Cont'd)

(b)

Reserve movement of the Company

38

ERBAUBRRRABEEE (&

b) AQDFRFEELE

Reserves Accumulated loss Total
ke RitER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTLE  ARETR  ARETR
As at | January 2019 M2019F 1818 146,231 (38,872) 107,359
Comprehensive loss 2HEk
Loss for the year FEER - (10,128) (10,128)
Currency translation differences BB E =5 (4,143) = (4,143)
Total comprehensive income 2HKELE (4,143) (10,128) (14,271)
Transactions with owners as their HEEREEANEEAZ
capacity as owners x5
Share incentive exercised BT & (82,798) - (82,798)
Share incentive awarded under employee {8 82X BhaT Z178 T £ 1% 17 5E B
incentive schemes 130,553 - 130,553
Total transactions with owners as their HERBEREANEEAZ
capacity as owners RABE 47,755 = 47,755
As at 3| December 2019 M2019% 128318 189,843 (49,000) 140,843
Reserves  Accumulated loss Total
& 18 RitBiR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
As at | January 2018 R20I18FI1A1H 3,844 = 3,844
Comprehensive income 2HEKE
Loss for the year FEEE = (38,872) (38,872)
Change in fair value attributable to change B2 f% 5 B R Z EEHH
in the credit risk of preferred share RABEZ S (16,990) = (16,990)
Currency translation differences EMmEEE (45,543) = (45,543)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEKNFAE (62,533) (38,872) (101,405)
Transactions with owners as their HEREBANEEAZ
capacity as owners x5
Share incentive awarded under employee & B SiE)&T &118 T /AR 7 22 )
incentive schemes 204,920 = 204,920
Total transactions with owners as their HEEARAANEEAZ
capacity as owners RBAEE 204,920 - 204,920
As at 31 December 2018 20185 12A31H 146,231 (38,872) 107,359
SIERFERAT #®09 [ S13
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 21 October 2019, the Company's office in Hangzhou, Zhejiang was
subject to an onsite investigation by certain PRC government authorities
(the “Authorities”). A number of employees, including several members
of the Group's key management team, were requested to assist with the
investigation. On the same day the Public Security Bureau of Hangzhou
issued an announcement on its website stating that the investigation
related to allegations of criminal behavior, specifically the offence of
“picking quarrels and provoking trouble” (the “Offence”), committed
by certain debt collection agencies deployed by the Group. The Group
resumed its normal business operations the following day and since then
has not been subject to any formal investigation by the Authorities related
to the 1021 Event, nor has any assets of the Group been confiscated or

frozen.

According to the Company's PRC legal counsel, only a natural person,
rather than a corporate body, can be charged for committing the Offence.
In addition, given the Group has compliance policies and controls in place
to govern its debt collection processes, and that management is not aware
of any intentional or knowingly illegal acts conducted or instructed by
the Group in relation to debt collection, management has assessed that
the likelihood of the Group being charged with such Offence is relatively

remote.

Nevertheless, it is uncertain at the date of this report whether the
investigation in connection with the 1021 Event has been completed;
whether the Group or any staff member (including senior management
members) will be convicted and held liable for any negative legal
consequences arising from the 1021 Event investigation; and whether any
further investigations will be carried out by the Authorities. The Group will

continue to monitor the developments in relation to the 1021 Event and

assess the impact to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19 outbreak’)
in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control measures have been
and continued to be implemented across the PRC. The Group will pay
close attention to the development of the COVID-19 outbreak and
evaluate its impact on the financial position and operating results of the

Group.

The COVID-19 outbreak has certain impacts on the Group's business
operation and overall economy in some areas or industries. This may
affect the personal consumption credit market and increase the credit risk
of the credit facilitation business to a certain extent, and the degree of the
impact depends on the situation of the epidemic preventive measures, the

duration of the epidemic and the implementation of regulatory policies.

The Group will keep continuous attention on the situation of the
COVID-19 outbreak, assess and react actively to its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group. Up to the date of

the report, the assessment is still in progress.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
LFPBRERME

For the year ended 31 December

BENANBLER

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR¥TR
Results E4
Revenue & 89,727 571,046 2,268,580 2,811,994 2,045,393
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERM (EE) (693303)  (2231,442)  (1378471) 2,168,767 (1,111,043)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: THIATEME ST
(F18) -
Owners of the Company RATFAEA (693,303)  (2231442)  (1,371,270) 2,162,084 (1,128,878)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R AE = - - (7,201) 6,683 17,835
(693303)  (2231442)  (1,378471) 2,168,767 (1,111,043)
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT AR¥TR
Assets and liabilities BEERARE
Total assets BEE 496,850 4,085,519 7,725,042 7,532,198 5,740,426
Total liabilities wafs (1329,152)  (7,179253)  (12306598)  (3985942)  (3,186,068)
(832,302)  (3.093734)  (4581,556) 3,546,256 2,554,358
Equity attributable to owners of ZAN/NCIE/ Z=DN
the Company FEMEHE R (832,302) (3.093,734) (4,584,512) 3,529,315 2,522,174
Non-controlling interests SR M 25 = = 2,956 16,941 32,184
(832,302)  (3093734)  (4.581,556) 3,546,256 2,554,358
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